
 
 
 
 
 
 

    

Our Ref: DS/AJD 

Contact: Damon Stanton 

Tel: 01246 217011 

Email: damon.stanton@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 

Date: Thursday, 1 October 2020 

 
To: Members of the Communities Scrutiny Committee 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Communities Scrutiny Committee to be held on Friday, 9 
October 2020 at 1.30 pm. The meeting will be held through virtual meeting software.  
Access credentials to the meeting will be sent to you under separate cover. 
 
Virtual Attendance and Hybrid Meetings  
I have provided the Leader and Deputy Leader with advice on the holding of “hybrid” 
meetings outlining the risks including to employees dealing with the Chamber and to 
Members. Hybrid meetings are those where some attendance is in person in the Council 
Chamber and some is virtual. I would encourage you all to attend virtually. Accordingly if 
you attend in person you will be deemed to have accepted the following disclaimer as 
applying.  
 
Risk Assessment Disclaimer  
When attending this meeting in person, I confirm that I have read and understood the 
contents of each of the following risk assessments and agree to act in line with its content.  
 

 RA – Return to Work Mill Lane Covid 19 V9  

 Mill Lane Coronavirus Control Measures V4 
 
Both documents have been emailed to Members and are available on the Modern.Gov 
App library.  
 
The same advice is given to officers who are also encouraged to participate in the meeting 
remotely. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
Joint Head of Corporate Governance and Monitoring Officer  
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 
Members of the Committee 

 

Conservative Group Labour Group Liberal Democrat Group 

 
Councillor Lilian Deighton 
Councillor Roger Hall 
Councillor Oscar Gomez Reaney 
Councillor Kevin Tait 
Councillor Richard Welton 
 

 
Councillor Nigel Barker 
Councillor Joseph Birkin 
Councillor Jeff Lilley 
 

 
Councillor David Hancock 
 

 
For further information about this meeting please contact: Damon Stanton, 01246 217011 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 
1   Apologies for Absence   

 
2   Declarations of Interest   

 
 Members are requested to declare the existence and nature of any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or other interests, not already on their register of 
interests, in any item on the agenda and withdraw from the meeting at the 
appropriate time. 
 

3   Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

 To approve as a correct record and the Chair to sign the Minutes of the 
Communities Scrutiny Committee held on 7 August 2020.  
 

4   CCTV in Taxis   
 

a.   CCTV Action Log  (Pages 9 - 29) 
 

  To consider the attached CCTV Action Log. 
 

b.   Report of the Head of Corporate Governance and Monitoring Officer and the 
Council Solicitor - including amended documents  (Pages 30 - 63) 
 

  To consider a further update from the Joint Head of Corporate Governance 
& Monitoring Officer and the Council’s Solicitor on progress of mandatory 
CCTV in Taxis. 

 
5   Scrutiny Review   

 
a.   Approval of Project Plan  (Pages 64 - 67) 

 
b.   Approval of Timetable  (Page 68) 

 
c.   Consideration of Documentation  (Pages 69 - 139) 

Page 2



 

 
6   Previous Scrutiny Review - Domestic Abuse  (Pages 140 - 222) 

 
 To receive an update from the Director of Environment and Enforcement on 

progress against the Action Plan.  
 

7   Scrutiny Review   
 

 Interview – Head of Streetscene 
 

8   Forward Plan of Executive Decisions  (Pages 223 - 227) 
 

 To consider the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions.  Please note, the most up-
to- date Forward Plan of Executive Decisions can be accessed via the following 
link:-  
      
https://democracy.ne-
derbyshire.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=1137&RD=0&bcr=1 
 

9   Scrutiny Work Programme  (Pages 228 - 232) 
 

 To consider the Work Programme for the Communities Scrutiny Committee 
2020/21. 
 

10   Additional Urgent Items (if any)   
 

 To consider any other matter which the Chair of the meeting is of the opinion 
should be considered as a matter of urgency. 
 

11   Date of Next Meeting   
 

 The next meeting of the Communities Scrutiny Committee will be held on Friday, 
27 November 2020 at 1.30 pm. 
 

 
___________ 

 
 

Page 3

https://democracy.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=1137&RD=0&bcr=1
https://democracy.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/mgListPlans.aspx?RPId=1137&RD=0&bcr=1


 

 

Page 4



1 

COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON FRIDAY, 7 AUGUST 2020 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Kevin Tait (Chair) 
Councillor Oscar Gomez Reaney (Vice-Chair) 

 
Councillor Nigel Barker  Councillor Joseph Birkin 
Councillor Roger Hall  Councillor David Hancock 
Councillor Richard Welton  
 
Also Present: 
 
Cllr M Foster  
K Apps 

Cabinet Member & Portfolio Holder for Council Services 
Joint Housing Strategy & Growth Manager 

C Mills Leisure Operations Manager 
L Pepper Housing Options Team Leader 
K Shillitto 
J Green  

Solicitor 
Derbyshire County Council  

S Veerman Overview and Scrutiny Manager  
D Stanton Governance Officer  

 
 
CSC/11/
20-21 

Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillors L Deighton and J 
Lilley.   
 

CSC/12/
20-21 

Declarations of Interest 
 
Members were requested to declare the existence and nature of any 
disclosable pecuniary interest and/or other interest, not already on their 
register of interests, in any item on the agenda and withdraw from the 
meeting at the appropriate time. 
 
There were no interests declared at this meeting. 
 

CSC/13/
20-21 

Minutes of Last Meeting 
 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the meeting of the Communities Scrutiny 
Committee held on 19 June 2020 be approved as a correct record and signed 
by the Chair.   
 

CSC/14/
20-21 

Scrutiny Review and Scene Setting for the 2020/21 Scrutiny Review 
 
James Green, the Public Health Lead from Derbyshire County Council for 
North East Derbyshire and Bolsover, and Chris Mills, Leisure Operations 
Manager, were present at the meeting to assist the Committee in scoping a 
review for the 2020/21 municipal year.   
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 

Members heard about the Healthy North East Derbyshire Action Plan, which 
had a focus on tackling obesity and mental health issues in North East 
Derbyshire.  The Committee heard that there was a variety of external 
partners who were members of that group.  
 
The Committee discussed the effects of lockdown on the District’s children, 
which included the closure of services that may have had an impact on their 
physical and mental health.  
 
Members noted that obesity was highly complex, and that there was often a 
number of factors that influenced physical health such as diet, access to 
green space and socio economic background.  It was stated that cultural 
change and early intervention was crucial in tackling obesity.  The Committee 
heard that there was targeted public health interventions and focused support 
for certain areas in the District, such as Clay Cross, where a Clay Cross 
Obesity Focus Group had been established.  Members also noted the 
Government’s recently published Obesity Strategy.   
 
The Committee agreed that as a review on mental health had previously 
taken place it was better to focus the 2020/21 Scrutiny review on obesity in 
younger residents.   
 
Members had a wide ranging discussion on what could be done to increase 
access to parks and green/open spaces, and the benefits that this could have 
on residents’ physical health.   
 
The Leisure Operations Manager then updated the Committee on the work of 
leisure services and the community base and partnership work the service 
was engaging with.  The Officer also discussed the work the Council was 
doing in regards to the North East Derbyshire Healthy Partnership and the 
Action Plan.  
 
The Committee heard that the Council had three leisure centres, alongside a 
Healthy Lifestyles Team, who regularly engaged with the community.  
Members noted that free swimming was offered to children under the age of 
5, and that there were free courses and sessions available for young people. 
 
Members also discussed the evidence that linked deprivation with obesity.  
The Officer informed the Committee that concessionary passes were 
available to residents, and that the authority did all it could to make the leisure 
centres affordable to those who experienced financial hardship.  Members 
noted a number of projects which had been established, including PALS 
(Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support) and partnerships with MIND and 
Sport England. 
 
The Committee agreed to focus the review on obesity in primary school 
children (aged 4-11).  Members also wished to see where the Council was 
currently allocating its investment in tackling obesity.  There was a consensus 
that the Committee could provide a potentially useful evaluation of resources 
and identify priority areas.  It was agreed that the Joint Head of Streetscene 
would also be invited to a future meeting to discuss the District’s green 
spaces.   

Page 6



3 

 
RESOLVED – That the 2020/2021 Communities Scrutiny Review focus on 
obesity in primary school children. 
 

CSC/15/
20-21 

Previous Scrutiny Review 
 
The Joint Housing Strategy & Growth Manager and the Housing Options 
Team Leader were present at the meeting to update Members on progress 
made against the Action Plan on the previous Scrutiny review on 
Homelessness.  
 
The Committee discussed the recommendations, and thanked the Officers for 
their hard work in implementing the Action Plan.  Members agreed to close 
the Review Action Plan down. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Action Plan be signed off as complete and the Review 
closed. 
 

CSC/16/
20-21 

Residential Parking Review 
 
RESOLVED – That the 2019-20 Scrutiny Review report be finalised and 
submitted to Cabinet for consideration. 
 

CSC/17/
20-21 

CCTV 
 
The Solicitor was present at the meeting to update Members on progress 
made on CCTV in Taxis.  
 
The Committee was reminded that at the previous meeting, Members had 
been presented with the proposed changes to the wording of the Policy, 
alongside the technical specifications, and that whilst the Council was waiting 
on the Government’s statutory guidance, preparatory work would be done on 
the surrounding documentation needed to implement the policy.      
 
Members were informed that the Government had recently published the 
statutory guidance, and that a data protection assessment had been prepared 
in draft format.  The Committee was advised that the CCTV in Taxis Policy 
would be incorporated into the Council’s existing Taxi Licensing Policy and 
the draft format would be taken to the next meeting of the General Licensing 
Committee.  Members noted that if approved, it would subsequently be sent 
out for public consultation, and then to a meeting of Council.   
 
There was a consensus that there had been some misunderstanding in 
regards to the process, and the Committee discussed what they would like to 
see going forward.  
 
The Committee asked for weekly updates to be provided to the Chair and 
Vice Chair of the Committee, as well as the Cabinet.  CCTV in Taxis was also 
requested to be a standing item on the Committee’s future agendas.   
 
Members requested that the current preparatory work be sent to them, and it 
was agreed that the draft Policy would be brought to the Communities 

Page 7



4 

Scrutiny Committee on 9 October 2020, prior to it being sent to the General 
Licensing Committee on 22 October 2020.    
 
RESOLVED – That the update be noted. 
 

CSC/18/
20-21 

Forward  Plan of Executive Decisions - 15 June to 15 July 2020 
 
AGREED – That the Forward Plan of Executive Decisions – 15 June to 15 
July 2020 be noted. 
 

CSC/19/
20-21 

Scrutiny Work Programme 
 
AGREED – that the Draft Work Programme 2020-21 be noted. 
 

CSC/20/
20-21 

Additional Urgent Items (if any) 
 
There were no urgent items to be discussed at the meeting. 
 

CSC/21/
20-21 

Date of Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting of the Communities Scrutiny Committee is scheduled to take 
place on Friday, 9 October 2020 at 1.30 pm. 
 

Page 8



 

 
DATE 

 
CCTV - WEEKLY ACTION LOG 

 

17/8/20 Dear Members 
 
This is the first update following a request at Communities Scrutiny that I provide regular 
updates to Cabinet on progress of this policy. 
 
As explained at the Committee, the publication last month of statutory guidance 
encouraging mandatory CCTV provides a platform to further develop the draft 
documentation required to take a proposal to Licensing Committee members in due 
course. Last week I updated the draft Privacy Impact Assessment forms and supporting 
documentation to incorporate the Guidance requirements. I have also added some 
amendments in response to feedback from the Council’s Data Protection Officer. 
 
I plan on having further discussions with the DPO this week about some points that have 
arisen from her feedback, before finalising the Privacy assessment. 
 
In addition, in line with a request from the Scrutiny members, I will consolidate the 
documentation into a single “policy document” over the course of the next week or two. 
 
Regards 
Kev 
 

Kevin Shillitto 

Solicitor 

Legal Services 

Ext: 2507 

 

1/9/20 Firstly I apologise for being unable to provide an update last week. With other team 
members on annual leave I had to deal with numerous urgent and/or high priority matters 
in addition to my own workload. 
 
In summary over the last 2 weeks I have created a draft policy document that 
consolidates the documentation previously provided to members, together with the 
standard introductory wording etc. from other taxi policies. I have attached it for members’ 
information but I must emphasise that this is a draft and a work in progress. 
 
Work on the privacy impact assessment is ongoing. Once completed the next step will be 
to do a light touch review of the equality impact assessments done for the main taxi 
policies and to draw up a draft report for when the proposals go to Licensing Committee 
for approval. 
 
Regards 
Kev 
 

Kevin Shillitto 

Solicitor 

Legal Services 

Ext: 2507 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4a



 
(Please see end of action log for attachment) 
 

7/9/20 I am now in the process of further updating and reviewing the privacy impact assessment, 
identifying measures to address some of the Data Protection Officer’s comments on 
safeguards needed to ensure safe management of the data storage and keeping intrusion 
to the minimum necessary. 
 
The DP Officer returns from annual leave tomorrow and I have a meeting scheduled for 
the afternoon to discuss some outstanding issues. Once that is done I should be able to 
complete the assessment and identify if further changes are required to the policy 
document previously circulated. 
 
At that stage the policy should be ready for the Scrutiny members to consider and 
comment on before it goes to Licensing. 
 
 
Kind regards 
Kev 
 
 

15/9 Morning Sue 
 
Can you forward this week’s update below to the Chair and Vice Chair of Communities 
Scrutiny please? I’ve avoided doing a joint update with Cabinet after the confusion it 
caused last time! 
 
Last week I met with the Council’s Data Protection Officer as planned to discuss the 
details of how the system could operate and what additional measures are required to 
protect privacy. We also discussed the implications for blind and partially sighted people 
of the proposals. 
 
Subsequently I have begun to make some minor amendments to the consolidated policy 
document. The DPO has agreed to provide me with her suggested changes in due 
course, and is aware of the deadlines I am working too in order to bring the document to 
the next Communities Scrutiny meeting. 
 
In addition I am in the process of preparing an update to the Equality Impact Assessment 
for the overall taxi licensing policy, to address the amendments this policy will make if 
implemented. Currently the only potential impacts identified to be considered are 
language on signage (addressed by our usual availability of alternative language versions 
on request) and the impact of the system on blind and partially sighted people. We are 
considering what measures could be put in place to ensure they know they are being 
recorded and the limitations of the passenger-operated audio recording mechanism. 
 
Overall we remain on track to bring the consolidated policy document to the Scrutiny 
members as planned and subsequently to Licensing Committee. 
 
Regards 
Kev  
 
 
 
 

Page 10



22/9 Good morning Sue 
 
As usual please see a brief update below for the Chair and Vice-Chair: 
 
Last week I wrote an addendum to the equality impact assessment identifying the issues 
set out in my previous update. I also made additional minor changes to the policy 
document following feedback. 
 
There may be further changes required by the Data Protection Officer in due course but I 
still expect that all changes will be done in time for the final draft to go to Scrutiny 
members as planned. The DPO has also requested that a “privacy statement”, dealing 
specifically with how we handle data recorded by CCTV, is drawn up which will sit 
alongside the general privacy statement for Environmental Health. It is my intention to 
focus on that task this week. 
 
 
Regards 
Kev 
 

Kevin Shillitto 

Solicitor 

Legal Services 

Ext: 2507 

Mob: 07527 473769 
 

 

 

DRAFT 

Taxi Licensing Policy: 

Hackney Carriages & Private 

Hire Vehicles (CCTV 

Supplement) 

 

TBC 

 
 

Page 11



  

Page 12



CONTROL SHEET FOR [policy title here] 

 

 

 

Policy Details 

 

Comments / Confirmation 

(To be updated as the document 
progresses) 

 

Policy  title  Taxi Licensing Policy: Hackney 
Carriages & Private Hire Vehicles 
(CCTV supplement) 

Current status – i.e. first draft, version 2 or 
final version 

1st Draft 

Policy author (post title only) Solicitor 

Location of policy (whilst in development)  S drive 

Relevant Cabinet Member (if applicable) Cllr Dale 

Equality Impact Assessment approval 
date 

 

Partnership involvement (if applicable)  

Final policy approval route i.e. Cabinet/ 
Council  

Council 

Date policy approved  

Date policy due for review (maximum 
three years) 

 

Date policy forwarded to Performance & 
Communications (to include on Extranet 
and Internet if applicable to the public) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 13



RECOMMENDED STRUCTURE OF POLICY 

 

 

1. Introduction 

 

1.1 BACKGROUND 

 

North East Derbyshire District Council has a responsibility for licensing 

hackney carriages and private hire vehicles, drivers and operators within the 

district of North East Derbyshire. 

 

NB. Any reference in this Policy to notifying, informing or otherwise contacting 

the Council means contacting the Council’s Licensing Section. 

 

Unless otherwise stated, where the term “Taxi” is used in this Policy it is 

a generic term including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles 

(which retain their specific meanings set out in the Glossary of Terms 

below). 

 

 

1.2 ROLE OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 

 

Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a specific role to play in an 

integrated transport system.  They are able to provide services in situations 

where public transport is either not available (for example in rural areas, or 

outside “normal” hours of operation such as in the evenings or on Sundays), 

or for those with mobility difficulties. 

 

1.3 BEST PRACTICE GUIDANCE 

 

The Department for Transport’s Guidance 2010 considered views about what 

constitutes “Best or Good Practice” in terms of hackney carriage and private 

hire licensing.  The Best Practice Guidance has, therefore, been used as an 

aid in shaping this policy. Regard has also been had to best practice learned 

from other local authorities. The Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 

Standards 2020 replace certain sections of the Best Practice Guidance 2010, 

and where there is a conflict between the two the Statutory Standards have 

been given precedence. 

 

Page 14



1.4 CONSULTATION 

 

There are a number of groups and organisations that have an interest in the 

provision of hackney carriage and private hire vehicle services, including the 

trade itself, residents and enforcers, all of whom have views and concerns 

that require consideration.  In drawing up this policy, the Council has 

consulted with the following - 

 

This list is not definitive - 

 

 Authorities who border North East Derbyshire District Council 

 Derbyshire County Council 

 Other departments within North East Derbyshire District Council 

 Members of North East Derbyshire District Council 

 The hackney carriage and private hire trade including all licensed 
operators within the district 

 Parish Councils 

 Derbyshire Constabulary 

 Derbyshire Police & Crime Commissioner 

 Chief Fire Officer for Derbyshire 

 Derbyshire County Council Trading Standards 

 Derbyshire County Council Transport 

 Child Protection Services (Safeguarding) 
 

1.5 POWERS AND DUTIES 

 

This Policy has been produced pursuant to the powers conferred by the Town 

Police Clauses Act 1847, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 

1976 and other legislation under which the Council is the licensing authority 

for hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. 

 

1.6 STATUS 

 

In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Council 

will have regard to this policy document and the objectives set out above. 

 

Notwithstanding the existence of this policy and any other relevant Council 

policy, each application or enforcement measure will be considered on its own 

merits.  Where it is necessary for the Council to depart from its policy, reasons 

will be given for so doing. 

 

Page 15



 

2. Scope 

 

In setting out its policy North East Derbyshire District Council seeks to promote 

the  

protection of public health and safety and the establishment of a professional 

and respected hackney carriage and private hire trade. 

 

The aim of this policy is to regulate the provision of CCTV in hackney carriages 

and private hire vehicles in order to promote the above objectives. 

 

This policy is supplemental to the Policies on Hackney Carriages & Private Hire 

Vehicles and Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers and amends relevant 

sections of those policies as set out in this document. 

 

 

3. Principles 

 

The aim of licensing the hackney carriage and private hire vehicle trades is, 

primarily, to protect the public as well as to ensure that the public have 

reasonable access to hackney carriage and private hire services because of 

the local transport provision. 

 

It is important that the Council’s powers are used to ensure that hackney 

carriages and private hire vehicles in the district are safe and comfortable. 

 

 

 

4. Statement 

 

Appendices A and B of the Council’s Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriages & 

Private Hire Vehicles are amended as set out in Appendices A and B of this 

document. 

 

The effect of inserting these provisions will be to ensure: 

 

Page 16



 No vehicle will be licensed as a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
unless they have installed a system compliant with the Council’s 
requirement. 

 

 No system will be permitted that doesn’t meet the technical requirements 
of the policy. 

 

 Vehicle proprietors will be subject to licence conditions in respect of data 
security. This will help us demonstrate we are taking precautions as data 
controller to protect the security of the data stored in the vehicles. 

 

Appendix C of the Council’s Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriages & Private Hire 

Drivers is amended as set out in Appendix C of this document. 

 

The effect of inserting these provisions will be to ensure that in addition to 

vehicle proprietors the individuals driving those vehicles (where not the 

proprietor themselves) are subject to equivalent data security obligations. Again 

this will help us demonstrate we are taking precautions as data controller to 

protect the security of the data stored in the vehicles. 

 

 

5. Responsibility for Implementation 

 

Joint Head of Environmental Health 

Licensing Team Leader 

 

 

6. Glossary of terms (if applicable) 

 

N/A 

 

 

7. Appendices (if applicable) 

 

  

Page 17



APPENDIX A 
 
Insert into Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriages & Private Hire Vehicles  
 
4.1.8. 
 
Security for drivers and passengers is a high priority. It is considered that 
CCTV cameras can be a valuable deterrent to criminal activity as well as 
protecting the driver from unjustified complaints. 
 
All vehicles licensed by this council must have a council approved CCTV 
system installed which must be in use whenever the vehicle is in use as a 
licensed vehicle for hire and reward purposes. For the purpose of this 
policy, CCTV relates to recording inside of the vehicle only. External facing 
cameras (“dash cams”) do not fall within this policy. 
 
To ensure compliance with data protection legislation the Council is the 
Data Controller of the images captured. For those reasons, the Council has 
approved a set of specifications and will identify which available systems 
meet that criteria. 
 
It is for the vehicle proprietor to decide which of the systems to install and 
the Council has no liability for the goods or services provided or any 
representations made by either of the parties in the negotiation, execution 
or performance of the contractual relationship. 
 
The specifications are set out in Appendix C to this Policy. 
 
 
  

Page 18



APPENDIX B: VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS 
AND CCTV SPECIFICATION 

 
Insert into Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriages & Private Hire Vehicles  
 
Appendix A: 
 
33. CCTV 
 

 At the time of fitting of any CCTV System it must be compliant with 
the specifications applicable at that time. 

 

 Any such equipment shall be fitted in such a way as not to present 
any danger or hazard. 

 

 The proprietor of the vehicle shall ensure that the system is properly 
maintained and serviced to ensure clear images are recorded. Any 
deliberate abuse or deliberate attempt to interfere with the legitimate 
use of the CCTV system will be considered a breach of licence, and 
shall be given due weight and regard when determining whether the 
driver/proprietor is a fit and proper person. 

 

 A CCTV warning sign must be clearly and prominently displayed 
inside the vehicle advising passengers that a CCTV system is in 
operation in the vehicle. 

 

 The installation of security measures such as a screen between 
driver and passengers, as a means of providing some protection for 
drivers is acceptable; however, where a screen has been fitted it 
must not prevent the CCTV system obtaining a clear and useable 
recording of the vehicle interior. 

 

 It will be the proprietors responsibility to comply with all aspects of 
the law regarding such surveillance equipment. 
 

 It shall be the vehicle proprietor’s responsibility to ensure that the 
data, and the equipment on which it is recorded, remains secure at all 
times. Any breach of data protection law by the proprietor will be 
considered a serious breach of licence condition. 

 
Appendix C: 
 
CCTV Specifications 
 

1.0 Operational Specifications 

 
Reference Specification Explanation 

1.1 100% solid state 
design or a proven 
vibration and shock 
resistant system 

The system should not have any fan and the 
recording should be vibration and shock proof, 
i.e.: 
- Flash-based SSD (100% industrial grade), 
- Hard disk with both mechanical anti-

vibration and anti- shock mechanism and 

Page 19



self-recovery and self-check file writing 
system. 

1.2 8 to 15 Volts DC Operational between 8 and 15 volts DC 

1.3 Reverse polarity protected System to be protected against reverse voltage. 

1.4 Short circuit prevention System to be protected against short circuits 

1.5 Over voltage protection System to be protected against high voltage 
transients likely to be encountered in the vehicle 
electrical system. 

1.6 Automotive 
Electromagnetic 
Compatibility 
Requirements 

The in-vehicle taxi camera system must be 
compliant with the Council Directives: 
- 2004/108/EC on Electromagnetic 

Compatibility (CISPR 22/EN55022), 
- 2004/104/EC on Radio Interference (sections 

6.5, 6.6, 6.8 
and 6.9) 

 

The taxi camera equipment should therefore be e-
marked or CE-marked with confirmation by the 
equipment manufacturer as being non-immunity 
related and suitable for use in motor vehicles. 

1.7 System activation (on / 
off) switch to be located 
in a position where it is 
not accessible from 
inside the vehicle (i.e. in 
the boot / engine 
compartment). 

The system is required to be active at all times 
that the vehicle is being used as a licensed 
vehicle. This will allow the facility for the system 
to be deactivated during times when the vehicle 
is being used for private purposes (e.g. domestic 
use). The switch that deactivates the system 
must be located within the vehicles boot or 
engine compartment (i.e. it must only be possible 
to deactivate the system from outside of the 
vehicle). 

1.8 First-in/first-out buffer 
recording principle 

 

1.9 Built-in, automatic logging 
of all access actions, 
including date and 
personnel names 

 

1.10 Security, duration 
and auto- clearing of 
log files 

 

1.11 Image export formats and 
media 

Images must be exported in commercially available 
formats. 

1.12 Image protection 
during power 
disruption 

Images must be preserved in the event of loss of 
power. Battery back-up will not be permitted 

1.13 Unit must operate without 
the ignition being turned 
on. 

The Unit must have the ability to operate for at 
least 2 hours without power from the ignition. 

1.14 Image and audio data 
shall be recorded and 
stored in a unit separate 
from the camera head. 

 

1.15 GPS capability System must be compatible to allow for GPS 
capability. 

Page 20



 

1.16 The system must be 
capable of recording 
audio time synchronized 
to the recorded images. 

 

1.17 The system shall not 
record audio except 
when audio recording is 
activated by means of 
an approved trigger. 

The system should have the ability to start 
recording audio data by means of at least two 
trigger buttons (see also 1.26 below). 

 

One trigger button must be capable of being 
activated by the driver. Once the trigger is 
activated the system must begin to record audio 
data. The system will continue to record audio 
until the same trigger is activated again. The 
second activation of the trigger must result in the 
cessation of audio recording (e.g. a button could 
be pressed to begin audio recording, if the (i.e. 
the trigger, which could for example be a button, 
would be pressed to begin audio recording, 
pressing the button again would stop audio 
recording). 

 

The second trigger button must be capable of 
being activated by the passengers in the vehicle 
independently of the driver. Once the trigger is 
activated the system must begin to record audio 
data. The system will continue to record audio 
until the same trigger is activated again. The 
second activation of the trigger must result in the 
cessation of audio recording (i.e. the trigger, 
which could for example be a button, would be 
pressed to begin audio recording, pressing the 
button again would stop audio recording). 

 

Both audio activation triggers must be 
independent of each other – this means that audio 
recording can only be deactivated by means of the 
same trigger (driver or passenger) that was 
used to activate the audio recording. 

1.18 The audio playback, 
when triggered, shall 
be in ‘real time’ and 
synchronised with the 
images that are captured. 

 

1.19 Digital sampling of 
the audio signal must 
exceed 8KHz 

 

1.20 Digital resolution of the 
audio samples must 
exceed 10 bits. 

 

1.21 The audio microphone 
shall be integrated 
within the camera head. 

 

Page 21



1.22 Audio data and image 
data must be stored 
together, not in separate 
files, and must be 
protected against 
unauthorised 
access or tampering. 

 

1.23 The system must support 
testing of the audio 
function for 
installation set-up and 
inspection purposes. 

 

1.24 The system must ‘go to 
sleep’ to reduce battery 
drain during prolonged 
idle time. It must be 
capable of immediate 
reactivation 

 

1.25 Images recorded by the 
system shall not be 
displayed within the 
vehicle. 

 

1.26 The system must have at 
least two emergency 
activation triggers (panic 
buttons). 

One of the triggers / panic buttons must be capable 
of being operated by the driver – this must be 
independent of the audio recording activation switch. 
 
At least one other trigger / panic button must be 
capable of being operated by a passenger from any 
passenger seat in the vehicle. Once activated, this 
switch must trigger the recording 
of video and audio in accordance with section 6.1 
below. 

1.27 The system must include 
a visual indicator that will 
clearly show when audio 
recording is taking place.  
This indicator must be 
visible to all passengers 
within the vehicle. 

This may take the form of an indicator LED built into 
the audio activation switch, or a remote LED that can 
clearly be seen by passengers. 

 

 

 
2.0 Storage Capacity 

 

Reference Specification Details 

2.1 Minimum of fourteen 
days of recording 
capacity 

The camera system must be capable of 
recording and storing a minimum of 
fourteen days of images of HD1 (720/288) 
size or better. 

2.2 Images must be 
clear in all lighting 
conditions 

System to provide clear images in bright sunshine, 
shade, dark and total darkness. Also, when strong 
back light is present. 

 

Page 22



3.0 Camera Head Technical Specification 

 
Reference Specification Details 

3.1 Camera installation non- 
obstructive 

The camera and all system components 
shall be installed in a manner that does 
not interfere with the driver’s vision or 
view of mirrors or otherwise normal 
operation of the vehicle. 

3.2 Protected camera disconnect The camera head shall be designed to 
disconnect for ease of removal and 
replacement by maintenance personnel. 

3.3 Special tools for 
adjustment/removal 

To prevent inappropriate interference only 
tools supplied to authorised fitters should 
be capable of carrying out adjustments or 
removal. 

3.4 Field of view to capture all 
passengers in the vehicle 

The lens of the camera must be of a type 
that captures the driver and all passengers 
of the vehicle on the recorded image. The 
lens must be of a style not to create a 
“fishbowl” effect. 

3.5 Images must be clear System to provide clear images in all 
lighting conditions and allow different skin 
tones to be detected 

3.6 Compatible for use in vehicles 
with a partition (shield) 

The camera system must be adaptable to 
provide clear images when a vehicle is 
equipped with a shield. This may 
be accomplished with the use of multiple 
camera heads. 

3.7 Multiple cameras The unit shall be capable of supporting 
up to four (4) cameras. Four cameras 
may be required to provide adequate 
coverage in larger vehicles and/or certain 
purpose built vehicles. 

 

 
4.0 Storage Device Technical Specification 

 

Reference Specification Details 

4.1 Impact and shock 
resistance 

The recorder shall be impact resistant, sufficient 
to withstand a typical car accident, or striking 
with a large, heavy object such as a suitcase. 

4.2 Controller in concealed 
location 

The storage unit shall be concealed from view 
and effectively inaccessible except by 
authorised personnel. 

4.3 Download port provision The recorder shall be equipped with a 
communication port for downloading by 
authorised personnel. 

4.4 Download port shall be 
located in an easily 
accessible location 
such as a glove 
compartment. 

The recorder download port shall be located in 
the glove box if practicable, if not then in a 
location that does not require the removal of 
panels and is accessible. 

Page 23



4.5 Download port cable 
length (1 foot 
minimum) 

Download port shall be at least one foot in 
length for ease of download. 

4.6 Recorder to be securely 
affixed to the vehicle 

 

4.7 Log to register each user 
access 

 

4.8 Log to register camera 
system parameter 
modifications 

 

4.9 Log to register 
each image 
download session 

 

4.10 Log to register 
modification/manipulation 
of downloaded images 

 

4.11 Log to register exporting 
of downloaded images 

 

4.12 Log to register exporting 
of downloaded clips 

 

4.13 Log file protected 
against 
unauthorised 
access 

 

4.14 Time/date stamp All stored images must be time and date stamped. 

4.15 Vehicle ID number stamp All stored images must have two fields for 
vehicle identification (VIN & number plate). 

4.16 Controller non-
modifiable ID code 
stamp 

Each recorded image shall be automatically 
stamped with a unique and non-modifiable 
code that identifies the controller that was used 
to record the image. 

4.17 Controller (Storage 
Recorder) 

Manufacturer to supply NEDDC with a 
supply of specialised tools to allow for 
removal of the controller and 
download of data when required. 

Page 24



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

5.0 Video and audio recording rate 

 

Reference Specification Details 

5.1 Video image recording on 
system activation (when 
audio is not activated). 

The system shall record images at the rate of 
four images per second. 

5.2 Video image 
recording when audio 
is activated. 

The system shall record images at the rate of 
twenty five images per second during periods 
when audio recording is activated (either due 
to time requirement, or through activation by 
the driver trigger switch or passenger panic 
button). 

5.3 When activated, audio 
recording must be in real 
time and synchronised 
with the video recording. 

 

5.4 System to continue to 
record images (and 
audio when applicable) 
when engine is off. 

System must continue to record images (and 
audio when applicable) for 30 minutes after 
engine / ignition is switched off. 

 

 

6.0 Specification for activation via driver or passenger trigger / panic buttons 

 

Reference Specification Detail 

6.1 The activation of a trigger 
button must provide for 
overwrite- protected 
image storage when 
activated by driver or 
passenger. 

The system must be fitted with at least two 
trigger buttons that once activated will trigger 
the protected recording of audio and video 
(see also 1.17 and 1.26 above). 

6.2 Emergency image 
overwrite protection 
capability 

Image sequences resulting from emergency 
activation shall be recorded in an area of 
memory which is protected from being 
overwritten 

6.3 Overwrite protection 
capacity for at least 3 
activations 

 

6.4 Overwrite protection self-
clear on 96 hr timer 

 

 

 

7.0 Downloading 

 

Reference Specification Details 

7.1 Time to download 
complete 
memory not to 
exceed 30 minutes 

Time to download to be accomplished in 30 
minutes or less. 

Page 25



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

7.2 Provision of necessary 
software, cables, security 
keys to NEDDC Licensing 
Team. 

 

7.3 Windows 10 compatible.  

7.4 Downloaded images 
stored in non-volatile 
media 

 

7.5 Downloaded images 
stored in secure format 

 

7.6 Verifiable image 
authenticity 

Each image shall be stamped with controller ID 
and vehicle ID and be tamperproof. 

7.7 Provision of technical 
support to NEDDC 
Licensing team when 
necessary. 

To assist in accessing system in case of 
damage to the vehicle or to the system in 
case of accident within 1 hour during normal 
working hours and within 8 hours otherwise. 

7.8 Wireless Download 
Prohibited 

Unit must not allow for wireless downloads. 
Wireless diagnostic may be used. All wireless 
hardware to be disabled. 

7.9 Filter the specific 
images for events and 
times for the 
approximate time of 
the crime or complaint 
alleged. 

 

 

 

8.0 Requirements in relation to System Information 

 

Reference Requirement Details 

8.1 Provision of service 
log sheet with each 
unit shipped 

The unit manufacturer shall have a service log 
shipped with the unit. The manufacturer shall 
also enclose detailed instructions for the drivers 
with each unit shipped. An installation manual 
shall also be furnished to authorised installers 
and fleet operators. 

8.2 Serial number 
indication on service 
log 

The unit will be marked with a serial number 

8.3 Installation date 
indication on service 
log 

The provision for the installer to indicate the 
installation date 

8.4 Provision of driver 
instruction card with 
each unit shipped 

 

8.5 Provision of installation 
manual to installers and 
fleet operators 

 

8.6 Clarity of operating 
instructions 

The system shall be provided with clear 
and concise operation instructions which 
are written with due consideration to 
varying levels of literacy. 

Page 26



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

8.7 Installation by authorised 
agents 

The unit shall be installed by manufacturer’s 
authorised agents, or other installers approved by 
the council (subject to agreement with the 
manufacturer). 

8.8 Provision of authorised 
agents list to NEDDC 
Licensing Team 

The manufacturer shall provide a list of all 
authorised agents to NEDDC Licensing Team. 

8.9 Documentation The manufacturer must provide clear and concise 
operating instructions which are written in 
layman’s terms. (Details on 
how the system records the images) 

8.10 Image Protection All captured images must be protected using 
encryption software that meets or exceeds the 
current FIPS 140-2 (level 2) standard or 
equivalent. 

 

9.0 System requirements in relation to Vehicle Inspection Facility – Inspections 

 
Reference Requirement Details 

9.1 Provision of system 
status/health indicator 

The driver shall have an indicator showing when 
the system is operational and when there is a 
malfunction. 

9.2 Mounting location of 
system 
status/health indicator to 
be seen by driver only 

The indicators shall be mounted/installed for the 
driver’s vision only. The indication system must be 
in accordance with section 9.3 and 9.4 below. 

9.3 Additional indicator 
requirement 

Where a system is fitted with an indicator to show 
that the system is on, this indicator shall be 
separate to those listed above or of a different 
colour to avoid any possible confusion on the part 
of the drivers using the system. 

9.4 Designed / installed to be 
testable by NEDDC 
Licensing Team (or 
persons acting on behalf of 
the council – 
such as vehicle inspectors) 

The system shall be designed and installed such 
that the system may be easily tested by NEDDC 
Licensing Team staff to ensure that all features 
are operating and that images are being recorded 
as prescribed. 

 

 

 

10.0 General System Requirements 

 

Reference Requirement Details 

10.1 Vandal and tamper 
resistance 

 

10.2 Provision of 
statement of 
compliance 

In addition to a formal test of all aspects of this 
requirement specification, a statement of 
compliance shall be provided and signed by an 
officer of the company. 

Page 27



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

10.3 Reliability in 
operational and 
environmental 
conditions 

The system shall provide reliable and full 
functionality in all operational and environmental 
conditions encountered in the operation of taxis. 

10.4 Programmability of image 
timing parameters 

It shall be possible to change timing and 
parameters without the requirement to change 
components. 

10.5 Training and Technical 
Support and Equipment 

Manufacturer must provide NEDDC Licensing 
Team with a Training and Technical Manual. 
Supply a working unit to NEDDC Licensing for 
testing purposes. 

10.6 Software and Hardware Manufacturer to supply NEDDC Licensing Team 
with a supply of cables and software to be 
installed under the supervision of the council’s 
authorised staff. 

10.7 Agreement between the 
Camera Manufacturer 
and NEDDC 

Agreement to allow NEDDC access to the 
relevant software from the manufacturer so that 
in the event the manufacturer goes out of 
business, council will be able to support the 
system. 

 

  

Page 28



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

APPENDIX C: Driver Obligations 
 
Insert into Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers  
 
Appendix C – Licence Conditions 
 
(Amend) 11. Vehicle Checks 
 
Add “CCTV” to the list of vehicle systems that must be in legal working 
order. 
 
(Insert) 12. CCTV System 
 
At all times when the vehicle is under the control of a licensed driver it 
shall be the driver’s responsibility to ensure that the data, and the 
equipment on which it is recorded, remains secure at all times. Any breach 
of data protection law by the driver will be considered a serious breach of 
licence condition. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 29



 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
DRAFT 

Taxi Licensing Policy: 
Hackney Carriages & Private 

Hire Vehicles (CCTV 
Supplement) 

 
 

TBC 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30

Agenda Item 4b



 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
  

Page 31



 

 

 

 

CONTROL SHEET FOR [policy title here] 
 
 

 

Policy Details 

 

Comments / Confirmation 

(To be updated as the document 
progresses) 

 

Policy  title  Taxi Licensing Policy: Hackney 
Carriages & Private Hire Vehicles 
(CCTV supplement) 

Current status – i.e. first draft, version 2 or 
final version 

1st Draft 

Policy author (post title only) Solicitor 

Location of policy (whilst in development)  S drive 

Relevant Cabinet Member (if applicable) Cllr Dale 

Equality Impact Assessment approval 
date 

 

Partnership involvement (if applicable)  

Final policy approval route i.e. Cabinet/ 
Council  

Council 

Date policy approved  

Date policy due for review (maximum 
three years) 

 

Date policy forwarded to Performance & 
Communications (to include on Extranet 
and Internet if applicable to the public) 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
  

Page 32



 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDED STRUCTURE OF POLICY 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 BACKGROUND 
 

North East Derbyshire District Council has a responsibility for licensing 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles, drivers and operators within the 
district of North East Derbyshire. 
 
NB. Any reference in this Policy to notifying, informing or otherwise contacting 
the Council means contacting the Council’s Licensing Section. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, where the term “Taxi” is used in this Policy it is 
a generic term including hackney carriages and private hire vehicles 
(which retain their specific meanings set out in the Glossary of Terms 
below). 

 
 
1.2 ROLE OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLES 
 

Hackney carriage and private hire vehicles have a specific role to play in an 
integrated transport system.  They are able to provide services in situations 
where public transport is either not available (for example in rural areas, or 
outside “normal” hours of operation such as in the evenings or on Sundays), 
or for those with mobility difficulties. 

 
1.3 BEST PRACTICE GUIDANCE 
 

The Department for Transport’s Guidance 2010 considered views about what 
constitutes “Best or Good Practice” in terms of hackney carriage and private 
hire licensing.  The Best Practice Guidance has, therefore, been used as an 
aid in shaping this policy. Regard has also been had to best practice learned 
from other local authorities. The Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards 2020 replace certain sections of the Best Practice Guidance 2010, 
and where there is a conflict between the two the Statutory Standards have 
been given precedence. 

 
1.4 CONSULTATION 
 

There are a number of groups and organisations that have an interest in the 
provision of hackney carriage and private hire vehicle services, including the 
trade itself, residents and enforcers, all of whom have views and concerns 
that require consideration.  In drawing up this policy, the Council has 
consulted with the following - 
 
This list is not definitive - 
 

 Authorities who border North East Derbyshire District Council 

Page 33



 

 

 

 

 Derbyshire County Council 

 Other departments within North East Derbyshire District Council 

 Members of North East Derbyshire District Council 

 The hackney carriage and private hire trade including all licensed 
operators within the district 

 Parish Councils 

 Derbyshire Constabulary 

 Derbyshire Police & Crime Commissioner 

 Chief Fire Officer for Derbyshire 

 Derbyshire County Council Trading Standards 

 Derbyshire County Council Transport 

 Child Protection Services (Safeguarding) 
 

1.5 POWERS AND DUTIES 
 

This Policy has been produced pursuant to the powers conferred by the Town 
Police Clauses Act 1847, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1976 and other legislation under which the Council is the licensing authority 
for hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. 

 
1.6 STATUS 
 

In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, the Council 
will have regard to this policy document and the objectives set out above. 

 
Notwithstanding the existence of this policy and any other relevant Council 
policy, each application or enforcement measure will be considered on its own 
merits.  Where it is necessary for the Council to depart from its policy, reasons 
will be given for so doing. 

 
1.7 PRIVACY LEGISLATION, GUIDANCE & CODES OF PRACTICE 
 
In addition to the legal framework governing taxi licensing, and the guidance set out 
above, this policy also takes into account the: 
 

 Surveillance Commissioners, Surveillance Camera Code of Practice. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-
commissioner 

 Information Commissioners CCTV Code of Practice 
https://ico.org.uk/media/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf 

 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012. (2012 Act) 
         http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted 

 Documents issued by the Home Office in October 2016 (revised 2018): 
o Technical Guidance for Body Worn Video Devices 
o Safeguarding Body Worn Video Data 

 Requirements for processing personal data as set out in the General Data 
Protection Regulation (GDPR) and Data Protection Act 2018 

 Right to privacy as set out in Article 8 of the European Convention on Human 
Rights 

Page 34

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-commissioner
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/surveillance-camera-commissioner
https://ico.org.uk/media/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents/enacted
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746287/technical-guidance-body-worn-video-01218p.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/746255/safeguarding-body-worn-video-data-01118p.pdf
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?qid=1532348683434&uri=CELEX:02016R0679-20160504
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted


 

 

 

 

https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Convention_ENG.pdf 
 
 
2. Scope 

 
In setting out its policy North East Derbyshire District Council seeks to promote 
the protection of public health and safety and the establishment of a 
professional and respected hackney carriage and private hire trade. 
 
The aim of this policy is to regulate the provision of CCTV in hackney carriages 
and private hire vehicles in order to promote the above objectives. 
 
This policy is supplemental to the Policies on Hackney Carriages & Private Hire 
Vehicles and Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers and amends relevant 
sections of those policies as set out in this document. 
 
For the avoidance of doubt the provisions set out in this policy are subject to 
the Council’s policy on Use of Overt Surveillance Systems and the 
Environmental Health and Licensing privacy statement on CCTV in Taxis. 
 
 

3. Principles 
 
The aim of licensing the hackney carriage and private hire vehicle trades is, 
primarily, to protect the public as well as to ensure that the public have 
reasonable access to hackney carriage and private hire services because of 
the local transport provision. 
 
It is important that the Council’s powers are used to ensure that hackney 
carriages and private hire vehicles in the district are safe and comfortable. 

 
 
4. Statement 

 
Appendices A and B of the Council’s Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriages & 
Private Hire Vehicles are amended as set out in Appendices A and B of this 
document. 
 
The effect of inserting these provisions will be to ensure: 
 

 No vehicle will be licensed as a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
unless they have installed a system compliant with the Council’s 
requirement. 

 

 No system will be permitted that doesn’t meet the technical requirements 
of the policy. 

 

 Vehicle proprietors will be subject to licence conditions in respect of data 
security. This will help us demonstrate we are taking precautions as data 
controller to protect the security of the data stored in the vehicles. 

Page 35

https://www.echr.coe.int/Documents/Convention_ENG.pdf


 

 

 

 

 
Appendix C of the Council’s Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriages & Private Hire 
Drivers is amended as set out in Appendix C of this document. 
 
The effect of inserting these provisions will be to ensure that in addition to 
vehicle proprietors the individuals driving those vehicles (where not the 
proprietor themselves) are subject to equivalent data security obligations. Again 
this will help us demonstrate we are taking precautions as data controller to 
protect the security of the data stored in the vehicles. 
 
The provisions will also ensure that any impact on the rights and interests of 
blind and partially sighted people are properly mitigated. 

 
 
5. Responsibility for Implementation 

 
Joint Head of Environmental Health 
Licensing Team Leader 

 
 
6. Glossary of terms (if applicable) 

 
N/A 

 
 
7. Appendices (if applicable) 

 
  

Page 36



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX A 
 
Insert into Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriages & Private Hire Vehicles  
 
4.1.8. 
 
Security for drivers and passengers is a high priority. It is considered that 
CCTV cameras can be a valuable deterrent to criminal activity, enable the 
easier identification of suspects, provide valuable evidence when a crime is 
reported and protect a driver from unjustified complaints. 
 
All vehicles licensed by this council must have a council approved CCTV 
system installed which must be in use whenever the vehicle is in use as a 
licensed vehicle for hire and reward purposes. For the purpose of this 
policy, CCTV relates to recording inside of the vehicle only. External facing 
cameras (“dash cams”) do not fall within this policy. 
 
To ensure compliance with data protection legislation the Council is the 
Data Controller of the images captured. For those reasons, the Council has 
approved a set of specifications and will identify which available systems 
meet that criteria. 
 
It is for the vehicle proprietor to decide which of the systems to install and 
the Council has no liability for the goods or services provided or any 
representations made by either of the parties in the negotiation, execution 
or performance of the contractual relationship. 
 
The specifications are set out in Appendix C to this Policy. 
 
 
  

Page 37



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX B: VEHICLE LICENCE CONDITIONS 
AND CCTV SPECIFICATION 

 
Insert into Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriages & Private Hire Vehicles  
 
Appendix A: 
 
33. CCTV 
 

 At the time of fitting of any CCTV System it must be compliant with 
the specifications applicable at that time. 

 

 Any such equipment shall be fitted in such a way as not to present 
any danger or hazard. 

 

 The proprietor of the vehicle shall ensure that the system is properly 
maintained and serviced to ensure clear images are recorded. Any 
deliberate abuse or deliberate attempt to interfere with the legitimate 
use of the CCTV system will be considered a breach of licence, and 
shall be given due weight and regard when determining whether the 
driver/proprietor is a fit and proper person. 

 

 Appropriate signage must be clearly and prominently displayed 
inside the vehicle advising passengers that a CCTV system is in 
operation in the vehicle. 

 

 The installation of security measures such as a screen between 
driver and passengers, as a means of providing some protection for 
drivers is acceptable; however, where a screen has been fitted it 
must not prevent the CCTV system obtaining a clear and useable 
recording of the vehicle interior. 

 

 It will be the proprietors responsibility to comply with all aspects of 
the law regarding such surveillance equipment. 
 

 It shall be the vehicle proprietor’s responsibility to ensure that the 
data, and the equipment on which it is recorded, remains secure at all 
times. Any breach of data protection law by the proprietor will be 
considered a serious breach of licence condition.  

 
Appendix C: 
 
CCTV Specifications 
 

1.0 Operational Specifications 

 
Reference Specification Explanation 

Page 38



 

 

 

 

1.1 100% solid state 
design or a proven 
vibration and shock 
resistant system 

The system should not have any fan and the 
recording should be vibration and shock proof, 
i.e.: 
- Flash-based SSD (100% industrial grade), 
- Hard disk with both mechanical anti-

vibration and anti- shock mechanism and 
self-recovery and self-check file writing 
system. 

1.2 8 to 15 Volts DC Operational between 8 and 15 volts DC 

1.3 Reverse polarity protected System to be protected against reverse voltage. 

1.4 Short circuit prevention System to be protected against short circuits 

1.5 Over voltage protection System to be protected against high voltage 
transients likely to be encountered in the vehicle 
electrical system. 

1.6 Automotive 
Electromagnetic 
Compatibility 
Requirements 

The in-vehicle taxi camera system must be 
compliant with the Council Directives: 
- 2004/108/EC on Electromagnetic 

Compatibility (CISPR 22/EN55022), 
- 2004/104/EC on Radio Interference (sections 

6.5, 6.6, 6.8 
and 6.9) 

 

The taxi camera equipment should therefore be e-
marked or CE-marked with confirmation by the 
equipment manufacturer as being non-immunity 
related and suitable for use in motor vehicles. 

1.7 System activation (on / 
off) switch to be located 
in a position where it is 
not accessible from 
inside the vehicle (i.e. in 
the boot / engine 
compartment). 

The system is required to be active at all times 
that the vehicle is being used as a licensed 
vehicle. This will allow the facility for the system 
to be deactivated during times when the vehicle 
is being used for private purposes (e.g. domestic 
use). The switch that deactivates the system 
must be located within the vehicles boot or 
engine compartment (i.e. it must only be possible 
to deactivate the system from outside of the 
vehicle). 

1.8 First-in/first-out buffer 
recording principle 

 

1.9 Built-in, automatic logging 
of all access actions, 
including date and 
personnel names 

 

1.10 Security, duration 
and auto- clearing of 
log files 

 

1.11 Image export formats and 
media 

Images must be exported in commercially available 
formats. 

1.12 Image protection 
during power 
disruption 

Images must be preserved in the event of loss of 
power. Battery back-up will not be permitted 

1.13 Unit must operate without 
the ignition being turned 
on. 

The Unit must have the ability to operate for at 
least 2 hours without power from the ignition. 

Page 39



 

 

 

 

1.14 Image and audio data 
shall be recorded and 
stored in a unit separate 
from the camera head. 

 

1.15 GPS capability System must be compatible to allow for GPS 
capability. 

 

1.16 The system must be 
capable of recording 
audio time synchronized 
to the recorded images. 

 

1.17 The system shall not 
record audio except 
when audio recording is 
activated by means of 
an approved trigger. 

The system should have the ability to start 
recording audio data by means of at least two 
trigger buttons (see also 1.26 below). 

 

One trigger button must be capable of being 
activated by the driver. Once the trigger is 
activated the system must begin to record audio 
data. The system will continue to record audio 
until the same trigger is activated again. The 
second activation of the trigger must result in the 
cessation of audio recording (e.g. a button could 
be pressed to begin audio recording, if the (i.e. 
the trigger, which could for example be a button, 
would be pressed to begin audio recording, 
pressing the button again would stop audio 
recording). 

 

The second trigger button must be capable of 
being activated by the passengers in the vehicle 
independently of the driver. Once the trigger is 
activated the system must begin to record audio 
data. The system will continue to record audio 
until the same trigger is activated again. The 
second activation of the trigger must result in the 
cessation of audio recording (i.e. the trigger, 
which could for example be a button, would be 
pressed to begin audio recording, pressing the 
button again would stop audio recording). 

 

Both audio activation triggers must be 
independent of each other – this means that audio 
recording can only be deactivated by means of the 
same trigger (driver or passenger) that was 
used to activate the audio recording. 

1.18 The audio playback, 
when triggered, shall 
be in ‘real time’ and 
synchronised with the 
images that are captured. 

 

1.19 Digital sampling of 
the audio signal must 
exceed 8KHz 

 

Page 40



 

 

 

 

1.20 Digital resolution of the 
audio samples must 
exceed 10 bits. 

 

1.21 The audio microphone 
shall be integrated 
within the camera head. 

 

1.22 Audio data and image 
data must be stored 
together, not in separate 
files, and must be 
protected against 
unauthorised 
access or tampering. 

 

1.23 The system must support 
testing of the audio 
function for 
installation set-up and 
inspection purposes. 

 

1.24 The system must ‘go to 
sleep’ to reduce battery 
drain during prolonged 
idle time. It must be 
capable of immediate 
reactivation 

 

1.25 Images recorded by the 
system shall not be 
displayed within the 
vehicle. 

 

1.26 The system must have at 
least two emergency 
activation triggers (panic 
buttons). 

One of the triggers / panic buttons must be capable 
of being operated by the driver – this must be 
independent of the audio recording activation switch. 
 
At least one other trigger / panic button must be 
capable of being operated by a passenger from any 
passenger seat in the vehicle. Once activated, this 
switch must trigger the recording 
of video and audio in accordance with section 6.1 
below. 

1.27 The system must include 
a visual indicator that will 
clearly show when audio 
recording is taking place.  
This indicator must be 
visible to all passengers 
within the vehicle. 

This may take the form of an indicator LED built into 
the audio activation switch, or a remote LED that can 
clearly be seen by passengers. 

 

 

 
2.0 Storage Capacity 

 
Reference Specification Details 

2.1 Minimum of fourteen 
days of recording 
capacity 

The camera system must be capable of 
recording and storing a minimum of 
fourteen days of images of HD1 (720/288) 

Page 41



 

 

 

 

size or better. 

2.2 Images must be 
clear in all lighting 
conditions 

System to provide clear images in bright sunshine, 
shade, dark and total darkness. Also, when strong 
back light is present. 

 

3.0 Camera Head Technical Specification 

 
Reference Specification Details 

3.1 Camera installation non- 
obstructive 

The camera and all system components 
shall be installed in a manner that does 
not interfere with the driver’s vision or 
view of mirrors or otherwise normal 
operation of the vehicle. 

3.2 Protected camera disconnect The camera head shall be designed to 
disconnect for ease of removal and 
replacement by maintenance personnel. 

3.3 Special tools for 
adjustment/removal 

To prevent inappropriate interference only 
tools supplied to authorised fitters should 
be capable of carrying out adjustments or 
removal. 

3.4 Field of view to capture all 
passengers in the vehicle 

The lens of the camera must be of a type 
that captures the driver and all passengers 
of the vehicle on the recorded image. The 
lens must be of a style not to create a 
“fishbowl” effect. 

3.5 Images must be clear System to provide clear images in all 
lighting conditions and allow different skin 
tones to be detected 

3.6 Compatible for use in vehicles 
with a partition (shield) 

The camera system must be adaptable to 
provide clear images when a vehicle is 
equipped with a shield. This may 
be accomplished with the use of multiple 
camera heads. 

3.7 Multiple cameras The unit shall be capable of supporting 
up to four (4) cameras. Four cameras 
may be required to provide adequate 
coverage in larger vehicles and/or certain 
purpose built vehicles. 

 

 
4.0 Storage Device Technical Specification 

 
Reference Specification Details 

4.1 Impact and shock 
resistance 

The recorder shall be impact resistant, sufficient 
to withstand a typical car accident, or striking 
with a large, heavy object such as a suitcase. 

4.2 Controller in concealed 
location 

The storage unit shall be concealed from view 
and effectively inaccessible except by 
authorised personnel. 

4.3 Download port provision The recorder shall be equipped with a 
communication port for downloading by 
authorised personnel. 

Page 42



 

 

 

 

4.4 Download port shall be 
located in an easily 
accessible location 
such as a glove 
compartment. 

The recorder download port shall be located in 
the glove box if practicable, if not then in a 
location that does not require the removal of 
panels and is accessible. 

4.5 Download port cable 
length (1 foot 
minimum) 

Download port shall be at least one foot in 
length for ease of download. 

4.6 Recorder to be securely 
affixed to the vehicle 

 

4.7 Log to register each user 
access 

 

4.8 Log to register camera 
system parameter 
modifications 

 

4.9 Log to register 
each image 
download session 

 

4.10 Log to register 
modification/manipulation 
of downloaded images 

 

4.11 Log to register exporting 
of downloaded images 

 

4.12 Log to register exporting 
of downloaded clips 

 

4.13 Log file protected 
against 
unauthorised 
access 

 

4.14 Time/date stamp All stored images must be time and date stamped. 

4.15 Vehicle ID number stamp All stored images must have two fields for 
vehicle identification (VIN & number plate). 

4.16 Controller non-
modifiable ID code 
stamp 

Each recorded image shall be automatically 
stamped with a unique and non-modifiable 
code that identifies the controller that was used 
to record the image. 

4.17 Controller (Storage 
Recorder) 

Manufacturer to supply NEDDC with a 
supply of specialised tools to allow for 
removal of the controller and 
download of data when required. 

Page 43



 

 

 

 

5.0 Video and audio recording rate 

 
Reference Specification Details 

5.1 Video image recording on 
system activation (when 
audio is not activated). 

The system shall record images at the rate of four 
images per second. 

5.2 Video image recording 
when audio is activated. 

The system shall record images at the rate of 
twenty five images per second during periods 
when audio recording is activated (either due to 
time requirement, or through activation by the 
driver trigger switch or passenger panic 
button). 

5.3 When activated, audio 
recording must be in real 
time and synchronised with 
the video recording. 

 

5.4 System to continue to 
record images (and audio 
when applicable) when 
engine is off. 

System must continue to record images (and audio 
when applicable) for 30 minutes after engine / 
ignition is switched off. 

 
 

6.0 Specification for activation via driver or passenger trigger / panic buttons 

 
Reference Specification Detail 

6.1 The activation of a trigger 
button must provide for 
overwrite- protected image 
storage when activated by 
driver or passenger. 

The system must be fitted with at least two trigger 
buttons that once activated will trigger the 
protected recording of audio and video (see also 
1.17 and 1.26 above). 

6.2 Emergency image 
overwrite protection 
capability 

Image sequences resulting from emergency 
activation shall be recorded in an area of memory 
which is protected from being overwritten 

6.3 Overwrite protection 
capacity for at least 3 
activations 

 

6.4 Overwrite protection self-
clear on 96 hr timer 

 

 
 

7.0 Downloading 

 
Reference Specification Details 

7.1 Time to download complete 
memory not to 
exceed 30 minutes 

Time to download to be accomplished in 30 minutes 
or less. 

7.2 Provision of necessary 
software, cables, security 
keys to NEDDC Licensing 
Team. 

 

7.3 Windows 10 compatible.  

7.4 Downloaded images 
stored in non-volatile 
media 

 

Page 44



 

 

 

 

7.5 Downloaded images 
stored in secure format 

 

7.6 Verifiable image authenticity Each image shall be stamped with controller ID 
and vehicle ID and be tamperproof. 

7.7 Provision of technical 
support to NEDDC 
Licensing team when 
necessary. 

To assist in accessing system in case of 
damage to the vehicle or to the system in case 
of accident within 1 hour during normal working 
hours and within 8 hours otherwise. 

7.8 Wireless Download 
Prohibited 

Unit must not allow for wireless downloads. Wireless 
diagnostic may be used. All wireless hardware to be 
disabled. 

7.9 Filter the specific images 
for events and times for 
the approximate time of 
the crime or complaint 
alleged. 

 

 

 
8.0 Requirements in relation to System Information 

 
Reference Requirement Details 

8.1 Provision of service log 
sheet with each unit 
shipped 

The unit manufacturer shall have a service log 
shipped with the unit. The manufacturer shall also 
enclose detailed instructions for the drivers with 
each unit shipped. An installation manual shall also 
be furnished to authorised installers and fleet 
operators. 

8.2 Serial number 
indication on service 
log 

The unit will be marked with a serial number 

8.3 Installation date 
indication on service log 

The provision for the installer to indicate the 
installation date 

8.4 Provision of driver 
instruction card with 
each unit shipped 

 

8.5 Provision of installation 
manual to installers and 
fleet operators 

 

8.6 Clarity of operating 
instructions 

The system shall be provided with clear and 
concise operation instructions which are 
written with due consideration to varying 
levels of literacy. 

8.7 Installation by authorised 
agents 

The unit shall be installed by manufacturer’s 
authorised agents, or other installers approved by the 
council (subject to agreement with the manufacturer). 

8.8 Provision of authorised 
agents list to NEDDC 
Licensing Team 

The manufacturer shall provide a list of all 
authorised agents to NEDDC Licensing Team. 

8.9 Documentation The manufacturer must provide clear and concise 
operating instructions which are written in layman’s 
terms. (Details on 
how the system records the images) 

8.10 Image Protection All captured images must be protected using 
encryption software that meets or exceeds the 
current FIPS 140-2 (level 2) standard or equivalent. 

 

Page 45



 

 

 

 

9.0 System requirements in relation to Vehicle Inspection Facility – Inspections 

 
Reference Requirement Details 

9.1 Provision of system 
status/health indicator 

The driver shall have an indicator showing when the 
system is operational and when there is a 
malfunction. 

9.2 Mounting location of system 
status/health indicator to be 
seen by driver only 

The indicators shall be mounted/installed for the 
driver’s vision only. The indication system must be in 
accordance with section 9.3 and 9.4 below. 

9.3 Additional indicator 
requirement 

Where a system is fitted with an indicator to show that 
the system is on, this indicator shall be separate to 
those listed above or of a different colour to avoid any 
possible confusion on the part of the drivers using the 
system. 

9.4 Designed / installed to be 
testable by NEDDC Licensing 
Team (or persons acting on 
behalf of the council – 
such as vehicle inspectors) 

The system shall be designed and installed such that 
the system may be easily tested by NEDDC Licensing 
Team staff to ensure that all features are operating 
and that images are being recorded as prescribed. 

 
 
 

10.0 General System Requirements 

 
Reference Requirement Details 

10.1 Vandal and tamper 
resistance 

 

10.2 Provision of 
statement of 
compliance 

In addition to a formal test of all aspects of this 
requirement specification, a statement of compliance 
shall be provided and signed by an officer of the 
company. 

10.3 Reliability in operational 
and environmental 
conditions 

The system shall provide reliable and full 
functionality in all operational and environmental 
conditions encountered in the operation of taxis. 

10.4 Programmability of image 
timing parameters 

It shall be possible to change timing and parameters 
without the requirement to change components. 

10.5 Training and Technical 
Support and Equipment 

Manufacturer must provide NEDDC Licensing Team 
with a Training and Technical Manual. Supply a 
working unit to NEDDC Licensing for testing 
purposes. 

10.6 Software and Hardware Manufacturer to supply NEDDC Licensing Team with 
a supply of cables and software to be installed under 
the supervision of the council’s authorised staff. 

10.7 Agreement between the 
Camera Manufacturer and 
NEDDC 

Agreement to allow NEDDC access to the relevant 
software from the manufacturer so that in the event 
the manufacturer goes out of business, council will 
be able to support the system. 

 

  

Page 46



 

 

 

 

APPENDIX C: Driver Obligations 
 
Insert into Licensing Policy: Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers 
 
Appendix C – Licence Conditions 
 
(Amend) 11. Vehicle Checks 
 
Add “CCTV” to the list of vehicle systems that must be in legal working order.  
 
(Insert) 12. CCTV System 
 
At all times when the vehicle is under the control of a licensed driver it shall be 
the driver’s responsibility to ensure that the data, and the equipment on which it 
is recorded, remains secure at all times. Any breach of data protection law by 
the driver will be considered a serious breach of licence condition. 
 
(Insert) 13. CCTV & Blind or Partially Sighted Passengers 
 
Drivers must advise any blind or partially sighted passengers that there is CCTV 
recording in operation before commencing the journey. They must also advise 
such passengers of the location of controls for audio recording. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

 
MANDATORY CCTV IN TAXIS: 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 
 
Legal Basis for Processing 
 
CCTV is considered beneficial to promoting enforcement of hackney carriage 
and private hire vehicles under the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Acts 1976 and Town Police Clauses Act. 
 
The Council is subject to a variety of duties prescribed by legislation, 
Government Guidance and circulars to protect the public and to prevent and 
detect crime and to keep children and vulnerable adults safe . Examples are the 
Children Act 2004 which requires the Council to carry out its functions with 
regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and the 
Care Act 2014 which prescribes a general duty to protect vulnerable adults from 
abuse and neglect. 
 
Legislation setting out the duties and powers requiring the council to have regard 
to safety, crime and disorder, antisocial behaviour etc includes (but is not limited 
to): 

 Local Government Act 1972 

 Local Government Act 2000 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Acts 1976 and 1982 

 Children Act 2004 

 Care Act 2014 

 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 

 Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1998 

 Equality Act 2010 
 
Evidence can be provided to the Police under the provisions of the Police and 
Criminal Evidence Act 1984. Other Law Enforcement agencies such as HM 
Revenue & Customs and services within the Council such as Planning and 
Environmental Health would also have the necessary criminal investigatory 
powers to request CCTV footage as under statutory legislation or via the 
gateway under Data Protection Act 2018. 
 
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards issued by the Government in 
July 2020 provides a series of recommendations which local authorities are 
expected to implement “unless there is a compelling local reason not to”. One 
recommendation is the adoption of a policy requiring the installation of CCTV 
monitoring in taxis. While it is acknowledged that there is limited evidence of  
 
There is a legitimate need to protect drivers and the travelling public and to deter 
and detect crime. The Council considers it necessary to process data when the 
vehicle is being used in a licensed capacity under the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, and that it cannot achieve the same level of 
public protection without CCTV being operational. 
 

Page 48



OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

OFFICIAL-[SENSITIVE] 

 
Conditions for Processing: Details 
 
The use of CCTV in a licensed capacity is considered to be necessary and 
proportionate, in order to perform a task in the public interest or for official 
functions, and the task or function has a clear basis in law: 
 
Processing necessary for the purposes of:- 
 

 Protecting drivers when working in a licensed capacity. 

 Performing the local authority function of determining the safety and 
suitability of licensed drivers 

 Protection and reassurance of the travelling public 

 Protection of vulnerable people who rely on taxis as an essential means of 
transport 

 Preventing and detecting crime. 
 
 
Alternatives considered / rejected 
 
NB To be completed in conjunction with Committee report following RMBC 
advice on reasoning. 
 
 
 

Page 49



OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

 
EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

TAXI LICENSING POLICY 
 

ADDENDUM – CCTV September 2020 
 
 
 
Modification of existing policies is being considered to introduce a mandatory 
requirement for CCTV in licensed vehicles. 
 
The following impacts have been noted as a potential consequence of the above 
proposals. 
 
 
Visual Impairment 
 
Visually impaired passengers may be detrimentally affected in two ways. Firstly 
they could be unaware that they are subject to video/audio recording. Secondly 
they may be unable to locate and use the controls to activate audio recording. 
 
Awareness 
 
To address this impact it is proposed that licence conditions for drivers should 
include a requirement that visually impaired passengers be verbally advised 
about the presence of CCTV before commencing a journey. This could possibly 
be drawn to licence-holders’ attention in the training for licensed drivers. 
 
Accessibility of Audio Control 
 
This is something the current systems on the market do not appear to address. 
Given the anticipated benefits of the system it is an impact that can be tolerated 
when balanced against the public interest in safety. However, the authority will 
keep this under review and if systems are developed in future which address this 
issue their adoption will be considered at that time. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



Bolsover District Council/ North East Derbyshire District Council 
Privacy Impact Assessment (Stage 2) Version 7 – 10/10/19 

 
 

Project Manager (include contact details) 
 

Policy: K. Shillitto, Solicitor 
Implementation: TBC  
 

Project Name 
 

Mandatory CCTV in Taxis 

Brief Project Overview - NEW project The introduction of a prerequisite that all vehicles must have installed 
functioning CCTV to Council specifications prior to a Private Hire Vehicle 
licence being granted. 
The authority will act as data controller for all footage recorded. 

Brief Project Overview – EXISTING system 
(If this is a change to an existing project, system, 
procedure, technology or legislation, describe the current 
system and the proposed changes) 

N/A 

What are the potential privacy impacts? CCTV recording of individuals, including potential data of sensitive nature. 
Includes recordings of potential criminality. 

 

Ref  Question Response Further Action Required Date 
Completed  

1. Personal Data Processing 

1.1. Which aspects of the project will involve 
the processing of personal data relating 
to living individuals? 

The project will involve video 
and audio recording of living 
individuals (passengers and 
taxi drivers) by front-line 
officers in prescribed situations 
(see below for information on 
guidance and training) 

  

1.2 Who is/are the Data Controllers in 
relation to the processing? 

NEDDC is the Data Controller. 
Senior Managers in 

I need to understand how it will 
work in practice – who actually 

 

P
age 51



Environmental Health 
(Licensing) will have 
responsibility for 
policy/procedural adherence.  
 
 

controls the CCTV system, the 
licence holder or us? If us how 
do we protect the privacy of 
the taxi driver when using his 
vehicle for personal use 
 
The system installed in the 
vehicle will be operated by the 
driver, who activates video 
surveillance when the vehicle 
is being used for taxi work. 
Time-limited audio recording 
will be activated by the driver 
or passengers using buttons in 
the vehicle. 

2. Fair and Lawful Processing 

2.1 Which article 6 condition, and for 
special category (sensitive personal 
data) which article 9 processing 
condition are you relying on? 

 GDPR Article 6(1)(e) 

(e) processing is necessary for 

the performance of a task 

carried out in the public 

interest or in the exercise of 

official authority vested in the 

controller; 

(Respective privacy 

statements for the service 

areas concerned list the 

relevant statutes and 

regulations) 

GDPR Article 9(2)(f)&(g)  

Need to reference the 
legislation that is making this 
mandatory (as it strengthens 
the public task) 
 
In July 2020 the Government 
published the Statutory Taxi & 
Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards, which the authority 
has a legal duty to have regard 
to, expects the 
recommendations to be 
implemented unless there is a 
compelling local reason not to. 
Recommendations include the 
mandatory requirement for 
CCTV in taxis. No compelling 
local reason has been 

 

P
age 52

file:///S:/Customer%20Service%20and%20Improvement/Improvement/PUB/GDPR%20Sharing%20File/Briefing%20documents/Lawful%20basis%20for%20processing.docx
file:///S:/Customer%20Service%20and%20Improvement/Improvement/PUB/GDPR%20Sharing%20File/Briefing%20documents/Special%20Category%20Data.docx


(f) processing is necessary 

for the establishment, 

exercise or defence of legal 

claims or whenever courts 

are acting in their judicial 

capacity; 

(g) processing is necessary 

for reasons of 

substantial public 

interest, on the basis of 

Union or Member State 

law which shall be 

proportionate to the aim 

pursued, respect the 

essence of the right to 

data protection and 

provide for suitable and 

specific measures to 

safeguard the 

fundamental rights and 

the interests of the data 

subject. 
 

 
NB Additional details of the 
basis for necessary 
processing are contained in 
the supporting document. 

identified not to consider this 
policy. 

P
age 53



Data Protection Act 2018 
Sch 2 Pt 1 (2) (1)  

Crime & taxation exemption 

 

NB Some GDPR provisions 
e.g. to disclose personal data 
to third parties do not apply 
when one of the above 
exemptions is engaged. 

 Also compliance with: 

ICO data protection Code for 
Surveillance Cameras and 
Personal Information 
 
Home Office Surveillance 
Cameras Code of Practice 
 

2.2 How will any consents be evidenced 
and how will requests to withdraw 
consent be managed? 

The processing of this 
personal data is not reliant 
upon consent (see 2.1)  
 
Vehicles will be obliged to 
carry signage explaining to 
occupants that CCTV 
recording is taking place.  
 

  

2.3 Is the project covered by existing fair 
processing information already 
provided or is new communication 
needed? 

No 
 
 

Consider provision of relevant 
information on websites for 
vehicle users to access 
separately? 

  

P
age 54

https://ico.org.uk/media/1542/cctv-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/282774/SurveillanceCameraCodePractice.pdf


Existing privacy statement for 
Environment Health & 
Licensing will need updating 
together with clear signage in 
vehicles and effective publicity 
informing the public (website, 
press release, Intouch, social 
media etc.) 
Also consider having cards for 
the taxi driver to hand out if 
someone wishes to request 
footage or seek further 
information. Enquiries and 
requests need to come to us 
as the DC. 
 

2.4 Is the processing in accordance with 
other legal /regulatory requirements 
e.g. Human Rights Act. 

Yes (see above and 
supplemental document) and 
relevant CCTV policies. 
 

Legal requirements and 
framework is referenced in the 
CCTV policy. Consider 
reviewing and including 
situation-specific guidance. 
 
Licensed taxi drivers will be in 
physical possession of the 
data storage device. Guidance 
on proper storage and security 
will be required. 
 

 

2.5 If third parties are involved in the 
collection of data do they need 
informing? 

Yes to the extent that the 
physical storage device is 
stored within the licensed 
vehicle however the Council 
(as data controller) will control 
the purposes for collection. 

See 1.2 & 2.4. 
 
Who switches the recording on 
and off? How to we prevent 
recording when the vehicle is 
being used for personal use. 

 

P
age 55



Or conversely how do we 
prevent the taxi driver 
switching it off when being 
used for licensed purposes? 
Failure to switch the system on 
while using the vehicle for 
licensed purposes will be an 
actionable breach of licence 
condition. 

2.6 Is there a risk of anyone being misled 
or deceived? 

No, the vehicle signage will be 
clear and mandatory. 

  

2.7 Is the processing fair and proportionate 
to the aim of the project? 

Yes, on the grounds of public 
protection as set out in the 
supporting document. 

As before note the legislation 
making it mandatory in the 
supporting document 
See 2.1 

 

3. Specified and Lawful Purposes 

3.1 Has a clear purpose for data 
processing under the new project been 
identified and documented? 

Yes, as per supporting 
document. 

  

3.2 Are the notifications to the ICO 
sufficient to cover data processing 
under this project? 

N/A    

3.3 Are the purposes clear in notices to 
individuals? 

Yes, as per signage above. Plus updating of privacy 
statement, use of cards by the 
taxi driver and updated 
information on the website 

 

3.4 How will you ensure that use of 
personal data is limited to these 
purposes? 

Only trained and authorised 
staff will process data. 
Thorough staff training and 
operational guidance will 
ensure adherence to stated 
purposes. 
Legal advice available where 
needed. 

So noting my earlier questions 
above - is the intention for the 
CCTV to record continuously 
whilst in use for licensed 
purposes and then to override 
after X days. How do officers 
access this information? And I 
imagine that they will only be 

 

P
age 56



doing so for the specified 
purposes e.g. alleged 
criminality, data subject access 
request (DSAR) etc. So a log 
will need to be kept of these 
searches and downloads.  

4. Adequate, Relevant and not Excessive 

4.1 What categories of data will be 
collected? 

Video images and audio 
recording when the camera is 
operating.  

  

4.2 Is each category relevant and 
necessary? Is there any data you could 
not use and still achieve the same 
goals?  

CCTV will be able to record 
exactly what happened, what 
was said and when, in an 
indisputable format. Their use 
will be covered by the 
management processes 
described in this PIA and staff 
will receive training and 
guidance in their use.   

  

4.3 Can data be anonymised? TBC 
- Need system info 

Some systems allow images to 
be blurred. This is useful 
functionality if someone is 
requesting their own personal 
data as it allows other 
passengers and the taxi driver 
to be obscured 

 

5. Accurate and Up-to-date 

5.1 What steps will be taken to make sure 
accurate data is recorded and used? 

Recordings of ‘live’ situations 
so it is an accurate record of the 
exchange between individuals 
in the vehicle. 
 

Procedure/standards to be 
established to ensure 
evidential robustness of the 
footage for court purposes. 

 

P
age 57



Footage to be automatically 
erased after a period of ??? 
days. 
 
Date and time functionality on 
the CCTV system? 
Need system info 

5.2 Can records be easily amended? TBC 
Need system info 

  

5.3 Are out-of-date records archived or 
destroyed? 

Yes, automatic deletion after 
14/28 days unless downloaded 
for use as evidence in 
enforcement and/or legal 
proceedings. 

  

6. Data Retention  

6.1 How long will personal data be 
retained? 

Up to 7 years if prosecution is 
likely.  Routinely up to 14/28 
days. Recordings will only be 
stored using a secure system 
and only downloaded for court 
proceedings. 

  

6.2 How will redundant data be identified 
and deleted in practice? 

The system automatically 
deletes data after 14/28 days 
unless video/audio data has 
been identified for evidential 
purposes in which case it is 
retained for 7 years. 

  

6.3 Can redundant data be easily 
separated from data which still needs to 
be retained? 

Yes, data will only be extracted 
if it needs to be shown to the 
court and downloaded onto an 
encrypted USB, memory 
device or DVD. 

  

7. Data Subjects Rights 

P
age 58



7.1 Who are the relevant data subjects? 
E.g. customers, tenants, employees. 

Taxi drivers, vehicle 
proprietors, passengers. 
 

  

7.2 Will data be within the scope of the 
organisations SAR procedure? 

Yes, video and voice 
recordings, but only if this is 
requested prior to the 
automatic deletion period.   

Format of SAR and 
responsibility for processing 
TBC 
Happy for my team to 
administer requests 
Will need to establish 
procedure with Licensing for 
obtaining footage for SARs 

 

7.3 Is any data processing likely to cause 
damage or distress to the data subject? 

No – the data subject will be 
aware through signage (and 
publicity) that CCTV will be 
recording audio and visual 
footage.  

Need to give consideration on 
how to communicate this 
information to blind, partially 
sighted individuals. Taxi driver 
to advise in those 
circumstances?  

 

7.4 Will there be any direct marketing to 
individuals? 

No   

7.5  Is there any automated decision 
making? 

No   

8. Data security 

8.1 What security measures and controls 
will be incorporate into or applied to 
protect personal data? 
Consider those that apply throughout 
the organisation and those specific to 
the project. 

The footage is encrypted by 
propriety software and only be 
accessible to authorised 
officers. Images cannot be 
deleted by the users. Retention 
and deletion rules are set up 
within the system by the 
system administrator. 
before using the kit.  
 
Access and permissions will be 
limited to certain named staff 

What about the physical data 
storage in the vehicle? Can 
this be removed? If stolen is 
the device itself encrypted? 
 
Need system info. 
 

 

P
age 59



and managers who can only 
view footage in their respective 
service areas. 
 
Footage will be downloaded 
only in response to a relevant 
enquiry or complaint. 
 
The software contains its own 
archiving rules, images are 
usually automatically deleted 
after 14/28 days, unless 
marked for evidential purposes 
(i.e. if needed for a 
prosecution) 
 

8.2 Is there a need to segregate data? E.g. 
sensitive data from other data. 

TBC    

8.3 Who will have access to the data and 
what controls will be in place? 

See 8.1   

8.4 Is there a contingency plan to manage 
the effects of any unforeseen loss or 
damage to data? 

Downloads will be done solely 
when necessary and where 
operationally practical to do so.  
 
If the storage device is stolen 
or damaged before 
downloaded (and wiped) 
encryption will prevent access. 
 
Images cannot be viewed on 
the storage device. 

To be covered in staff 
guidance. 
 
 

 

9. Data Processors 

9.1 Are any external data processors 
involved? 

The licence holders (who are 
storing the device, displaying 

  

P
age 60



the signage etc.) and the 
supplier (s) of the CCTV 
system (security of device, 
data transfer etc.). 

9.2 What security guarantees do they 
have? 

TBC. Include links to privacy 
statements of suppliers and 
undertakings in place with 
licence holders 

 

9.3 Is there/will there be a written contract 
with the data processors?  

Conditions of licence can be 
used to set terms for licence 
holders. 

As this is likely to be the 
licence holders themselves 
then a review of the data 
protection standard clauses 
would be worthwhile and 
include in a suitable agreement 
with the holder as required. 
SLAs with suppliers.   

 

9.4 How will the contract be monitored and 
enforced? 

Licensing enforcement 
activity will include CCTV 

  

10. Disclosure of Data to Third Parties 

10.1 Will data be disclosed to any other third 
parties? 

Yes, the police, other 
enforcement bodies and 
potentially as part of a 
prosecution 

  

10.2 Is this third party disclosure fair and 
lawful? 

Yes (see 2.1)   

10.3 What checks have been made on the 
Third Parties and what data security 
measures are in place?  

Well established 3rd parties 
involved in law 
enforcement/justice activities– 
police, lawyers and courts  
 
Appropriate security measures 
will be used for disclosures to 
third parties i.e. email 

Evidence disclosures to third 
parties need to be covered in 
the staff training 

 

P
age 61



encryption, hand delivery of 
footage 

11. Overseas Data Transfer 

11.1 Is there any transfer of data outside of 
the European Economic Area? 

No Need to check/confirm that 
when the data is transferred 
from the storage device to the 
Council that is it not done via a 
non-EEA route  
Need system info to be 
definite but understanding is 
that data will be transferred 
by a physical cable. 

 

     12. Exemptions  

12.1 Will any exemptions for specific types 
of processing be relied on? E.g. crime 
prevention, regulatory purposes. 

Prevention of crime.  Evidence 
gathering for potential legal 
and/or enforcement action. 
Refer to 2.1 

  

Version1  

  

Overall Compliance 
Summary 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 Electronic Signature  Title  Date of 
PIA 

Completion 
Date  

Project Manager 
 

    

Data Protection Officer      P
age 62



 
Copy to be retained by the Project Manager with the project documentation. Copy to be retained by the Data Protection Officer. 

 
 

P
age 63



 

 

 

 
NORTH EAST DERBYSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
SCRUTINY PROJECT MANAGEMENT 

 
DRAFT PROJECT PLAN 

 

 
NAME OF   
COMMITTEE:  COMMUNITIES 

 
SCRUTINY  
OFFICER:  SUE VEERMAN 

 
SUBJECT TO  
BE REVIEWED 
 

 
Obesity in Younger Residents (Primary School age group) 

 
REASON(S) FOR  
THE REVIEW 
 

 

 To be inserted 

 
 

 
IDENTIFY 
APPROPRIATE 
CORPORATE 
OBJECTIVES 
 

 

 Enhancing our residents quality of life 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
 
 
 

 

 To understand  the  prevalence of childhood obesity  

in North East Derbyshire 

 

 To consider what the Council and its partners are 

currently doing to address this problem within the 

District 

 

 To review  current best practice 

 

 To identify any opportunities for improving 

Childhood Obesity within the District 

 
 

 
AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 
OF REVIEW 
 

 

 To understand what is being done locally within the 

District to improve the levels of Childhood Obesity 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5a



 

 

 
 
 

 

 To evaluate what is being successful 

 

 To identify improvements  the District Council can 

add to the current provision 

 

 
KEY ISSUES 

 

 Complex multi-layer issue 

 

 Role of the District Council and Town/Parish Councils 

 

 What is NEDDC during currently and can we improve 

it 

 

 Role of physical activity and availability of green 

spaces/parks 

 

 Role of schools 

 

 Role of GPS/primary care 

 

 Availability of take away food 

 
 

 

 
TIMESCALE 

 
ESTIMATED 

 
REVISED 

 
ACTUAL 

 

 
Commencement 

 
7th August, 2020 
 

  

 
Finish 

 
14th May, 2021 

  

 
Report 

 
To Cabinet May 
2021? 
 

  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



 

 

 
METHOD(S) OF  
REVIEW: 

 

 Desktop Research 

 Interviews 

 

 
IMPLICATIONS: 
(Legislative, 
regulatory, etc.) 
 

 
 
 

 
DOCUMENTARY 
EVIDENCE: 
(Internal/External) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 Government Obesity Strategy 

 Local data 

 Shaping Our Future 

 NED Childhood Obesity briefing Paper – Leisure 

 Pals Booklet 

 Scrutiny Update Physical Activity via the Active 

and Healthy Lifestyles Team 

 MIND Return to Play – Mental Health Guidance 

 
WITNESSES: 
 
 

 

 Healthy Lifestyle Team 

 Derbyshire Obesity Group/Representatives of Clay 

Cross Focus Group 

 Parks representative 

 Leisure representative 

 Town Councils 

 Young people/schools? 

 Primary Care Representative? 

 
 

 
CONSULTATION/ 
RESEARCH: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
SITE VISITS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



 

 

 

 
PROJECT OUTCOMES 

 

 
CONCLUSIONS: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
CABINET 
CONSIDERED: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
OUTCOME: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
FOLLOW UP: 

 
 
 

 
REVIEW OF 
PROCESS/COMMENTS: 
 

 
 
 
 

 
SIGNED OFF BY 
CHAIR: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

DATE: 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 67



 

 

Draft Timetable 
Communities Scrutiny Review 

Obesity and Younger Residents 
 

 
 

DATE OF MEETING 
 

 
 

ITEMS TO BE COVERED 

7th August, 2020  Scoping of review and scene setting by Lead Officers  – Chris 
Mills, Leisure and James Green – Derbyshire County Council 

 

 Documentation 
 

9th October, 2020  To consider and agree the Project Plan and Timetable 
 

 Consider further documentation received and discussion on 
the next steps of the review 
 

Interviews: 
 

 3:00 pm  Parks and Green Spaces – Head of Street scene 
 

27th November, 2020 Interviews: 
 

 1:30 pm Active and Health Lifestyles Team - TBI 
 

 2:00 pm  Leisure representative – TBI ? 

 
 2:30 pm  Derbyshire Obesity Group/Representatives of Clay 

Cross Focus Group - TBI 

22nd January, 2021 Interviews: 
 

 Town Councils – TBI – Method? 

 

 Young people/schools? 

 
 Primary Care Representative? 

 

5th March, 2021  To consider the review evidence gathered to formulate 
recommendations 

 

12th May, 2021  Consider draft report and finalise 
 

May, 2021?  Report submitted to Cabinet 
 

 
 

Page 68

Agenda Item 5b



 

 

Scrutiny update Physical Activity via the Active and Healthy Lifestyles Team 
06.08.2020 

 
 
Walking into Communities Project: 
 
Walking for Health groups – 12 group walks in total across the whole of the programme 
average, 166 walkers per week. 
 
Clay Cross social isolation project, aims of the project are to reduce the number of people 
feeling isolated, increase levels of physical activity/reduce inactivity, improve emotional 
health and wellbeing, improve community cohesion. Projects to date have included 
successful Water Wellbeing Group at Sharley Park LC, Linking in with the Mental Health 
carers group to set up a new of physical activity taster sessions. 
 
PALS project – Physical Activity Lifestyle Support: 
 
Based in Clay cross, developed to support a behavioural change approach to physical 
activity for those that need further support to improve their overall health and wellbeing – 36 
clients to date have received support in various forms: 
 
The project offers housing support, benefits support, employment and training opportunities, 
volunteering support and support to become more socially active and physically active in 
the local community. Bespoke support package dependant on the client’s needs but the 
primary aim is to establish what support they need immediately this may be to address 
financial support or housing support as this is creating a barrier for them, the secondary aim 
once they feel ready and supported is to move them in to physical activity in the local 
community we have offered may of the clients the opportunity to become more physically 
active via a free 3 month pass at SPLC, moving into a further 9 months reduced membership 
rate. Physical activity has shown to improve the client’s general mental health and has given 
them the inspiration to improve other aspects of their lives. 
 
Adult Education Centre – Delivered a programme for their Full Time study programme 
students aged 16 – 18 years and students in the personal study programme aged 14 – 16 
years. Free taster session at SPLC which has now lead into a dedicated weekly session 
during term time at a reduced rate so it is affordable for the young people attending. This is 
an annual programme that we offer each new academic year. 
 
Five60 programme – 10 week Physical activity programme that we offer in all schools 
across our partnership to pupils in key stage 2, that supports the importance of doing 60 
minutes of exercise per day and eating a balanced diet (Five fruit and Veg per day) last 
academic year delivered to 15 schools, delivered 190 sessions, throughput of 5,350 
attendances. 
 
Schools activity programme – We offer a number of schools a but in service and we 
deliver a bespoke programme of physical activity to support pupils physical health this is 
offered as lunch time activity programmes and after school club provisions, last academic 
year delivered to 6 schools, delivered 225 sessions, throughput of 4,245 attendances. 
 
Clay Cross Obesity Group – as all of the NCMP data (National Childhood Measurement 
Progarmme data) points to Clay Cross as an area of concerns regarding rising obesity 
levels. In Clay Cross in reception aged 5yrs 14.3% are obese and 27.9% are carrying excess 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5c



 

 

weight with the national average being 8.8% and 21.8%. Year 6 data 22.8% are obese and 
39.7% carrying excess weight with national average being 17% and 31.2%. From the data 
above the area was an area for concern and a call for action was taken via the Clay Cross 
obesity group – an action plan has been pulled together to support Sharley Park Primary 
School under the following four themes: improve physical activity, improve healthy 
behaviour, improve wellbeing and resilience and improve community links. Obesity levels 
go hand in hand with deprivation levels and obesity is a wider issue than someone exercising 
more and eating a balanced diet. Work was due to start March but due to COVID work will 
resume when possible from September. A county obesity group has now been established 
via DCC Public Health and we have been sharing our good practice and learning with the 
group.  
 

Page 70



North East Derbyshire Childhood Obesity 
Leisure Services 

 

 

Projects/Schemes Current activities available Solutions to help Childhood Obesity 

 Schools five:60  Casual pay and play activities (swim, Badmi)  Attend seminars to understand industry 
actions and new innovative products 

 Active Fostering Scheme (DCC Funded)  Club use (Swimming, Basketball, Gymnastics, 
Martial arts, Fencing, Netball) 

 Move with technology to stay attractive to 
young people 

 WIC Officer-Active travel for schools  School Partnerships (Dronfield HF)  Better target marketing for this age group 

 School Swimming-DCC funded  Affordable Junior Memberships  Target programming (Junior classes) 

 Coach Core to add to PALS & WIC  School Holiday Activity Programmes  Better communication-Social media 

 Street Games and Beat the Street  Under 5’s Free Swimming (15K/year)  Possible activities Officers-Increased costs 

 DHF Project-Mental health & PA  Free Swimming for those on our S Lessons  Possible HR scheme for young people 

 PALS Initiative  Courses:Swim, gymnastics, tramp & T Tumble   Strategies and plans need updating to reflect 
this age group as a target group 

 Clay Cross Obesity Group-Partnerships  Juniors allowed from 11yr old (Gym)  Consult with youth groups/youth service 

 SPLC Fee MUGA use  Junior Gym Sessions   Partnerships key resolving the issue 

 NGB Initiatives-Sport England,  Roller discos at DSC and SPLC  Healthy eating options within café’s 

 Introducing Interactive Activities (cardio wall)  Sporting birthday parties (Inc climbing)  More focus around nutrition-Wellbeing session  

 STA National Childhood obesity campaign  Football coaching, etc  Beat the Street-potential 

 

 National crisis that can only be resolved or improved through close partnership working with PH England, Education, UK Active, Sport England etc 

 Although activity is key in helping the issue, diet and healthy eating awareness are crucial (Schools, education, public health) 

 Current NCMP data (National Childhood Measurement Programme) stats show that there is a growing trend with obesity getting increasingly worse 

across the 6 Diamond communities. 

 We know that health inequalities that exist in these areas have a direct impact on obesity and excess ive weight amongst young people in the area. 

 As a rule of thumb the more deprived an area is, the more likely obesity is, the more affluent an area is, the less likely obesity is to be higher than the 

national average. 

 Comment made by Clay Cross youth group was: One of the key themes coming from young people around food was “too many take always in the town” & 

diets and limited food choices due to affordability / accessibility. 

 Walking into communities’ project- The project has been funded via Public Health innovation funds and the Healthy NED Partnership funding for 2 years. 

To deliver walking for health / walk Derbyshire programme across the district of NED including in Clay Cross.   

 P
age 71



In partnership with: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

‘Return to play’  
Mental health guidance to 
support the return of sport 
& physical activity 

Page 72



2 
 

 
 
 
 

3  Introduction 

5 Supporting yourself 

6 Supporting your workforce 

 6 Supporting those who are returning to work 

 10 Supporting those who are working from home 

 12 Supporting those who are on furlough 

14  Supporting your participants 

17 Support available 

 

Contents 

Page 73



3 

 

 
 
 

 

About this guide 
This guide aims to equip the sport and physical activity sector with the tools and 

information required to support the mental health of staff, coaches, volunteers and 

participants as we ‘return to play’.  

This guide is aimed at organisations, clubs and groups that wish to provide the very best 

experience for their workforce and participants as lockdown restrictions are eased and 

sport and physical activity returns. It includes guidance, good practice, tools and insight to 

help the sector to provide an environment that supports the mental health of the people 

working, volunteering and participating in sport and physical activity. 

 

Impact of COVID-19 on mental health 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) has and continues to have a huge impact on our mental health. Below 

are findings of several surveys hosted during the last few months. 
 
  

~60% CYP  
and adults 

say they have spent 
time exercising to 

cope with pressures 
in the last two  

weeks1 

52%  
say their mental 
health has been 

impacted by 
concerns about 

work1 

46% CYP 
36% adults 
describe their 

mental health as 
currently poor or 

very poor1 

68% CYP 
60% adults 
say their mental 
health has got 

worse in the last 
two weeks1 

52% CYP  
49% adults 
say their mental 

health has got worse 
due to not being able 

to play sport or 
exercise1 

43%  
feel they do 

not have 
enough time to 

get work 

done3 

25% 

feel pressured to 
respond more 

quickly than they 
normally     

would2 

33%  
report 

frequently 
being  

isolated3 

28 hrs 

the average 
overtime people 
working from 

home are clocking 
up2 

Introduction 

1 Mind Coronavirus Survey (2020) (unpublished) 

2 LinkedIn and Mental Health Foundation Research (2020) 

3 IES Working at home survey – Interim findings (2020) 

Page 74



4 

 

Impact of COVID-19 on the sport and physical activity sector 
Although exercise was one of the four reasons why people could leave their home during 

the first stages of lockdown, the impact of COVID-19 has been felt across the sector. It has 

resulted in: 

 The temporary closure of all sport, fitness and exercise facilities 

 Significant financial implications for organisations, businesses and the sector’s 

workforce (particularly those who are self-employed) 

 Furloughing of a high percentage of the sector’s workforce and some being made 

redundant 

 The majority of the remaining workforce have been working from home which has 

led to some feeling isolated, working long hours and an ‘always on’ working culture 

 The sector’s workforce juggling commitments such as caring responsibilities and 

childcare 

 Moving activities and sessions on to virtual platforms 

 Limited interactions with colleagues, members, customers and clients 

 All business operations being conducted virtually 

 Uncertainty and anxiety around what the future may hold for the sector and the 

organisations and workforce within it. This includes potential drops in membership 

and participation numbers 

 Adapting to new ways of working and ever-changing priorities. 

 

When I can’t leave the house, access my medication or even food and 
both my mental and physical health has been suffering; getting active 
is the last thing on my mind. 

 

 
  The general public have been more conscious of being active to 

support their mental health during lockdown whereas people with 

existing mental health problems have found it harder to be active at 

this time, impacting negatively on their mental health. 

 Sport England data showed that across the first six weeks of 

lockdown, an average of 63% of people said they were keeping 

active to manage their mental health1.  

 UCL’s COVID-19 Social Study shows that people with existing 

mental health problems have been less active during this time 

and this has contributed negatively to their mental health2. 

1 Sport England (2020) – www.sportengland.org/news/surge-appreciation-exercise-and-activity-during-
lockdown  

2 UCL (2020) - https://b6bdcb03-332c-4ff9-8b9d-
28f9c957493a.filesusr.com/ugd/3d9db5_9dec89d6b9c24e45819db478998dc3af.pdf  

Page 75

http://www.sportengland.org/news/surge-appreciation-exercise-and-activity-during-lockdown
http://www.sportengland.org/news/surge-appreciation-exercise-and-activity-during-lockdown
https://b6bdcb03-332c-4ff9-8b9d-28f9c957493a.filesusr.com/ugd/3d9db5_9dec89d6b9c24e45819db478998dc3af.pdf
https://b6bdcb03-332c-4ff9-8b9d-28f9c957493a.filesusr.com/ugd/3d9db5_9dec89d6b9c24e45819db478998dc3af.pdf


5 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

It has never been more important to look after your mental health and wellbeing. One of 

the most widely used frameworks to help you do this is the New Economic Foundation’s 

Five Ways to Wellbeing. It is a set of evidence-based actions that promote wellbeing. 

Think of it as your five a day for mental health. 

 

 
  

Supporting yourself 

Page 76



6 

 

 
 

 

For this section, we use the terms workforce and staff to represent employees, coaches 

and volunteers including those who are self-employed.  

We have all gone through a massive adjustment period during lockdown whether it be 

working from home, being furloughed or still going into work. This has impacted 

everyone’s mental health and wellbeing. 

This section will look at how you can support your workforce who are: 1) returning to 

work, 2) working from home, and 3) furloughed. 

 

Supporting those who are returning to work 

As lockdown begins to ease, facilities and clubs will soon be restarting their activities. This 

means some of the sector’s workforce will be returning to their place of work (e.g. offices, 

facilities, clubs).  

Some staff may be excited to return whilst some may be feeling anxious. It’s different for 

each of us. However, early evidence shows that many staff will be returning with 

impacted mental health. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Supporting your workforce 

Employers have a duty of care to identify and manage risks to ensure 

your workplace is sufficiently safe to return to.  

To provide a safe environment for your workforce you will need to 

comply with the Government’s Working safely during coronavirus 

(COVID-19) guidance.  

To help you with this, the Chartered Institute of Personnel and 

Development (CIPD) have developed a COVID-19: returning to the 

workplace guide. 

 

Page 77

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/working-safely-during-coronavirus-covid-19
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/fundamentals/emp-law/employees/workplace-guide-returning-after-coronavirus
https://www.cipd.co.uk/knowledge/fundamentals/emp-law/employees/workplace-guide-returning-after-coronavirus


7 

 

1. Inform your workforce when you are planning to bring back 

furloughed staff 

Although there is no legal minimum length, we suggest providing as much 

notice as possible. This is particularly important for those who need to arrange 

cover for carer or childcare responsibilities. 

2. Line managers should organise a call with each member of staff prior 

to them restarting 

The line manager should: 

 Discuss concerns the individual may have including their commute, health 
and competing responsibilities (e.g. carer or childcare). Everyone’s 
situation is unique so it is important staff are able to ask questions and 
voice their concerns. These need to be taken into account to reduce 
anxiety and ensure staff feel supported by their employer 

 Ask if the individual requires any reasonable adjustments to return to work. 

Wellness Action Plans (see page 18) can help line managers with this. 

They are a great tool to ease the return to work process for staff as it can 
capture anything that may impact an individual’s mental health and what 
reasonable adjustments they might need. Reasonable adjustments may 
include: 

o Flexible working – working from home if their role allows or using a 
hybrid approach of working from home the days they aren’t 
required in the workplace 

o Changes to their working hours – avoiding peak hours if they need 
to use transport and flexibility for carer or childcare responsibilities 

o Time off at short notice – for health reasons and/or carer or 
childcare responsibilities 

o Phased return to work – gradually building up their hours to help 
their return to work 

o Change in job responsibilities or location – moving those who are 
vulnerable to positions of reduced risk (e.g. moving to back office 
function instead of a reception desk function) 

 Highlight the adaptations and policies that have been put in place to provide 
a safe environment to work in (e.g. hygiene, cleaning and PPE). Some 
facilities are looking to do this via walkthrough videos (see good practice 

examples on page 9) 

 Run through changes in company services and procedures, how customer 
queries and issues will be addressed, and any agreed changes to work 
duties or tasks 

 Ask staff for feedback and encourage them to share their ideas 

 

 

Before they return… 

Top tips – returning to work 

Page 78



 

1. Run a re-orientation or re-induction process 

This should cover the adaptations and policies that have been put in place to 

provide a safe environment to work in as well as changes to company 

services and procedures. 

2. Allow staff time to settle back in and adjust 

Many of your workforce will be returning after not working for a significant 

amount of time. It is important you allow them time to settle back in, answer 

their questions and check-in regularly. Wellness Action Plans (see page 18) 

can help with this process as they can identify if a staff member is finding the 

re-adjustment difficult and what reasonable adjustments they might need (see 

page 7). 

3. Have clear communication and dialogue with returning staff 

This includes: 

 Staff check-ins where the focus should be on health, safety and wellbeing.  

 Ensure line managers are aware of the resources available to support your 

workforce (see page 17). In addition, it is important line managers feel 

confident and able to have conversations with staff around mental health 

(see page 20) 

 Communicating measures being introduced to manage the ongoing situation 

 Reassure staff that their health, well-being and safety is your top priority 

3. Review how your workforce are responding to returning to work 

You could ask for their feedback and input during check-ins, team meetings 

and/or via anonymised surveys. 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Upon their return… 
  

 Give an overview of what their first day and weeks will look like 

 Based on the conversation and adjustments identified, ask if the individual is 
happy to return to work. If they’re not, then ask what else you could do to 
help them with the process. 

3. Notify staff of all changes  

All staff should receive updates to policies, working practices and their job role 

in writing before returning to work. 

Page 79



9 

 

Video walkthroughs so employers can demonstrate the changes (e.g. 

physical such as one-way access, hygiene, cleaning and PPE) they have 

made to ensure the workplace is a safe environment for the return of staff. 

These videos are also useful for when participants return (see good practice 

on page 16). 

Holding return to work inductions for all staff a week before facilities open. 

This is to get everyone back as a team to walk through the facilities to 

highlight what changes have been made and answer any questions or 

concerns. 

Every member of your workforce is different and won’t respond to returning to work in the 

same way. You need to be flexible in your approach and have clear and regular 

communication with each member of staff to understand their needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Good practice examples – returning to work 

Page 80



 

Supporting those who are working from home 

It's likely that many of us will be working from home for the foreseeable future and as a 

result, the usual support we access in our workplaces may not be there for us. This new 

way of working may lead to staff feeling anxious, isolated and disconnected. Therefore, 

organisations need to look at how they can support their staff’s mental health remotely. 

 

 

 

  

Top tips – working from home 

Be clear, open and honest about the changes being made, whilst 

acknowledging that some new ways of working may be trial and error. 

Promote two-way dialogue and ensure staff are able to provide feedback and 

escalate concerns or issues. 

5. Promote support tools for staff (e.g. Employee Assistance Programme) 

Whatever wellbeing support your organisation has available, make sure your 

staff know about it and how to access it. See page 17 for information on 

support for your staff. 

1. Have regular virtual check-ins with individuals and as a team 

Find a tool that works for your team (e.g. Microsoft teams, Skype, Zoom or by 

phone). Make sure these individual and team check-ins are scheduled in 

advance. You could use a ‘working from home Wellness Action Plan’ to help 

you with individual check-ins (see page 18). 

2. Encourage work/life balance and routine 

Support clear boundaries for the working day and implement a structured 

routine (in and out of work). Support healthy habits by encouraging your staff 

to define their working day in their calendars, set reminders for the end of the 

day and to take at least a 30-minute lunch break. Lead by example and ensure 

you role model appropriate behaviours by not responding to emails or 

notifications late at night. 

3. Provide flexibility for staff with carer and childcare responsibilities 

Allow interruptions during the working day and be understanding by 

scheduling calls when staff can join.  

4. Establish new ways of working 

6. Create moments for social connection 

Consider the opportunities available for your staff to connect socially (see 

good practice examples on page 11). Page 81



11 

 

Mental Health Champions and Mental Health First Aiders providing guidance 

and support on how staff can look after their mental health and wellbeing 

whilst working from home. 

Line managers taking part in training to increase their knowledge and 

confidence in supporting staff remotely. 

Hosting virtual social sessions that are available for staff and their families. 

These tend to work best around lunchtime or at the end of the working day 

(e.g. at 4pm). 

Conducting staff surveys to understand the impact of the coronavirus 

pandemic and lockdown on the wellbeing of your workforce as well as a 

channel for staff to raise concerns and provide feedback. 

Every member of your workforce is different and won’t respond to working from home in the 

same way. You need to be flexible in your approach and have clear and regular 

communication with each member of staff to understand their needs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Good practice examples – working from home 

Page 82



 

Supporting those who are on furlough 

The coronavirus outbreak has forced many organisations to furlough staff. This may help 

organisations financially and staff with caring and/or childcare responsibilities, but it can also impact 

your workforce’s mental health. Furlough can result in staff feeling: 

 Worried about the implications it will have on their job when they return 

 Guilty that other colleagues are picking up their work 

 Isolated or lonely particularly if they live on their own 

 A lack of purpose or motivation as well as reduced self-worth. 

 

 

 

  

Top tips – furloughed staff 

1. Communicate clearly, regularly and with transparency 

Line managers should offer regular check-ins with furloughed staff, at a time 

and frequency that suits the staff member (e.g. once a fortnight), with a focus 

on their health and wellbeing. Wellness Action Plans can help with this process 

(see page 18).  

Communicate organisational updates including developments around furlough. 

Staff may ask for these to be sent to their personal email addresses. In 

addition, it is important line managers feel confident and able to have 

conversations with staff around mental health (see page 20). 

2. Help staff to stay connected 

Hold informal sessions to bring people together over digital platforms to facilitate 

social connection (see good practice example on page 13). Encourage those still 

working to maintain regular contact with furloughed workers, wherever possible. 

Plan ahead for furloughed staff returning to work.  

See supporting those who are returning to work on page 6. 

If you have an Employee Assistance Programme (EAP), remind employees that 

they will still have access to this while they are furloughed and encourage 

them to use it (see page 19). Promote other services, internally and externally, 

that they can access (see page 17). 

4. Promote ways staff can look after their mental health and wellbeing 

Five Ways to Wellbeing is a popular evidence-based wellbeing framework that 

may be useful for your staff (see page 5). Many people have found furlough 

leave a good opportunity to learn something new; there are free courses 

available online from the Open University and Edx. 

3. Signpost to mental health support 

Page 83

https://www.open.edu/openlearn/free-courses/full-catalogue
https://www.edx.org/


13 

 

Inviting furloughed staff to join all staff briefing so they are aware of 

organisational developments. 

Inviting furloughed staff to feedback and input into the organisation’s support 

offer during check-ins and/or via anonymous surveys. 

Mental Health Champions and Mental Health First Aiders providing virtual 

support to furloughed staff. 

Every member of your workforce is different and won’t respond to being furloughed in the 

same way. You need to be flexible in your approach and have clear and regular 

communication with each member of furloughed staff to understand their needs.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Good practice examples – furloughed staff 

Page 84



 

 

 

 

 

For this section, we use the term participants to represent participants, players, customers and 

members.  

As lockdown restrictions start to ease and facilities begin to open, participants may have mixed 

feelings about ‘returning to play’. Some may be excited to get back and re-establish routines 

and friendships whilst others could be feeling anxious about how they can take part safely. 

This section highlights tops tips and good practice sport and physical activity providers can 

implement to help reduce these anxieties to ensure everyone, including those with mental 

health problems, have a safe, welcoming and inclusive environment to be active in. 

 

I will be happy to be able to join the [running] group and see 

everyone. It will be good to get back to some routine and work 

together towards a goal. 

I have many mixed feelings. Deep down I think the powers that be are 

rushing it all through too soon. 

I've been feeling nervous about it [getting back to group activity]. 

 

 

   

Supporting your participants 

Top tips – participants 

1. Promote the positives of returning to play to your participants in a 

reassuring, unpressured and non-judgemental way 

Remember some people are excited to get back to physical activity whilst 

others are anxious and facing additional barriers. 

2. Involve participants in discussions and solutions to reopening your 

facilities and/or activities 

It is extremely important to get participant feedback and input to understand 

how you can support them effectively to ‘return to play’ (this is referred to as 

a co-design or co-produced approach). It will be particularly useful to speak to 

participants who are anxious about returning to understand what measures 

you can put in place to reduce their anxieties. 

Page 85



15 

 

 

 

  

3. Communicate the measures you have taken to make your 

facilities and/or activities safe for participants 

This includes changes to hygiene (e.g. cleaning and the availability of 

sanitiser), practical (e.g. one-way systems) and logistical (e.g. reduced session 

size, taking bookings online and over the phone).  

Video tours are an effective way to showcase the changes made (see good 

practice examples on page 16). It is important to communicate these measures 

via a range of online and offline channels including your website, social media 

and direct correspondence (e.g. personalised text messages or phone calls). 

4. Provide the opportunity for participants to ask questions  and 
raise  concerns 

To make this as easy as possible, have a designated role or named contact 

participants can contact before reopening, at the start of activities and for the 

first few weeks and months. This will help to reduce anxieties participants may 

be experiencing and ensure you recognise how to provide a welcoming 

experience for everyone. 

Participants who are shielding or those who are anxious to return may need 

more time before they start attending facilities and/or activities. By continuing 

to offer a flexible approach, you will engage more participants. 

6. Encourage participants to attend with a friend, family member or 

support worker 

Some participants may require supporters who are within their rights to attend 

and be within social distancing guidelines. 

5. Provide both face-to-face and digital offers to your members where 

possible 

7. Provide a friendly welcome 

The social distancing guidelines can feel quite clinical and scary. Remember 

the importance of a friendly, warm welcome. Where possible build in time for 

social connection (safely) remembering we need to be socially distant not 

emotionally distant. 

8. Offer welcome back sessions (free or reduced) 

Provide graded/phased return to sessions focussing on wider wellbeing 

benefits and lifestyle advice such as nutrition. Manage the participant’s 

expectations about their abilities especially if they haven’t done the activity for 

a long time. 

Page 86



 

Leisure operators are looking to conduct virtual tours or video walkthroughs 

to highlight the changes and measures (e.g. hygiene, practical and logistical) 

they have put in place to ensure it is a safe environment to ‘return to play’. 

You could use the same videos for staff returning to work (see good practice 

examples on page 9). 

Activity providers are running re-orientation or re-induction sessions for 

staff so they can provide support for participants when they return (see 

page 8). In addition, it is important staff feel confident and able to have 

conversations with participants around mental health (see page 20). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

9. Provide quiet area 

Returning to activity may be overwhelming for some so a quiet space where 

participants can take some time for themselves can be invaluable. 

10. Be flexible 

 
Every participant is different and won’t respond to ‘returning to play’ in the 

same way. You need to be flexible in your approach and provide the 

opportunity for participants to input, feedback and raise concerns. 

Signpost participants to mental health support if they need it.  
See helplines on page 13. 

Good practice examples – participants 

Page 87



17 

 

 

 

 

 

There is an extensive range of tools and services you can access to support your staff and 

participants as we ‘return to play’. 

 

Support 

Support around… 

Returning 
staff 

Staff 
working 

from home 

Furloughed 
staff Participants 

Wellness Action Plans (WAP) X X X  

Working from home WAP  X X  
Mental Health Awareness for 
Sport and Physical Activity 
eLearning 

X X X X 

Mind’s Coronavirus and your 
mental health information hub 

X X X X 

Mind’s Workplace Wellbeing 
courses 

X X   

Mental health for small 
workplaces free eLearning  

X X   

Mind’s Workplace Wellbeing 

wider support 
X X X  

Employees Assistance 
Programme  

X X X  
Mind’s Sport, Physical Activity 
and Mental Health Regional 

Networks 

X X X X 

Mind’s bereavement guidance X X X X 

Helplines X X X X 
How to have conversations 
around mental health 
guidance 

X X X X 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Support available 

Page 88



 

Wellness Action Plans 
Are an easy, practical way of helping you to support your own mental health at work, and 

helping you to support the mental health of your team members.  

Everyone can complete a WAP, you don't need to have a mental health problem in order to 

feel the benefits.  

By completing a WAP, you will be able to list: 

 approaches you will take and behaviours you can adopt to support your mental 

wellbeing 

 early warning signs of poor mental health that your manager can look out for 

 any workplace triggers for poor mental health or stress 

 potential impact of poor mental health on your performance, if any 

 what support you need from your line manager 

Click here for more information and to access templates.  

We have also developed a specific Working from home WAP (click here for more information 

and to access templates). 

 

Mental Health Awareness for Sport and Physical Activity 
eLearning 

This is a good starting point for anyone in the sport and physical activity sector. The course 

takes 2 to 3 hours to complete and is aimed at anyone who delivers or supports sport and 

physical activities. 

The course is currently free (usually £18) until the end of August 2020.  

Click here to access the course. 

 

Mind’s Coronavirus and your mental health information hub 
Provides reliable information and advice on how to support your mental wellbeing during this 

period. This includes practical advice on coping with staying at home, tips for employers on 

supporting yourself and your team, and managing feelings about lockdown easing.  

Click here to access the information hub. 

 

Mind’s Workplace Wellbeing training courses 
We provide expert training and consultancy for individuals and organisations who would like to 

increase knowledge of mental health.  

Click here for more information and to see the courses we deliver. 

Mental health for small workplaces free eLearning 

This short, free eLearning course can build your confidence in thinking and talking about 

mental health in the workplace. Available for organisations with less than 250 employees. 

Click here for more information and to sign up to the course. 

  
Page 89

https://www.mind.org.uk/workplace/mental-health-at-work/taking-care-of-your-staff/employer-resources/wellness-action-plan-download/
https://www.mind.org.uk/media-a/5802/22078_work-from-home-wap-final.pdf
https://www.ukcoaching.org/courses/learn-at-home/mental-health-awareness-for-sport-and-physical-act
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/coronavirus/
https://www.mind.org.uk/workplace/training-consultancy/
https://www.mentalhealthatwork.org.uk/toolkit/mental-health-for-small-workplaces/


19 

 

Mind’s Workplace Wellbeing wider support 
Our Workplace Wellbeing team have created a range of resources and support services to 

help organisations and staff during the Coronavirus pandemic. These include: 

 Supporting remote workers through the coronavirus webinar  

 Coping with the challenges of working from home toolkit 

 Supporting staff with children at home guidance 

 Supporting yourself and your team; advice for managers 

 How to manage your wellbeing while furloughed guidance 

 Coping with redundancy during the pandemic guidance 

 

Employee Assistance Programme 

An Employee Assistance Programme (EAP) is an employee support scheme. If you have an 

EAP, ensure all staff (furloughed, returning and working from home) are aware they can 

access it for any personal or professional mental health or wellbeing problems, which may 

have a detrimental impact upon their work or general wellbeing. 

 

Mind’s Sport, Physical Activity and Mental Health Regional 
Networks 

Mind has created Regional Networks throughout England to unite organisations from across 

the sport, physical activity and mental health sectors. Their aim is to increase the number of 

groups that are equipped with the skills to support and engage people with mental health 

problems in physical activity. 

Click here for more information on the Regional Network programme and the lead 

organisations. 

 

Mind’s bereavement guidance 

Click here for information on bereavement, where to go for support, and suggestions for 

helping yourself and others through grief. 

 

Helplines 

 Mind’s Infoline – call 0300 123 3393; 9am-6pm Monday-Friday except bank holidays. 

 Samaritans – call 116 123; 24 hours a day, 365 days a year (free from any phone).  

 Shout – text SHOUT to 85258; 24 hours a day, 365 days a year (free from any phone). 

Click here for a list of helplines and listening services. 

  

Page 90

https://youtu.be/Nkdgc1_KK48
http://www.mentalhealthatwork.org.uk/toolkit/coronavirus-coping-with-the-challenges-of-working-from-home
http://www.mind.org.uk/workplace/coronavirus-and-work/supporting-staff-caring-for-children
http://www.mind.org.uk/workplace/coronavirus-and-work/tips-for-supporting-yourself-and-your-team
http://www.mind.org.uk/workplace/coronavirus-and-work/support-if-youre-furloughed
http://www.mind.org.uk/workplace/coronavirus-and-work/coping-with-redundancy
http://www.mind.org.uk/about-us/our-policy-work/sport-physical-activity-and-mental-health/regional-network-hubs/?ctaId=/about-us/our-policy-work/sport-physical-activity-and-mental-health/slices/regional-network-hubs
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/guides-to-support-and-services/bereavement/about-bereavement/
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/helplines/
https://www.samaritans.org/
https://www.giveusashout.org/
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/guides-to-support-and-services/crisis-services/helplines-listening-services/


 

How to have conversations around mental health guidance 

Managing conversations 

 Find a quiet place where the person feels comfortable to speak. For those working 

from home, it may be a space away from flatmates or family members. A conversation 

about mental health shouldn’t feel like a formal interview. 

 Actively listen to the person by giving them your undivided attention. Leave any 

questions or comments until the person has finished, so you don’t interrupt them. 

 Once someone knows they’re being given the space and time to talk, they’re more 

likely to open up. If someone approaches you wanting to talk, it may not be possible for 

you to give them the time they need there and then. Instead, show them you recognise 

that they’ve taken a positive step by speaking to you, explain why you can’t talk now 

and arrange a better time to have the conversation. If they are in urgent need of help, 

be sure to signpost them to support. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Reflecting the words they’ve used can encourage them to open up more.  

 Use empathetic statements such as: “I appreciate this must be difficult for you…” 

 Avoid clichés. Comments like “pull yourself together” or “you’re just having a bad day” 

are unhelpful. 

 Remind them that mental health problems are more common than people think, and that 

they can affect anyone at any time.  

 Avoid asking too many questions, especially closed questions (which require a ‘yes’ or 

‘no’ answer) and those that begin with the word ‘why.’ Ask open questions to invite a 

more detailed response:  

o Can you describe how you’re feeling? 

o How do you look after yourself?  

o What support do you have in place?  

 Reassure them that it’s positive that they want to talk about their experience, and that 

they’ve acknowledged they want support (if this is the case).  

IMPORTANT 

If someone needs urgent medical attention due to their mental health, 

call 999, direct them to their GP or Accident & Emergency at their 

nearest hospital (if appropriate), or the Samaritans on 116 123 

(available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week).  

Alternatively, the yellow box at the top of every page on the Mind 

website (mind.org.uk) will help direct people appropriately.  

 

Page 91

http://www.mind.org.uk/


21 

 

 Ask if they’re aware of sources of support, and signpost them to relevant information 

and help. It may be helpful to ask “What would you like to happen in this situation?” 

This will help to empower and encourage them to take the course of action that seems 

right to them. Be clear about what you can do, as well as what you can’t. 

 The important thing is to listen rather than give advice – the individual needs to be able 

to act for themselves. Signpost them to sources of support, rather than telling them 

what you think is best. 

 

Starting conversations 

Sometimes starting a conversation about mental health is sometimes the hardest task, and it’s 

important not to be discouraged by negative experiences.  

You may want to practice or role play conversations with a close friend or family member 

until you become more comfortable. It’s important to know your own boundaries and be clear 

on what personal experiences you’re happy to reference in conversation. 

Here are some tips to help start conversations: 

 Ask someone how they are doing or feeling. Encourage them to engage by asking an 

open question focused on them and/or their wellbeing. Remember that sometimes 

people will say they’re fine when they’re not. Time to Change’s Ask Twice campaign 

highlights the importance of asking how someone is doing or feeling twice to 

encourage a genuine response. 

 Use your own personal experiences as a conversation starting point. Be clear on what 

you’re happy to share, before you get started. 

 Talk about how you maintain personal wellbeing, relax or de-stress (for example, if use 

sport or physical activity as part of your daily or weekly routine). 

 Use topical news stories to highlight interesting points. 

See helping someone with a mental health problem guidance for more information and tips. 

 

Closing conversations  

Closing conversations effectively helps to reassure the participant that their thoughts and 

feelings have been listened to, and helps to clarify next steps. 

 Sometimes conversations will come to a natural end. If this doesn’t happen, provide a 

gentle indication that the conversation needs to come to an end. You could say 

something like: “It’s been good to talk. We’ve covered a lot and we will have to wrap up 

soon because I have another session/meeting/call,” or something similar.  

 Summarise the conversation and anything you’ve both agreed to do. For example: 

“You’ve told me you’re going to speak to your GP about how you’re feeling, and I will 

email you details of your local Mind.”  

 Ask practical questions such as “Will someone be there when you get home?” or “Is 

there a friend you can go and see?”   

Page 92

https://www.time-to-change.org.uk/asktwice
https://www.mind.org.uk/information-support/guides-to-support-and-services/seeking-help-for-a-mental-health-problem/helping-someone-else-seek-help/


 

 Offering a listening ear and showing your acceptance, warmth and regard can go a 

long way to help someone. It may not be possible to get a clear idea of the next steps 

they’ll take as a result of talking to you. Ending the conversation by inviting them to 

take some time to reflect on what you’ve discussed, and to consider what they may 

want to do next could be the best way to bring the conversation to a close, especially if 

you feel there’s nothing more you can say at that time.  

If you feel it would be helpful, that it’s appropriate within the boundaries of your role, and that 

you’re able to commit to giving more of your time in this way, you may want to arrange 

another time to meet and talk. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

66 

Page 93



23 

 

In partnership with: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

sport@mind.org.uk 

mind.org.uk/sport 

 
@MindCharity 

/mindforbettermentalhealth 

Search for Mind. 

 
Mind 
15-19 Broadway 
Stratford 
London 
E15 4BQ 

 
 
 

Registered Charity No. 219830 

 

Page 94

mailto:sport@mind.org.uk
http://mind.org.uk/sport
https://twitter.com/MindCharity
https://www.facebook.com/mindforbettermentalhealth/


sportengland.org

Shaping
our Future 
 
May 2020

Page 95



Contents
Introduction from our CEO 3

What’s this document for? 5

The purpose that drives us  6

Our purpose 7

Our values 8

What we’ll do 9

How we’ll work 12

What comes next? 15

How can I respond now? 16

Page 96



3Sport England  Shaping our Future

For over nine 
months now, 
Sport England 
has been 
considering 
our current 
strategy and 
how it might 

need updating and adapting for 
the decade ahead. We have been 
talking with a wide community 
of people who care about 
physical activity and sport. 
We have gathered thousands 
of perspectives on what really 
matters about what we do and 
how we do it. 

We have been reflecting on the life of our 
organisation so far; our previous choices, 
what we have learnt from experience, 
and what it means for our next steps.

Given all this, we began to form a good 
idea of where we were and where we 
wanted to go in the future. We were on 
track for publishing this in early autumn. 

Then – with the outbreak of a global 
pandemic – our world quickly changed 
in ways that did not seem plausible even 
a few weeks before. In the crisis of the 
outbreak, and the social and economic 
shock of the measures needed to control it, 
we have significantly changed our approach

- focusing solely on supporting the network 
of people and organisations who are the 
fabric of activity and sport and on helping 
the nation to stay active. 

We know there is much more work to do 
and it will continue to be challenging. We 
are all trying to protect what we love and 
value, whilst coping with fear and loss, 
and finding ways to adapt to the situation 
that is unfolding. Every day we face more 
uncertainty than we are used to or were 
prepared for. 

But there are reasons to be hopeful. Within 
the struggle, we are seeing signs that new 
foundations are emerging for the rebuilding 
of sport, physical activity, leisure and 
fitness. There is hope that we might emerge 
from lockdown as a nation of people who 
recognise that movement matters.  

We are changing our national values 
around activity. Exercise is being redefined 
as a necessity, rather than a recreational 
choice or luxury. We are repeatedly hearing 
that exercise is a priority for the nation. 
The government has deemed it essential, 
along with food and medicine. 

This seems to be shaping mindsets. Most 
adults are now telling us that they think 
being active is more important than before 
and are using physical activity to stay 
physically and mentally healthy. 

Introduction 
from our CEO

Page 97



4Sport England  Shaping our Future

The changes in our everyday lives have 
clearly been a massive disruption to our 
habits. In the midst of coping with our 
changing circumstances, many people 
are doing more activity, and experiencing 
different activities than usual. These could 
be the beginnings of new choices for 
people. But we may also be placing more 
value on the types of activities that we did 
before the outbreak; most of us say that 
we miss what we used to do. 

But we cannot be remotely complacent 
because, alongside this, many others are 
doing less. We can already see that older 
people, those who are on low incomes, are 
living in urban areas, or are living alone, and 
disabled people, are finding it harder to be 
active during the outbreak. There is a real 
risk that, despite our best efforts and good 
intentions, the inequalities in activity get 
even bigger. 

These are just some of the big shifts that 
we are starting to see. And, whilst we will 
continue to focus on what is needed today, 
we recognise that we are also part of shaping 
the role that physical activity and sport will 
play as we all emerge from this crisis. 

This is a moment to set new ambitions for 
how we work – within Sport England and 
with our partners – to make sure that we 
are all part of the solution. Yet we know 
that this is not a time for creating concrete 
plans or projecting too far into the future. 
Fast-changing conditions can quickly 
make any plans obsolete. What seems to 
be the solution today is unlikely to be in two 
months’ time. 

Like many others, we have needed to take fast 
action in the past few weeks. In the most 
urgent moments, we have found ourselves 
guided by the things people have told us 
about what matters most. We have realised 
that - amid uncertainty - there are some 
things that remain resolutely important. 
These are the things that enable us to 
navigate unchartered territory; a sense of 
purpose, our core values, and a network 
of trusting relationships. 

This is a more adaptive sort of strategy, 
a way to stay focused in our work and make 
good decisions and choices in the context 
of complexity and uncertainty. 

That is the purpose of this document. As we 
highlight in more detail on the next page, 
it is both a signal of the direction that we 
want to go towards with our future strategy, 
and a way for us to navigate the coming 
days, weeks and months. As we change and 
adapt, this is what we will reform around. 

Tim Hollingsworth
Chief executive

There is a real risk 
that, despite our best 
efforts and good 
intentions, the 
inequalities in activity 
get even bigger”

“

Page 98



5Sport England  Shaping our Future

We’ve talked with hundreds 
of partners, contacts and 
colleagues about how our 
strategy could evolve. 

We deliberately set out to ask questions 
and gather different perspectives about 
what matters most to people about our 
next strategy. These voices have played 
a huge part in shaping our thinking.

We originally created this document to test 
what we’ve heard so far, and the direction 
that we’re going in, to shape our next strategy. 
In recent weeks, it’s not only remained 
relevant but taken on new significance as 
a framework to guide our choices and 
actions through an uncertain time. 

This represents a very different approach 
for us – to share some emerging direction 
whilst it’s partially formed - and with the 
intention of shaping it further with others. 

We really want to hear the views of 
the people who share our ambitions. 

We welcome feedback on this framework. 
We especially recognise that the collective 
sense of what matters most may well be 
changing. Please see the ‘What comes next’ 
and ‘How can I respond now’ sections for 
ways to tell us what you think.

What’s this 
document for?

Page 99



6Sport England  Shaping our Future

A strong theme of our strategy 
conversations so far has been a 
call for us to join up efforts across 
interests and organisations, to 
combine forces and become 
more than the sum of our parts. 

At the heart of this is the very practical 
sense that working together well requires 
shared purpose: clarity on what really 
matters and how we each play our part in 
contributing to that. 

We’ve all seen the power of shared purpose 
recently: through the lens of the crisis that 
has been caused by the outbreak of Covid-19. 

Our colleagues, partners and potential 
partners have indicated in feedback so 
far that they’re not currently clear enough 
about what we’re really trying to achieve, 
or what we think our role is. 

In response, we’ve created a new clear 
statement of our purpose – a vision for the 
future that drives us. You’ll find our purpose 
statement on the next page. 

We believe that we share our vision of the 
future with others. It’s much bigger than 
Sport England. We won’t be able to achieve 
this alone – it will take the organisations 
who share this ambition to work together 
to succeed.

But we know that we have a unique and 
important contribution to make. Our next 
strategy will be an explanation of the role 
we plan to play, and how we plan to do it. 

The purpose
that drives us 

Page 100



7Sport England  Shaping our Future

Our purpose

When we move, 
we are stronger. 
That’s true for each of us. 
And it’s true for our nation.

Movement makes us happier and healthier. 
It opens up opportunities and brings 
communities together. It’s essential for our 
wellbeing and has the power to make life 
better and fairer for everyone. And that’s 
why Sport England is here.

If we can help everyone move more 
– by enabling people to find and enjoy 
the activities and sports they choose 
– we can play our part in creating:

•  More integrated and resilient 
communities, actively involved in 
shaping the places they want to live in. 

•  A stronger economy – boosted by the 
huge cost benefits of people with better 
mental and physical health, living in 
less divided communities: from relieving 
pressure on our National Health Service 
to reducing prison populations.

•  A society where physical activity is the 
norm – powered by thriving grassroots 
groups and clubs up and down the country.

Some people will succeed on the national 
and international stage – becoming 
positive role models to millions and giving 
us a shared sense of pride. But above all, we 
want to create an environment where every 
single child has the chance to reach their 
full potential.

That’s what ‘winning’ looks like for us. 

We can’t do it alone. We can only succeed 
if we realise that this isn’t an individual 
pursuit. We’re part of a much bigger team. 
And that’s why we’ll work with organisations, 
locally and nationally, who share our ambitions 
– whatever their sector or industry.

Sometimes we’ll lead. Sometimes we’ll listen. 
We won’t have all the answers, but we 
can share valuable knowledge and bring 
together expert voices.

We’re here to champion the role of sport 
and activity, so all of us can enjoy the benefits 
of being active. That means our ambition 
is for everyone – and the life-changing 
difference that we can make together.

We are Sport England.

Page 101



8Sport England  Shaping our Future

Our values are the ways that we’ll enshrine our purpose in our 
everyday choices and behaviours. We’re determined to not 
just say them, but to live them. 

We want to work with people who want to work in this way - and we want people 
to call us out when we’re falling short.

Our values

InnovativeInclusiveAmbitiousCollaborative

InnovativeInclusiveAmbitiousCollaborative

InnovativeInclusiveAmbitiousCollaborative

InnovativeInclusiveAmbitiousCollaborative

We are collaborative 
One team, committed to delivering 
together and working with others to 
make a difference to people’s lives. 

We are ambitious
Determined in pursuit of our goals, 
prioritising work and partnerships that 
will most advance our mission, help 
us to succeed and make a positive 
impact on the nation. 

We are inclusive
Harnessing our collective strengths 
and respecting difference to 
create the conditions for everyone 
to engage and excel.

We are innovative
Curious, optimistic and relentless, 
we question established ways of 
working and learn from each other 
and from our experiences. 

Page 102



9Sport England  Shaping our Future

What this means for our 
next strategy:

Channel resources where they’re 
most needed

We – and many of our partners – believe 
that the people who need the most help to 
be active, and would benefit the most from 
it, should get the most support. 

We’ll maintain universal support for people 
across the country, but the scale and 
intensity of that support will be greater 
where the need is greatest. We plan to 
prioritise our resources around the people 
and the places that need it the most – 
especially those facing disadvantage or 
additional barriers, who have not had equal 
access to opportunities.

We think that this is the way to create a more 
level playing field when it comes to access, 

quality of experience, and outcomes. For more 
people to take part and have meaningful 
experiences, we need to change the rules 
of the game.

The way that we plan to do this is by 
establishing collaborations between a variety 
of partners who are well-placed to reach:

•  People – we’ll want to work with partners 
who can help us really understand and 
reach the people that we’re not currently 
reaching. 

•  Places - we increasingly understand 
that the things that influence activity 
levels the most are in the places where 
we live. The things that shape how much 
activity we do are our families, friends, 
the streets and parks around us, the 
opportunities that are provided to us and 
the obstacles that get in our way. We’ll 
want to work with partners in the places 
where we see the biggest inequalities.

What we’ll do

•  Be unashamed in channelling the 
most resource where it’s most 
needed – focus on the people who 
need the most help to live active lives.

•  Support the backbone of sport and 
activity – guard against a pendulum 
swing. Make sure there’s support for 
those who are currently active, and 
those who are talented, and don’t 
take them for granted.

•  Step up on the big issues – there 
are some major systemic issues that 
require Sport England to lead 
a joined-up response.

•  Deliver the basics brilliantly – 
simplify your processes, make it easy 
to find information, make it clear what 
support is available, to who, when 
and how.

What we’ve heard:

Page 103



10Sport England  Shaping our Future

Support the backbone of sport 
and activity

At the beginning of 2020, around 28 million 
adults and 3 million children were living active 
lives through combinations of different 
activities. For most, this involved lifestyle 
choices like walking or cycling to get 
somewhere. Around half took part in fitness 
(in leisure centres, gyms, parks and at home) 
and played sports, either competitively or 
informally. We know that people choose 
different combinations of things to stay 
active, and that these choices change as 
their lives and needs change. We’ve seen 
people adapting what they do to stay 
active considerably in 2020 due to the 
restrictions introduced by the government 
as a result of the coronavirus outbreak.

We’ve also seen that, for many people, 
sport plays a role in their lives that goes 
beyond a way to be active and healthy. 
The absence of national and international 
sport events in 2020 has highlighted what 
our nation values about it. Sport can be 
a unifier, especially in difficult times – 
a vehicle for people and communities to 
come together, to celebrate who they are 
and what they represent. 

We’re proud of our support for the sport 
sector and the organisations who govern 
sport and talent pathways at all levels and 
safeguard the people who take part. 

The experiences they provide are often 
some of the first experiences that children 
have of activity, and it’s crucial that these 
are designed to be as meaningful and 
enjoyable as possible. 

We want to work to not only maintain but 
enhance the core infrastructure of sport and 
activity – the network of facilities, spaces 
and clubs that provide places to play. 

We want to support the vital workforce of 
instructors, coaches, and volunteers that 
support people day-in-day-out to take 
part in activity and sport. 

We’d like to work more closely with those 
providing leisure and fitness experiences, 
to collaborate around cross-sector 
challenges and opportunities. 

Step up on the big issues

The things that impact on people’s ability 
to be active, and on the organisations who 
support activity, are often outside of what 
we’d consider to be the ‘sport sector’ or 
‘leisure sector.’ They’re contextual issues, 
that are going on around us, and are often 
well beyond the control of any person or 
organisation. This has never been more 
evident than it is now. 

We’ve heard that there’s a desire for us to 
lead a joined-up response to some of these 
issues, bringing the relevant organisations 
together to experiment with solutions. This 
guided us in our response to the crisis 
caused by coronavirus. 

Page 104



11Sport England  Shaping our Future

Brilliant basics 

We plan to make the things that underpin 
all our work simpler and easier – for our 
colleagues and our partners. Across all our 
relationships and investments, some of 
our systems, platforms and processes can 
cause frustration and delays for us and 
our partners. We plan to invest so that the 
basic information, guidance and support 
feels brilliantly simple to give and receive.

It’s important that our ways of working are 
easy and accessible to all, and that we’re 
consciously removing the barriers in our 
processes that could reinforce unequal 
access to support and funding.

The big issues that people suggest 
we should play a role in are:

•  Tackling inequalities – for a long time, 
it’s been evident that the way sport and 
activity experiences are designed and 
delivered typically meets the needs 
of some people more than others. 
Partners are clear that some people 
need more support to get active and 
stay active than others, and that it will 
take a determined and co-ordinated 
effort to tackle inequalities in sport 
and physical activity.

•  Climate emergency – partners 
have told us that this represents 
some tangible threats, as well 
as opportunities to be part of 
the solution.

•  Connecting with health and 
wellbeing – a sense of unlocked 
potential, especially around social 
prescribing into sport and activity.

•  Digital and data – concern that 
sport and leisure has fallen behind 
other sectors in terms of the digital 
experience and needs to catch up.

•  Workforce – how we can sustain, grow, 
develop and diversify the professional 
workforce and volunteers.

•  Active environments – creating the 
spaces and places for people to be 
more active and planning to make it 
more joined-up for people.

•  Diminishing local resources and 
capacity – fears about ongoing 
reductions in local government 
spending on activity, sport and 
leisure. A sense that places are losing 
capacity and capability to make 
strategic long-term decisions.

•  School experiences – often the 
first and most equal opportunities 
that children and young people 
have access to - which shape their 
relationship with movement for the 
rest of their lives – are felt to be low 
priority for many schools.

The big issues

Page 105



12Sport England  Shaping our Future

What this means for our 
next strategy:

Longer-term strategy

Historically, we’ve created four or five-year 
visions and strategies linked to government 
funding cycles. We’ve found that these 
cycles do not present realistic timings for 
generational change on a national scale.
We now plan to focus on a long-term 
strategy of at least 10 years. This will not be 
an action plan, or a list of programmes, 
rather a vision of the central role that sport 
and physical activity can play in this country, 
and the ways in which we believe we must 
all adapt and work together to achieve it. 

A strategy that’s relevant for the long term 
needs to have a balance of commitment 
and flexibility. When we publish our strategy, 
we’ll commit to the things that will guide our 
choices over the long term. These are the 
things that define us and our ambitions and 
are the things that we don’t expect to change. 

How we’ll work

•  Be bolder and more visionary – 
create a strategy for a long-term 
paradigm shift, to meet the scale 
of the challenge and opportunity.

•  Work on relationships – some are 
about getting a job done, others are 
about long-term strategic goals. 
Be clear about what you want.

•  Support the ecosystem to thrive – 
recognise the inter-connected nature 
of the issues and organisations that 
you work with and help them to work 
together more effectively.

What we’ve heard:

Page 106



13Sport England  Shaping our Future

We think that the things that will guide us 
over the long term are:

•  Our purpose – we’ll be stubborn on the 
vision, but flexible on what it takes to get 
there. We’ll work with other organisations 
who share our ambitions and can tackle 
the problems from all angles. 

•  Our values – we’re determined to not 
just say them but to live them – we want 
to work with people who want to work in 
this way too.

The flexibility will come within shorter-term 
implementation plans. These will be the 
tactical choices that we make in order to 
maximise our impact with the resources 
that we have. 

We plan to redefine what success looks like 
– to reflect the need to monitor our impact 
on national behaviour change in the long 
term, whilst showing more tangible impacts 
that we’re achieving along the way. We plan 
to work with partners to crack a way of 
measuring our work together that really 
shows the value of sport and physical 
activity and lead a shared approach. 

Redefining relationships

We want to work with organisations who share 
our purpose: those who believe what we 
believe and see themselves as playing a role 
in that. They may be within the sport, fitness or 
activity sectors. Many will not be – they may 
be local governments, major employers, 
charities, or commercial businesses. 

Different organisations tell us they value 
different sorts of relationships with us. 
For some, there’s a short term need for 
some support and they want that to be 
easy and quick to access. For others, 
there’s more potential for a longer-term 
relationship, where our organisations agree 
shared goals, and work creatively and 
collaboratively to make them happen. 

The main message we’re hearing is ‘one 
size does not fit all’ and that the processes 
that are involved in partnering with us 
should be more proportionate to the 
purpose of the relationship. 

At the heart of these different sorts of 
relationships are different ideas on what 
people value about working with us. We want 
to understand a lot more about the things 
that our partners and potential partners 
value about working with us, and the sort of 
relationships that would work best for them.

Page 107



14Sport England  Shaping our Future

Support the ecosystem to thrive

The greatest learning from our current 
strategy is that there’s not a silver bullet or 
a single scalable solution to be found to 
make the nation more active. We also know 
that lots of small-scale successful projects, 
even when well-intentioned and well 
designed, don’t add up to change across 
whole communities or the nation. The 
realisation of this is key – because it means 
that success comes from joining things up 
around people and places to make being 
active easier and more enjoyable. 

This means starting our thinking and 
working with the premise of what we want 
to achieve and then exploring all of the 
ways we can influence that – and the other 
people and organisations that would need 
to be involved - rather than all try to go 
about things in parallel.

What we really think this means in 
practice is:

•  Stop working and funding in silos 
– join up within Sport England and 
across government around shared 
priorities, to create a multiplier effect 
rather than duplication of efforts.

•  Grow the expertise and capacity to 
foster collaborative and influential 
relationships – locally and nationally. 

•  Bring together national and local 
perspectives and decisions – 
spotting opportunities to join things 
up to be more effective.

•  Sharing important insight and 
information – spotting the 
patterns that are emerging and 
communicating what we’re seeing 
to shift our collective understanding 
of the issues and opportunities. 

•  Bringing people together - e.g. around 
the big challenges and opportunities. 
Making sure that we bring together 
multiple perspectives, recognising 
different roles and contributions 
(not ‘pigeon holing’ partners). 

•  Learning – without the ability to pass 
on innovation and information, new 
tools don’t really get you that far. 
We need to support the development 
of capabilities and processes to 
generate lessons about what’s 
working, and we’ll catalyse the spread 
of learning across the ecosystem.  

•  Letting go – recognising that 
sometimes there’s a need to lead, 
co-ordinate and administrate, and 
sometimes the best thing to do is let 
go and trust the people we work with 
to do the right things in pursuit of our 
shared goals. 

Page 108



15Sport England  Shaping our Future

We know that most of our partners 
and stakeholders will be in no 
position to hold discussions about 
our longer-term future at a time 
when their focus will be on 
managing immediate challenges.
 
We were planning a series of engagement 
sessions around our future strategy in 
spring 2020. These have been paused.

At the moment we expect to schedule 
conversations and events from July 2020, 
when we and our partners should have 
more of a picture about the new realities 
that we’ll be working with.

This means that the launch of our strategy 
will be postponed until early 2021.

These timescales are of course subject to the 
ongoing situation with the Covid-19 outbreak.  

What comes next?

Page 109



16Sport England  Shaping our Future

If anyone does have feedback now on the 
emerging direction laid out in this framework, 
we would love to hear from you. You can get 
in touch via:
 

How can I 
respond now?

www.sportengland.org/shapingourfuturestrategy

We’ve really tried to keep this document 
easy to read and in plain English. In parts 
we’ve referred to concepts or programmes 
that might not mean much to all readers. 
We’ve defined these here. 

Ecosystem: Organisations who are inter-
dependant to common aims – their choices 
affect each other whether intended or not. 

Social prescribing: The prescription of 
activities by healthcare professionals, 
and other referral services, to people 
experiencing anxiety, stress-related 
symptoms, depression or other mental 
and physical health problems.

Page 110



Sport England
1st Floor
21 Bloomsbury Street
London WC1B 3HF

sportengland.org

May 2020

Page 111



A Behaviour Change Plan

PALSPhysical Activity and Lifestyle Su
pp

or
t 

Page 112



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

2

Introduction 3

What do we know? 4-6

What are the symptoms, issues and barriers? 7-8

The PALS Approach 9-17

Activity to support the PALS behaviour change plan 18-24

Contents

PALSPhysical Activity and Lifestyle Su
pp

or
t 

Page 113



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

3

Changing behaviour to improve  
health and wellbeing
Behaviour is everything that we do and say, 
our actions and thoughts, the conversations 
we have and the choices that we make.  
Behaviours are influenced by many things 
including: our beliefs, our environment, our 
circumstance, our opportunities or lack of 
them…they can become deeply engrained 
habits that inform who we are. 

Our overall health and wellbeing is also 
influenced by many things including: the 
places that we live; the homes that we live 
in; the education, skills and training we 
receive; the employment opportunities that 
are available to us; our access to facilities, 
infrastructure and opportunities that support 
a healthy lifestyle; and when we need it, the 
right care, in the right place, delivered by the 
right people.

Behaviour change therefore, in relation to 
health and wellbeing, is complex and should 
not be underestimated.  Reprogramming 
human behaviour takes time, perseverance, 
and insight into the potential barriers to 
change.  Many actions may be required in 
order for change to occur – often seemingly 
unconnected activities and interventions will 
need to align in order for the ‘conditions’ for 
change to be right.

Actions and interventions that are geared 
towards changing behaviours will inevitably be 
many and varied, so too will be the motivation 
for change.  Some will be more ‘generic’ and 
apply to a wide audience, whilst others will 
have to be more targeted, more personalised 
and perhaps ‘unique’ to an individual. 

By recognising that no single agency, 
organisation or body has all of the answers, 
we have an opportunity to improve the lives 

of those within our communities by working to 
find and provide solutions together.  A mosaic 
of action, activity and intervention that 
complement each other, pieced together to 
produce a complete picture of success.

This plan sets out North East Derbyshire 
District Council’s approach to working with 
partners, organisations and stakeholders to 
change the behaviours within our communities 
in relation to physical activity, changing the 
behaviours particularly of those who are 
inactive and of those who have the greatest 
level of need – often our most vulnerable 
community members.

This plan is a ‘pilot’ programme initially 
focussing on some of the Districts greatest 
areas of need, areas recognised as priority 
communities through the Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD), Active Lives Survey, Public 
Health data and other insight providing 
mechanisms. 

The areas/wards are to be known as the 
Diamond Communities:

• Holmewood and Heath
• Grassmoor
• North Wingfield Central
• Clay Cross North 
• Clay Cross South 
• Shirland 

This ‘pilot’ programme will be developed, 
aligned and integrated fully with other 
innovative programmes including: NEDDC 
Leisure Facilities Investment Programme and 
NEDDC Transformation Programme and in 
particular the development of a major new 
leisure facility development in Clay Cross.

It is envisaged that the successful ‘PILOT’ 
programme will become the blueprint for 
future service planning across the District.

Introduction

Page 114



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

4

Before we attempt to change 
behaviours and find solutions, we need 
to understand what it is we are trying 
to change and what we are trying to 
achieve.  We need to understand the 
audience, the people and their lives, 
the challenges that they face – we need 
to ‘see their lives through their eyes’.  
We also need to understand the scale 
of the challenge, the determinants, the 
symptoms of the current situation and 
the barriers to change.

What do we know about 
physical inactivity?
Physical inactivity is highly prevalent globally.  
It is well documented how physical activity 
improves overall health, fitness and wellbeing 

levels, however what is probably not as well-
known is the impact of ‘physical inactivity’ . 

• Physical inactivity is said to be the fourth 
leading cause of death worldwide.

• In the UK it is reported that 17% of deaths 
are caused by inactivity.

• Only 30% of us are deemed active enough 
for our health.

• Medical experts have said that getting 
people who are inactive – active is one of the 
greatest single interventions which would 
have a dramatic effect on people’s health.

• Physical activity helps tackle the root cause 
of many conditions including; 
• Diabetes
• Cardio vascular disease
• Dementia
• Depression and anxiety
• Arthritis and many more

What do we know?

Page 115



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

5

• It is reported that physical activity increases 
bone density in teenagers which last all of 
their life.

• Physical activity can increase the strength 
and thickness of cartilage and prevent 
deterioration of the joints.

• Physical activity is said to reduce depression 
by 30% and dementia by 40%.

When coupled with other lifestyle and socio-
economic issues, the effects of physical 
inactivity can become compounded and an 
individual’s overall health and wellbeing can 
be affected to an even greater extent.

The importance of physical activity, as 
mentioned previously, is well known and 
understood, yet people remain inactive for 
any number of reasons.  Behavioural change is 
difficult to achieve, however the removal of 
barriers to participation and creating greater 
accessible opportunities to engage in physical 
activity will make this behavioural change 
process much easier.

What do we know about 
North East Derbyshire?
The health of people in North East Derbyshire 
is varied when compared to the England 
average;

• Overall deprivation is lower than the 
England average, however around 2400 
children live in poverty in certain areas of 
the District. 

• Around 17% of Year 6 children are classified 
as obese – this is lower than the average 
for England.  However when we realise that 
these children are condensed into pockets, 
a handful of deprived communities, a 
different perspective can be appreciated.

• Life expectancy for both men and women is 
similar to the England average when viewed 

as a whole district, however life expectancy 
is 8.7 years lower for men and 4.7 years 
lower for women in the most deprived areas 
of North East Derbyshire than in the least 
deprived areas.

• Long term unemployment figures at 5.7% 
are significantly better than the England 
average of 7.1%, yet in some of our more 
deprived areas our figures are significantly 
worse than the the England average.

• Educational attainment is in line with 
the England average yet some of our 
communities are significantly worse, 
particularly with regard to adults with no 
qualifications. 

• In terms of physical activity levels, North 
East Derbyshire District compares almost 
exactly with the national physical activity 
levels, yet we know this is not the case for 
many that live within our most deprived 
areas, those facing the most challenges, 
those in greatest need of support: 

• 65.1% Active 
• 11.4% Fairly active
• 23.5% Inactive

Page 116



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

6

Whilst such ‘district wide’ data is useful to 
have, it can be misleading and provide a false 
sense of security resulting in those who are 
in greatest need of help, being missed and 
unrecognised.

By drilling down further and exploring the data 
at a more focussed, more local level we can 
smarten up our intelligence and awareness – 
we can gain greater insight.  

What do we know about our 
‘Diamond Communities’?
As demonstrated above, the District as whole 
compares relatively favourably or at least on 
a par with the national averages.  When we 
break our District into Lower Super Output 
Areas (LSOA’s) or smaller chunks however, the 
picture presented is far worse for many of 
those within our communities.

Our Diamond Communities find themselves 
ranked in the bottom 20% in the country 
in terms of deprivation – quite startling.  
By taking a closer look, the data changes 
considerably:

• 30%+ Inactive people (5,653) – the highest 
levels in the District, much higher than the 
NED and England averages.

• These communities have 2,740 families 
within them.

• 70% of households suffer from some form of 
deprivation.

• 30%+ are classed as economically inactive – 
unemployed.

• These communities have a higher number of 
single parents than anywhere in the rest of 
the District.

• 29.3% have no car, many of whom 
experience isolation issues.

• These communities have the highest 
childhood obesity levels – much higher than 
NED and England average when measured as 
per head of population.

• These communities also have the highest 
adult obesity rates in the District, also much 
worse than the England average.

• There is a significant issue relating to fuel 
poverty often resulting in the choice of 
whether to ‘heat or eat’.

• Around 15% are lone pensioner households.

• According to Age UK measurement tool – 
these communities have been classed as 
“very high risk” of loneliness for the over 
65’s.

In fact, when measured against a range of 37 
indicators including: People & Place, Housing, 
Community Safety, Economy, Education and 
Health & Wellbeing, these communities are 
classed as ‘significantly worse’ than the 
Derbyshire or national average in around 13 of 
those indicators and falling below the average 
in several others.

Page 117



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

7

Ward analysis shows that within North 
East Derbyshire District there are 
sizeable pockets of deprivation, even 
when the District is considered at 
least on a par with England as a whole.  
But what does this mean?  Does this 
impact upon people’s propensity to 
engage in physical activity?  
Although the benefits of physical activity 
and exercise are widely acknowledged and 
understood in the main, many children, 
adults and the elderly within our Diamond 
Communities remain sedentary.  It is important 
to recognise this and understand why so many 
people remain inactive before solutions  
can be identified.

Through both existing research and NEDDC 
commissioned studies, we know that the 
following barriers to participation exist within 
our Diamond Communities:

• Cost – with so many competing demands 
on household and individual finance, 
participating in physical activity is seen as 
too expensive for many.

• Nobody to participate with – the 
confidence to engage alone is often missing 
– this is a particular issue with those who 
suffer some form of social isolation such as 
the elderly widowed and single parents.

• Lack of confidence – the confidence in 
one’s own ability and the perception of 
what participation will feel like – making 
them feel out of place.

What are the symptoms, 
issues and barriers?

Page 118



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

8

• Lack of motivation and incentive – the 
widespread understanding of the obvious 
benefits is sometimes not enough.

• Leisure centres are too formal – for many, 
a built facility is not the answer.

• Not for them – a lack of understanding of 
what constitutes physical activity with the 
many and varied opportunities to engage 
not being understood.

• A sense of ‘no time’ – not seen as a priority 
when balanced against other things that 
need to be done.

• Programme is not right for them – leisure 
facility programming is aimed at the 
mainstream in the majority of instances – 
this doesn’t fit with everyone’s needs.

• Accessibility (location) - many people do 
not have easy access to transport, this can 
present a significant barrier both in terms of 
cost and time.

• Accessibility (venue) – often it is the 
physical environment that prevents people 
being active, both indoor built facilities and 
access to the outdoors.

• Poor quality facilities and lack of 
cleanliness – poorly maintained or poor 
facility provision puts people off wanting to 
take part.

• Childcare – lack of childcare or the cost 
of childcare is often a determinant that 
prevents people engaging in physical 
activity – particularly single parents.

• Opening hours – availability and access to 
facilities at the right time.

• Lack of awareness – many people are 
simply not aware of the opportunities to 
engage in physical activity.

We are now beginning to understand the 
audience, the people and their lives, the 
challenges that they face – we are beginning 
to ‘see their lives through their eyes’, we are 
beginning to see the clues to what behaviour 
change might look like.  

However - we need to know and understand 
more!

Page 119



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

9

As mentioned previously, our overall 
health and wellbeing is influenced by 
many things spanning many agencies 
and organisations.  A great deal of 
activity does take place resulting in 
a level of success being achieved by 
the various organisations in pursuit 
of an improved level of health and 
wellbeing within our communities – 
yet this activity historically has often 
remained within the ‘span of control’ 
of the given body. 
More recently the need for agencies and 
organisations to work together and for cross 
sector collaboration to solve problems that 
affect us all has become better understood.  
This understanding has resulted in strategic 
collaboration in a number of areas including, 
but not limited to: the Derbyshire Health and 

Wellbeing Board, Place Alliances, One Public 
Estate and the North Derbyshire Transforming 
Communities Group, to name just a few.

The Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support 
(PALS) approach will support the conversion 
of collaborative strategic ambition into 
operational reality.  This is an approach 
that goes further than existing service 
provision which, for some people, is evidently 
ineffective.  

The PALS approach brings together agencies 
and services, gets closer to the individuals, 
in their households and within their lives to 
assess their needs, ‘unpick’ situations, provide 
a consistent ‘wrap around’ support in an effort 
make their lives better by being more active.  

Although some of the approach will be aimed 
at groups of recipients, this programme has a 
very targeted element too – the approach is 
one that considers the individual/household/

The PALS Approach

Page 120



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

10

family situation, encourages ‘inter agency’ 
creative solutions to emerge and coordinates 
a package of agency and community 
interventions.  Through the development of 
a ‘personal plan’, delivered by a familiar, 
friendly and consistent PALS supporter, the 
path to a better, more active and healthier life 
becomes ‘unblocked’.  

It’s more than signposting, it’s about 
supporting!

PALS Coordinator
The role of the PALS Coordinator is one of 
‘joining the dots’.  As mentioned previously, 
there are many agencies and organisations 
working very hard to provide services to 
the people within our communities with the 
aim of improving overall community health 
and wellbeing.  Navigation through what is 
available and the identification of what’s 
missing does often appear to be immersed in 
‘fog’ in the vast cross sector sea of information 
and services.  Signposting has been one way 
of improving cross sector collaboration over 
recent years, yet this approach does have 
limitations. 

If we were to use the analogy of home 
improvements, the PALS Coordinator role is 
more akin to that of an interior designer or 
architect who would understand an individual’s 
preferences, tastes, functional requirements 

and budget…as opposed to the local DIY 
superstore catalogue or directory.  Put simply, 
some people need a more ‘bespoke’ approach 
and someone to help them through the process 
of change, someone to listen, advise, guide 
and support.

The PALS Coordinator is the analyser, the 
identifier, the supporter, the fixer, the hub 
that can connect people’s needs to the 
opportunities available and the catalyst for the 
creation of opportunities that are yet to be 
imagined.  

Behaviour Change Model
The PALS approach recognises that there are 
three key elements when attempting to create 
behaviour change:

• Capability to change.
• Opportunity to change.
• Motivation to change.

Alongside these, there are also five key factors 
that have an impact on the above:

• Age
• Socio-economic
• Disability/condition
• Gender
• Ethnicity

There are many behaviour change models 
and theories in existence, the PALS approach 
uses the Sport England variation of the 
‘Transtheoretical Model’ (also called the 
Stages of Change) to act as a guide for the 
programme.  This model focuses on the 
decision making of the individual and is a 
model of intentional change.  It assumes that 
people do not change behaviours quickly and 
decisively – it can be applied to the change in 
behaviour needed/required for those who are 
currently inactive, to become active.

Page 121



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

11

 

The model suggests that individuals move 

through the various stages of change.  For 
each stage of change different strategies or 
interventions are more effective at moving 
the person to the next stage of change.  It 
must be noted however that an individual may 
not necessarily move through the stages in a 
given order and that going back in stages will 
sometimes occur. 

Recognising the key elements, key factors 
and using the Behaviour Change Model as the 
framework for change, the PALS Coordinator 
will put in place the following process:

• Examine
• Diagnose
• Fix

Not on my radar

Thinking about it

Planning to do soon

Getting started

Sticking with it

Establish the links to what exists already;

• North Derbyshire Transforming  
Communities Group

• Place Alliance
• CCGs and GPs
• Active Derbyshire
• Sport England
• Healthy North East Derbyshire Partnership
• Schools
• CAB
• Local authorities
• DCC Public Health
• DCC Countryside Service
• DCHS
• NHS – outreach clinics, physiotherapy, 

rehabilitative services
• Parish Councils 

Make the connections.

The following are the foundations blocks of insight, collaboration and action into which the 
‘process’ will be anchored, the development of these will be the key areas of focus and 
responsibility for the PALS Coordinator: 

Continued

Page 122



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

12

• Live Life Better Derbyshire
• Octago - Wellness Hubs and Spokes
• Clay Cross Community Police
• Chesterfield College
• School Sports Partnership
• Sports Clubs

Gather, collate and interrogate data from 
sources including but not limited to the 
following:

• IMD
• Active Lives Survey
• Active Children Data
• Public Health Observatory
• Public Health England / DCC
• Market Segmentation / DCC Quilt
• Target Group Intelligence data
• Limiting Illness data
• Thriving Communities data
• Emerging Trends data
• Area Profiles
• DWP
• Benefits
• CAB

Working with partners establish a portfolio 
of resources and tools to support behaviour 
change, including but not limited to:

• Free and discounted access passes and 
memberships to leisure facilities

• Leisure facility programmes
• Disabled access facilities
• Targeted programmes and sessions
• Community based outreach programmes
• Community events listing
• Access to the countryside info
• A guide to physical activity
• Advice and info packs on; benefits advice, 

financial planning and budgeting, housing, 
energy efficiency, fuel poverty, childcare, 
health care etc.

• PALS website and app – see communication 

Create a central repository and mechanism 
for multiple layer local area insight.

Develop the PALS resources and toolkit.

Page 123



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

13

section below
• Useful contacts and links
• PALS supporters and team - benefits pack

Working with key stakeholders in the local 
community to set up a system and referral 
pathway that will come together and connect 
to improve the health and wellbeing of local 
residents in the area.  Working particularly 
closely with GP surgeries to develop a social 
prescription to local provision or   informal 
referral directly to the PALS Coordinator who 
with support of the PALS team will support the 
individual to find the most appropriate activity 
based on their needs.

This will be the starting point, the tool 
that will be used right at the coalface, this 
will form the basis on which the behaviour 
change process will begin, it will include but 
not be limited to the following;

• Analysis of their ‘current’ situation
• Exploration of their ‘desired’ situation
• What does this look like?
• How will this benefit them?
• Understanding the blockers to getting to the 

desired situation
• Providing the support to remove the 

blockers
• Providing a buddy – a problem shared!
• Reframing physical activity – this doesn’t 

need to be formal
• Identifying the opportunities
• Establishing the solutions
• Establishing the steps to take
• Agreeing and maintaining the support

Develop the PALS network and system.

Develop the PALS Personal Plan for Change 
template. 

Page 124



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

14

There will be dedicated PALS supporters that 
will be recruited (volunteers/staff/community 
members/coach core initiative - community 
activators) and trained within the local area, 
their main role being to support local residents 
into taking the first steps into social and 
physical activity within their local community.  
In addition, there will be a further layer of 
penetration through the recruitment of PALS 
messengers – those in the community who have 
an opportunity to ‘spread the word’ – these 
could be the local hairdresser, the butcher, the 
postmaster and other potential advocates.

PALS groups will be created that will support 
individuals into physical activity and social 
activity through a series of ongoing weekly/
monthly sessions. More than just physical 
and social activity, these groups will provide 
support and assistance across a range of 
topics.

Lack of awareness is a barrier to many 
services, a communication plan which is 
designed to promote the PALS approach and 
key messages using an array of mediums will 
be developed to include but not be limited to;

• Web pages
• Free App
• Info packs (hard copy)
• Posters / flyers
• Social media (facebook, twitter, whatsapp) – 

including the use of social media champions 
in the community

• Word of mouth via the PALS supporters, 
team and PALS messengers

Communicating the PALS approach to partners 
and other agencies will also be key and 
fundamental to its success.

Recruit the PALS supporters / team.

Establish the PALS groups.

Communicate the PALS approach.

Identify the audience.

Page 125



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

15

Working with partners, stakeholders and using 
an insight led approach, identify the target 
audience;

• Individuals (adults, children and elderly)
• Families
• Groups
• Areas

Develop a wider ‘generic’ action plan 
associated with each stage of the behaviour 
change model.

Working with the PALS supporters, undertake 
the PALS Personal Plan for Change template 
with those in need of a more ‘bespoke’ 
approach to becoming active.  This will go on 
to inform a personalised behaviour change 
staged action plan for the individual or 
household.

Develop the behaviour change staged action 
plan.

Develop the behaviour change staged action 
plan for individuals/households.

Page 126



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

16

PALS
Coordinator

Central
repository
for insight

Make the
connections

Behaviour
change 

action plan
(personal)

Behaviour
change

action plan
(generic)

Identify
the

audience

PALS
Communication

plan

PALS
groups

PALS
supporters

/ team

PALS
personal

plan
template

PALS
network

and system

PALS
resources
and toolkit

Capability,
Opportunity,
Motivation

Examine,
Diagnose,

Fix

PALS
supporters
and team

•  Dedicated PALS
supporters

•  Volunteers
•  Staff
•  Coach core 

coaches
•  PALS messengers

Make contact

Establish current
situation

Identify the
desired situation

What does
this look like?

Identify the 
blockers

Remove the
blockers

Be a buddy, a PAL

Identify the
opportunities

Identify the
solutions

Identify the
steps to take

Agree ongoing
support

The PALS Approach

Page 127



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

17

PALS
Coordinator

Central
repository
for insight

Make the
connections

Behaviour
change 

action plan
(personal)

Behaviour
change

action plan
(generic)

Identify
the

audience

PALS
Communication

plan

PALS
groups

PALS
supporters

/ team

PALS
personal

plan
template

PALS
network

and system

PALS
resources
and toolkit

Capability,
Opportunity,
Motivation

Examine,
Diagnose,

Fix

PALS
supporters
and team

•  Dedicated PALS
supporters

•  Volunteers
•  Staff
•  Coach core 

coaches
•  PALS messengers

Make contact

Establish current
situation

Identify the
desired situation

What does
this look like?

Identify the 
blockers

Remove the
blockers

Be a buddy, a PAL

Identify the
opportunities

Identify the
solutions

Identify the
steps to take

Agree ongoing
support

Page 128



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

18

Activity to support the PALS behaviour change plan
  Places and Spaces

• The minimum facility mix of the new facility 
should include; 4 court sports hall, 6 lane 
25m pool, learner pool with moveable floor, 
120 station fitness suite, 2 group exercise 
studios, 2 treatment rooms, Café, social 
areas, soft play, floodlit ATP, outdoor play 
equipment.

• The facility programme/services should 
include but not limited to; community 
information point, health checks, 
physiotherapy, sports injury clinic, weight 
management, smoking cessation, provision 
for teenagers, learn something new groups, 
pilates and similar, start and finish for 
running, walking and cycling groups and 
similar, crèche.

• In addition, better connectivity and cross 
migration of indoor/outdoor opportunities 
through better use of outdoor spaces/
pitches adjacent to the facility and the 
opportunity for informal access to a 
‘measured mile’ track around the entire site 
and adjoining open space.

• There is clear cross sector strategic support 
for a new facility with opportunities to 
collaborate in the operational delivery and 
business model. 

• This facility will generate almost 0.5m 
visitors per year.  The opportunities are 
exceptional in terms of ‘cross migration’ of 
customers and their needs – after all we all 
serve the same people.

• The following are all opportunities that are 
being explored; Youth focussed services, 
community safety hub, library, CVS, physio 
therapy, other rehabilitative services, 
midwifery, adult/child services, office and 

New Sharley Park Leisure Centre (SPLC) 
Development.

SPLC Co-location of services.

Page 129



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

19

  Places and Spaces

treatment space and use of the facilities 
and services outside of the clinical setting, 
closer to the community and an access 
opportunity into main stream activity beyond 
the course of treatment – this approach is 
conducive for getting the inactive active 
and tackling some of the issues around 
keeping people healthier and in their homes 
longer as well as helping to tackle the social 
isolation issues that face many within our 
communities.

A strategic steering group is to be established 
to support and inform the new facility 
development at Clay Cross, this may include 
but won’t be limited to the following:

• DCC Public Health
• DCC Countryside Service
• CCG
• DCHS
• NHS – outreach clinics, physiotherapy, 

rehabilitative services
• Parish Councils 
• Active Derbyshire Partnership
• North Derbyshire Transforming Communities 

Group
• Healthy North East Derbyshire Partnership
• One Public Estate
• Live Life Better Derbyshire
• Octago - Wellness Hubs and Spokes
• Clay Cross Community Police
• Chesterfield College
• Local Schools
• School Sports Partnership
• DCC Library service
• Citizens Advice Bureau
• Sports clubs

SPLC Strategic Steering Group.

Page 130



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

20

  Places and Spaces

As part of a recent research project for a 
new leisure facility in Clay Cross conducted 
by Strategic Leisure Limited, we received 
feedback from 400 non-member / inactive 
respondents from within our Diamond 
Communities.  These respondents and the 
fact they responded can therefore be said 
to be in the ‘thinking about it’ stage of the 
behaviour change model.  Their feedback 
provides valuable insight into their needs and 
their barriers to participation – addressing 
their feedback as part of the new facility 
development may well contribute to them 
becoming and staying active.

The formation of a user/non-user steering 
group will take these people closer to future 
participation.

A directory of such places will provide a 
valuable resource for the PALS approach when 
seeking alternative facilities for outreach 
activity of a less formal nature or closer to the 
target audience – often the ‘stepping stones’ to 
main stream activity take up.

Access to the outdoors – network of trails maps, 
measured routes, difficulty level, time taken to 
walk etc.

• Venue
• Location
• Perception 

The development of such packages will support 
the PALS Coordinator to remove some of the 
financial barriers to participation.

SPLC User and Non User Community  
Steering Group.

Satellite facilities and spaces – stepping 
stones to mainstream.

Informal facilities and spaces.

Accessibility Review.

Free and discounted packages.

Fees, Charges and Programming

Page 131



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

21

  Fees, Charges and Programming

The development of such packages will support 
the concept of whole family approach, sharing 
experiences, fun and getting active together.   

Programmes and marketing which is targeted 
at specific groups will be more attractive and 
relevant to a given audience.

• Child
• Adult
• Older People

Programmes and marketing which is targeted 
at specific groups will be more attractive and 
relevant to a given audience.

• Health Referral Scheme
• Social Referral
• Healthy Eating and Cooking programme
• Walking for Health
• Walking into Communities Scheme
• 5:60 programme
• Older Peoples Programme
• Active Fostering Scheme
• Return to Sport
• This Girl Can
• Couch 2 5k
• NEDDC Outreach Programme

Often seen as a ‘gateway’ activity to individual 
behaviour change, masse events are a great 
way to have a go perhaps with others.

• Park Run
• Clay Cross 10k
• Clay Cross Fun Run

Family packages.

Age focussed programme.

Targeted intervention programmes.

Mass participation events programme.

Page 132



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

22

  Fees, Charges and Programming

Working with our NEDDC Healthy Lifestyles 
Team, establish a series of free health checks 
for anyone to drop into – these can sometimes 
be the catalyst for change.  Such sessions could 
also be a gateway to the PALS approach.

Sports development and pathways into clubs is 
not only effective for the person taking part, 
there is also the opportunity to use the sport 
and club structures to improve household 
activity and participation in physical recreation 
and sport.  

The development of a programme which 
focusses on volunteering recruitment and 
training across a range of areas.  Such a 
programme could provide qualifications in the 
following;

• Pool Lifeguard
• Swim Teacher
• Level 1 and 2 Sport Coaching
• Community Sports Leaders Awards
• Group Exercise Instructor
• Health and Fitness Instructor
• Health Referral
• Business Administration
• Reception and Front of House

And others, equipping people with skills for 
the workplace and be ‘work ready’ when 
opportunities appear.  This programme would 
also recruit from the PALS approach.

Free health checks programme - facility and 
community based.  

Sports Development pathways and club 
development.

Volunteer Recruitment and Development 
Programme.

Page 133



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

23

  Insight

• IMD data
• Active Lives data
• Active Lives – Young People data
• Active Derbyshire Insight
• DCC Quilt data
• Target Group Intelligence data
• Limiting Illness data
• Thriving Communities data
• Emerging Trends data

The development of a specific plan aimed at 
younger people will undoubtedly develop our 
level of insight into the younger members 
of our communities and their patterns of 
behaviour, barriers to participation and 
opportunities to improve the situation.

A series of behaviour change workshops days 
involving various key groups with the aim of 
improving our overall insight and encourages 
‘inter agency’ creative solutions to emerge;

• NEDDC leisure team
• Active Derbyshire
• Sport England
• Partners and stakeholders
• External support
• Others

Insight Repository.

Youth Engagement Plan.

Behaviour Change Workshops.

Page 134



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

24

  Strategic Alignment

• Derbyshire Sport - Towards an Active 
Derbyshire 2016 - 2021

• DCC Health and Wellbeing Strategy

• NEDDC Health and Wellbeing Strategy – A 
Healthy North East Derbyshire 2015 - 2019

• NEDDC Corporate Plan

• NEDDC Local Plan

• NEDDC Leisure Business Improvement Plan

• NEDDC Physical Activity Plan – Active North 
East Derbyshire

• NEDDC Leisure Strategy (in development)

• NEDDC Transformation Programme

• NEDDC Carbon Reduction Plan

• NEDDC Leisure Facilities Investment 
Programme

• NEDDC Asset Management Programme

• NEDDC Leisure Marketing Plan

Maximise the potential for strategic overlap 
and benefit that each bring to the other – 
consider fully any strategic actions already 
in existence which could benefit the PALS 
approach.

Page 135



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan 

25

Page 136



Pals - Physical Activity and Lifestyle Support - A Behaviour Change Plan      

26

PALSPhysical Activity and Lifestyle Su
pp

or
t 

Page 137



Page 138



Designed and printed by North East Derbyshire District Council

We speak
your language

Polish
Mówimy Twoim
językiem

French
Nous parlons
votre langue

Spanish
Hablamos su
idioma

Slovak
Rozprávame
Vaším jazykom

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

We speak your language

Polish
Mówimy Twoim językiem

French
Nous parlons votre langue

Spanish
Hablamos su idioma

Slovak
Rozprávame Vaším jazykom

Chinese
我们会说你的语言

If you require
this publication in

large print 
or another format 
please call us on

01246 231111

If you require this publication in

large print or another 
format please call us on 

01246 231111

Page 139



 

 
 

Domestic Abuse Scrutiny Review Action Plan 

Item Recommendation Action Required Who by When by Progress 

Update 23/9/2020 

1.  Consider the appointment of a dedicated 
domestic abuse officer and explore 
opportunities to fund the post to create 
an effective approach to deal with 
domestic abuse within the District. 

 

1) Undertake an 
options appraisal 
taking into account the 
existing resources 
within the County-wide 
Community Safety and 
Domestic Abuse 
Teams including the 
current procurement of 
the County-wide 
Domestic Abuse 
Service provision. 

2) Establish the 
resource and workload 
within Rykneld Homes 
Limited to ensure a 
holistic approach and 
minimise duplication  

 

Karen Hanson 
supported by 
Faye Green  

Complete The Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor (IDVA) Service 
which supports high risk victims 
of domestic abuse, has now 
been recommissioned with the 
contract awarded to Glow and is 
fully live. The service has been 
expanded under this contract to 
cover evenings, weekends and 
bank holidays. 

Recommissioning of the broader 
domestic abuse services has 
taken place with contracts 
awarded in April 2020 at a cost 
of just over £1.36 m pa. The 
Derbyshire Domestic Abuse 
Helpline was awarded The Elm 
Foundation. The support services 
contract for  refuge 
accommodation, community 
outreach and children’s support 
services was  awarded to the 
Derbyshire Domestic Abuse 
Support Services partnership of 
three organisations, with The 
Elm Foundation delivering 
services in North East 
Derbyshire  

Domestic abuse services have 
also successfully bid for 

 

P
age 140

A
genda Item

 6



 

 
 

emergency grant funding issued 
by the Government as a result of 
the Covid pandemic enabling 
them all to enhance their 
services with additional posts for 
outreach workers, children’s 
workers and extended hours for 
the helpline. DCC has 
underwritten these posts until the 
end of December 2021 to help 
them cope with the impact of the 
pandemic.   

2.  Increase awareness both for the public, 
managers and employees of domestic 
abuse and the services available to 
address this issue, including: 

 Effective use of the Councils website 

 Publicity through the Councils 
newspaper 

 Use of literature within the Councils 
establishments 

 

Develop a 
communications 
campaign as follows: 

 

1) A page on domestic 
abuse is already 
available on the 
website but will look to 
develop this further. 

2) Liaise with the 
Community Safety 
department to include 
regular articles in the 
NEWS. 

3) Utilise Extranet to 
raise staff and 
members awareness 
of this. 

4)Work with 
department to provide 

Karen Hanson 
and Scott 
Chambers  

Ongoing 
Communications 
campaigns  

The Communications Team have 
undertaken the development of 
the campaign as outlined. 

There are pages on both the 
NEDDC website regarding 
domestic abuse, with helplines 
and links. 

The Communications Team take 
part in the Safeguarding Adults 
Week highlighting issues of 
domestic abuse, modern slavery 
and equalities. Posts are placed 
on social media and internal 
communications (The Extranet) 

Jointly, both Councils have taken 
part in the White Ribbon 
campaign, ending male violence 
against women. 

Regular updates are provided by 
the Community Safety Team to 
the Communications Team 

P
age 141



 

 
 

more literature on this 
in council buildings 

5)Use social media to 
raise awareness and 
promote services 
available 

where applicable for The NEWS, 
Council website and the Rykneld 
Homes website. 

Posters are also placed on 
Council toilet doors with 
information and signposting to 
appropriate support. 

Involvement in the County wide 
virtual promotion of the 16 days 
of action Nov 25th-Dec10. 

3.  Provide an effective and appropriate 
domestic abuse training programme for 
North East Derbyshire Officers and 
Members 

 

Work with Derbyshire 
County Council to 
ensure effective roll-
out of appropriate 
training on Domestic 
Abuse to staff and 
Members  

Karen Hanson 
supported by 
Faye Green 

Ongoing training 
and Webinars 

The County Council have 
reviewed all Domestic Abuse 
awareness training and a paper 
has been taken to the Domestic 
Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Governance Board outlining the 
options available. These include 
an E-Learning training course as 
well as more classroom-based 
training. A number of training 
options are currently available 
free of charge to those working in 
Derbyshire.  The Police have 
commissioned Safe Lives to 
deliver Domestic Abuse Matters 
to all Officers and have extended 
this offer to partners.  The Safer 
Derbyshire Partnership deliver 
Domestic Abuse Awareness and 
MARAC training on a classroom 
basis and an e-learning package 
is also available.  

As a result of the cancellation of 
classroom training during the 

P
age 142



 

 
 

pandemic DCC have developed 
Domestic Abuse Awareness and 
Domestic Abuse Risk 
Assessment webinars both 
regularly available through 
Derbyshire Learning Online as 
live webinars and the latter as a 
recorded webinar. These have 
been passed to the Comms team 
to promote.  

At North East Derbyshire, 
Members and Officers are 
required to attend safeguarding 
training which contains 
information regarding domestic 
abuse. People Managers are 
given ‘Supporting Employees at 
Work’ training and there is an 
employee assistance programme 
available to all employees.   

In addition, Practice Guidance is 
available on the Safeguarding 
Children’s Board website and will 
soon be available on the 
Safeguarding Adults website. 

4.  Consider the results of the Staff Survey 
on domestic abuse 

 

Analyse the results 
and agree an action 
plan with HR  

 

Karen Hanson 
supported by 
Faye Green and 
Sara Gordon  

Complete Unfortunately, only 24 responses 
were received and have been 
considered. 

5.  Prepare and publish a clear Domestic 
Abuse Policy 

1) Consider the 
refreshed County-wide 
Domestic Abuse Policy 
and consider whether 

Karen Hanson 
supported by 
Faye Green 

Complete with 
ongoing reviews 
when required 

Derbyshire County Council have 
developed and published a 
county-wide Domestic Abuse 
Policy. This is currently under 

P
age 143



 

 
 

a local NEDDC Policy 
is required 

2) Develop a local 
NEDDC policy if 
required  

review and will be republished 
imminently  

In addition, there is a Derby and 
Derbyshire Domestic Abuse and 
Sexual Violence Strategy 2018-
2021.  

A local policy and toolkit has also 
been developed and will be 
provided to the meeting with the 
papers.  

6.  Identify how the portfolio holder can be 
supported in championing the issue of 
domestic abuse 

Discuss the aspirations 
of the Portfolio Holder 
and develop a plan 
including 
communications and 
awareness campaigns  

Karen Hanson 
supported by 
Faye Green 

Complete Following the Local Elections in 
May 2019, Cllr Barry Lewis was 
nominated as the Portfolio 
Holder for Community Safety. 
This has very recently changed 
to Cllr Alan Powell. 

Cllr Powell is the Council’s 
representative at the Safer 
Communities Board and the 
NEDDC Community Safety 
Partnership. 

7.  Review and strengthen the North 
Derbyshire Homelessness Forum 

Meet with Karl Apps to 
consider the impact of 
the Homelessness 
Reduction Act and 
agree the role of the 
Forum  

Karen Hanson 
Karl Apps, 
supported by 
Faye Green 

Complete The DCC Domestic Abuse 
Manager and the Elm Foundation 
both now attend the Derbyshire 
Homeless Forum to discuss 
domestic abuse issues.   

Glow and Probation also attend 
the Homeless Forum. 

8.  Consider how the Revenues Team can 
be supported to spot flags of financial 

Continue to ensure all 
staff have appropriate 
safeguarding training 

Jayne Dethick  Complete and 
ongoing review   

All Revs and Bens staff have 
attended safeguarding training 
which includes spotting the signs 

P
age 144



 

 
 

abuse 

 

and are aware of the 
referral pathways for 
safeguarding and 
domestic abuse 
services  

of financial abuse. Referrals 
regarding potential financial 
abuse have been made in the 
past and staff remain vigilant. 
Training will continue to be an 
ongoing requirement.  

The Revenues Team are very 
conscious of the need to safeguard 
against financial abuse when 
processing housing benefit and 
council tax support claims and 
whenever there is cause for 
concern the team will refer this to 
DCC and then work with their Adult 
Social Care team to provide 
support as appropriate. It is 
however becoming increasingly 
difficult to identify such cases with 
the national move to risk based 
verification of claims as this limits 
the amount of checks we have to 
do such as scrutinising bank 
statements which would 
traditionally have highlighted 
reason for concern. 
 

9.  Ensure that the target hardening and 
sanctuary scheme is adequately funded 

 

1)Review the existing 
Handyman Scheme to 
ensure that it is fit for 
purpose  

2)Derbyshire County 
Council to look at 
current issues in 
relation to service 

1) Karen Hanson 

 

 

2) Christine 
Flinton (DCC) 

Complete The Community Safety Partnership 
offer all victims of domestic abuse 
target hardening which is provided 
free of charge and fitted by 
operatives. There are no issues 
with the continued funding of this 
scheme. 

In addition, DCC provide self-fit 
equipment for use when 

P
age 145



 

 
 

provision appropriate. 

10.  Review the provision of housing, 
homelessness units and refuges in its 
area to help support people experiencing 
domestic abuse 

 

Review the current 
provision of refuge 
space for NEDDC 
residents to ensure it 
is adequate, 
appropriate and 
flexible to meet needs.  

Karen Hanson 
supported by 
Faye Green 

Complete Derbyshire County Council 
currently have a designated 
number of refuge spaces 
available including a male 
refuge. This resource is fit for 
purpose and considered 
adequate by County.  

In addition, the MHCLG grant for 
domestic abuse support including 
accommodation of just under 
£525k has been awarded. The 
Elm Foundation has a proportion 
to enhance their support of 
complex needs in 
accommodation and community 
including move on. (In total, just 
over 700k was awarded for 18 
months delivery. 

11.  Consider the requests from The Elm 
Foundation to reappoint a trustee to their 
board and write to Parish Councils 
regarding availability of rooms the 
organisation could use 

 

1)Consider the request 
to appoint a trustee to 
the Board of the Elm 
Foundation 

2)Request that the 
Partnerships Manager 
review the list of safe 
and appropriate 
meeting spaces with 
Parish Councils  

1)Karen Hanson 
supported by 
Faye Green 

  

31/3/2021 Check again with the Elm 
Foundation regarding the impact 
of Covid 19 and future Board 
Meetings  

12.  Explore ways to work collaboratively with 
other agencies and share best practice 

1)Ongoing through the 
Community Safety 
Partnerships 

Karen Hanson 
supported by 
Faye Green 

Ongoing  The Community Safety Team 
work with the Police, PCSO’s 
and Housing providers to work 
with those who may not fall 

P
age 146



 

 
 

 2)Ensure the DCC 
Domestic and Sexual 
Abuse Governance 
Board report back at a 
local level 

3)Consider requesting 
a place on the DCC 
Domestic and Sexual 
Abuse Governance 
Board  

 

 

Christine Flinton 
– DCC 
Community 
Safety Lead  

within the MARAC process but 
are suffering from domestic 
abuse. These cases are 
considered and discussed at 
weekly TASKING and any 
support (physical or emotional) is 
discussed and appropriate 
referrals are made or 
applications are made for 
enforcements such as 
injunctions/restraining 
orders/non-molestation orders 
are sought.  

 

 

P
age 147



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020        Page 1 of 22 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

_______________________ 
 

Domestic Abuse Policy 
 

_______________________ 
                     
 
 
 
 
 

Draft Version 2.6 August 2020 
             
 
 
 
 
 
    

Page 148



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 2 of 22 

 

                                                             

Domestic Abuse Policy 
 
 

Contents 
 
 
 
 
1. A Clear Response to Domestic Abuse ................................................................. 4 

 
2. Definition of Domestic Abuse ............................................................................... 4 

 
3. Background ............................................................................................................ 6 

 
4. Legislation and Policy Links ................................................................................. 7 

 
5. The Objectives of the Domestic Abuse Policy .................................................... 7 

 
6. A Clear Procedure ................................................................................................. 8 

 
7. Accountability for Domestic Abuse Management .............................................. 8 

 
8. Formal Frameworks ............................................................................................... 8 

8.1. Co-ordinated Action Against Domestic Abuse (CAADA) ................................. 8 

8.2. Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) ................................... 8 

8.3. Derbyshire Constabulary – Domestic Abuse Unit ........................................... 9 

8.4. Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (mappa) .................................. 9 

8.5. Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Governance Board ............................. 9 

8.6. Safeguarding Adults ........................................................................................ 9 

8.7. Safeguarding and Child Protection ................................................................. 9 

 
9. Partnerships ......................................................................................................... 10 

9.1. Database of Support and Counselling Agencies ........................................... 10 

9.2. The Elm Foundation ...................................................................................... 10 

9.3. Police ............................................................................................................ 10 

9.4. Welfare Benefits Agencies ............................................................................ 10 

9.5. Citizens’ Advice and Law Centres................................................................. 11 

9.6. Solicitors and Courts ..................................................................................... 11 

9.7. Probation Services ........................................................................................ 11 

9.8. Adult Social Care .......................................................................................... 11 

9.9. Specialist Domestic Abuse Support Agencies .............................................. 11 

 
10. Raising Awareness of Domestic Abuse ............................................................. 12 

10.1. Understanding Potential Signs .................................................................. 12 

10.2. Non-judgemental Approach ....................................................................... 13 

10.3. Prompt Action and Targets for Responses ................................................ 14 

10.4. Supporting Current Tenants – Neighbourhood Services ........................... 14 

10.5. Other Household Members ........................................................................ 14 

10.6. Contingency Plan ...................................................................................... 15 

10.7. Pre-tenancy Support – Allocations Team .................................................. 15 

10.8. Confidentiality ............................................................................................ 16 

Page 149



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 3 of 22 

 

10.9. Lone Working ............................................................................................ 17 

10.10. Diversity.................................................................................................. 17 

10.11. Rent Arrears ........................................................................................... 17 

10.12. Welfare and Benefits .............................................................................. 17 

10.13. Appropriate Relocation ........................................................................... 18 

10.14. Housing Options ..................................................................................... 18 

10.15. Protection of Vacant Property ................................................................. 18 

10.16. Damage to Property ............................................................................... 19 

 
11. Enforcement Action Against Perpetrators ........................................................ 19 

11.1. Rehabilitation ............................................................................................. 19 

11.2. Obtaining Possession ................................................................................ 19 

11.3. Grounds for Possession ............................................................................ 19 

11.4. Other Legal Remedies ............................................................................... 20 

11.5. Impartial Advice ......................................................................................... 20 

 
12. Contact ................................................................................................................. 20 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 150



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 4 of 22 

 

Domestic Abuse Policy 
 
 
 

1. A Clear Response to Domestic Abuse 

The Council and Rykneld Homes Limited (RHL) have a responsibility to ensure 
residents can live without fear of abuse in or around their home and works in 
partnership with agencies to create sustainable tenancies and build communities 
where everyone is safe in their home.   

This Policy encourages a consistent approach that reflects best practice and sets out 
how we will support survivors of domestic abuse, working collaboratively to enable 
victims and survivors to access a range of housing options, advice, information and 
support.  We will take appropriate action to tackle perpetrators, and raise awareness 
of this issue within the community through promotion of the support services 
available. 

As a housing provider, RHL is well placed to recognise signs of domestic abuse.  It 
is essential that all reports of domestic abuse are taken seriously and we work pro-
actively and positively with the victims/survivor.  People experiencing domestic abuse 
will be treated in a sympathetic, supportive and non-judgemental way.  A victim’s 
disclosure alone is sufficient for them to be given advice and assistance as a matter 
of priority.   

By responding effectively to domestic abuse we are also meeting several other 
priorities; preventing homelessness, child protection, safeguarding adults, poverty 
and inequality, and ensuring that people have safe and secure homes. 

Domestic abuse is a serious crime and we are committed to supporting people, 
regardless of gender or sexual orientation, who find themselves at risk and will work 
in partnership with other agencies to tackle domestic abuse.  

2. Definition of Domestic Abuse 

The current cross-government definition of domestic abuse is:  

Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, 
violence or abuse between those age 16 or over who are, or have been, intimate 
partners or family members regardless of gender or sexuality.  This may include, but 
is not limited to, the following types of abuse: 

 Psychological – controlling behaviour designed to make a person subordinate 
and/or dependent by isolating and manipulating them, criticising, intimidation, 
treating as inferior.  Coercive control displays itself in a pattern of rules, 
consequences and punishment.  Including threats to harm or kill family, friends or 
pets.  

 Physical threats or abuse – this  behaviour may include assault, threats, 
humiliation, abuse or intimidation used to harm, punish, or frighten a victim, can 
include hitting, punching, kicking, slapping, pushing or shoving, cutting or 
stabbing, use of weapons, restraining, strangulation and choking.  Physical 
effects are often in areas of the body that are covered and hidden.  

Page 151



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 5 of 22 

 

 Sexual abuse – may include unwelcome physical contact, threats, and non-
consensual or forced sexual contact, passing on sexually transmitted diseases, 
preventing breastfeeding, threatened or actual sexual abuse of children, rape or 
threat to rape and forced prostitution. 

 Financial control – or economic abuse may involve controlling a person’s access 
to money, welfare benefits, or bank accounts to limit their freedom, running up 
debts in the victim/survivors name, having no say in how the money is spent and 
refusing to allow access to study or work in order to become financially 
independent.  It also impacts on their ability to acquire, use or maintain economic 
resources such as food, clothing, mobile phone, transport, possessions or 
utilities.  

 Emotional – may include acts designed to undermine a person’s confidence and 
self-esteem to control their behaviour.  Making derogatory remarks, making the 
person feel unattractive or calling a person ‘stupid’ or ‘useless’. 

 Family and inter-generational abuse – this differs from partner abuse, for 
example, the perpetrator could be the victim’s child, grandchild, teenage or adult 
sibling.  These can be complex due to family composition and safeguarding 
implications. 

 Discriminatory abuse – may manifest itself like many of the other categories, 
but is motivated by oppressive and discriminatory attitude towards a person’s 
disability, race, religion, age, appearance, gender, sexuality, mental health etc.  

This definition also includes so called ‘honour’ based violence, female genital             
mutilation (FGM) and forced marriage, and is clear that victims are not confined to 
one gender or ethnic group. 

A victim in this context refers to anyone who has experienced domestic abuse and 
violence, and includes children witnessing abuse within the home. 

Survivors may endure a range of abuse for long periods of time and often feel 
ashamed of the situation they find themselves in.  It is quite common for a survivor 
to defend the perpetrator and try to hide or deny any abuse.  It is our duty to 
understand the potential signs of abuse, to explain the support available, offer 
practical help when survivors are ready, and demonstrate full accountability for 
initiating prompt action to assess risks and provide support.  

Often, one or more violent incidents are accompanied by an array of other types of 
abuse.  They are less easily identified, yet establish a pattern of intimidation and 
control in a relationship and we need to be able to recognise this pattern. 

Whatever the type of abuse, the behaviour will have a serious effect on the 
victim/survivor(s) and their children and a substantial adverse effect on their day to 
day activities.  

  

Page 152



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 6 of 22 

 

3. Background 

Domestic abuse is still a largely hidden crime and it is difficult to measure the true 
scale, it happens in all communities, regardless of background or beliefs.   

On average, 2.6 people are killed by a current or former partner every week.  For the 
year ending March 2019, 14% of all crimes reported were flagged as domestic abuse, 
and over 2.4 million adults experienced domestic abuse.  Approximately 90% of 
domestic violence incidents were in family households, children were in the same or 
the next room; and in 50% of known domestic violence cases, children were also 
directly abused.  

Feedback from Police has indicated that a victim will generally have been subjected 
to 50 incidents of abuse before reporting to the Police.  

A coercive and controlling behaviour offence became law in 2015.  Controlling 
behaviour includes a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/or 
dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and 
capabilities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, 
resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour. 

The law helps protect victims by outlawing sustained patterns of behaviour that stop 
short of physical violence, but amount to extreme psychological and emotional 
abuse.  Victims of coercive control can have every aspect of life controlled by their 
partner, often being subjected to daily intimidation and humiliation.  This type of 
abuse is more likely to end in homicide.  

Domestic Abuse violates human rights because it denies survivors their rights, 
including the right not to be treated in an inhuman and degrading way; the right to 
respect for private and family life including the right to physical and psychological 
integrity.  

There are many myths about domestic abuse generally such as “they will be safer 
when they leave”, when in most cases the opposite is the case, a survivor leaving a 
perpetrator is the most dangerous time.  The latest Femicide census found that 55% 
of women killed by their ex-partner or ex-spouse were killed within the first month of 
separation and 19% within the first year.   

There is an expectation that survivors leave their home, rather than the perpetrator, 
but this means that domestic abuse survivors become homeless, forcing them to 
move multiple times, over and above the trauma of abuse, this also has a detrimental 
impact on their children, adding to isolation and loneliness, and the financial hardship 
of building a new life. 

Many survivors are left with significant debt particularly following economic abuse 
which can affect them and their family for many years, these are seen as financial 
penalties which can amount to thousands of pounds and can have an impact on a 
person’s ability to leave the situation. 

Co-ordinated Community Response is required and RHL must work effectively and 
consistently with all departments and with all the other agencies who have 
responsibility to secure the safety of the victim/survivor and their children and hold 
perpetrators to account. 

Page 153



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 7 of 22 

 

4. Legislation and Policy Links 

A range of legislation and policy sets out the powers and responsibilities given to 
agencies and landlords:  

 Domestic Violence, Crime and Victims Act 2004 

 Family Law Act 1996 

 Civil Partnership Act 2004 

 Data Protection Act 2018 

 Equality Act 2010 

 Housing Act 1996  

 Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 

 Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 

 Children Act 2004 

 Adult Safeguarding Policy 

 Child Safeguarding Policy 

 Anti-Social Behaviour Policy 

 Care Act 2014. 
 

5. The Objectives of the Domestic Abuse Policy 

This Policy sets out the key principles that will ensure a consistent approach in 
response to reports or concerns regarding potential domestic abuse, and promotes 
best practice to protect survivors and their children.  Rykneld Homes will:  

 Work within a regional framework to promote joined up case management 

 Promote clear communication between internal colleagues and external support 
agencies 

 Provide employees with training and clear practical guidance to ensure they are 
skilled and confident to handle cases, are alert to the signs of domestic abuse; 
understand the support that is available and the action they must take 

 Set clear targets for prompt action in response to reports of domestic abuse 

 Use clear procedures that prompt full investigation of the circumstances of a case 
and exploration of the options available, supported by accurate records of all 
action taken 

 Provide a clear explanation of the options and choices for survivors, providing 
timely and effective guidance and advice by working with partner agencies 

 Ensure a non-judgemental, survivor centred approach with agreed support plans 
to reduce risks 

 Take appropriate action regarding perpetrators of domestic abuse and refer to 
appropriate agencies where perpetrators recognise and wish to seek help to 
change their behaviour 

 Raise awareness of domestic abuse and the support available 

Page 154



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 8 of 22 

 

 Set clear accountability for effective case management and co-ordination of 
strategic relationships regarding domestic abuse. 

6. A Clear Procedure 

The Domestic Abuse Policy is supported by clear guidance with a procedure that 
identifies the key steps that must be taken:  

 Spotting the signs of domestic abuse 

 Handling an initial report by telephone or in person 

 Initiating an investigation and allocating the Case Officer responsible for case 
management 

 Planning and conducting an interview with a survivor 

 Exploring the options and support available 

 Agreeing a support plan with the survivor 

 Assessing the risk and reporting to Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference 
(MARAC – see below). 

7. Accountability for Domestic Abuse Management 

The Head of Neighbourhoods is the lead officer for domestic abuse and safeguarding 
at RHL, with responsibility for co-ordination of training and delivery of the Policy, for 
promoting effective partnership working with external agencies, and ensuring that 
risks are evaluated and reported through the formal frameworks set out below.  

Everyone at RHL has a responsibility for ensuring that prompt action is taken in 
response to a report of domestic abuse and for initiating a case if a potential risk is 
identified.  

8. Formal Frameworks 

8.1. Co-ordinated Action Against Domestic Abuse (CAADA) 

Is a national Charity supporting a strong multi-agency response to domestic abuse.  
CAADA recommendations for evaluating risks are incorporated into a Domestic 
Abuse, Stalking and Harassment Assessment (DASH), an assessment tool (used by 
MARAC below).   

8.2. Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 

MARAC is a meeting where agencies share information about the risk of serious 
harm, or homicide to people experiencing domestic abuse.  Safety plans are 
developed to support those most at risk.  Combining up to date information with risk 
assessment of victims needs and link directly to appropriate services for all those 
involved in the case, including victim, children and perpetrator.  These promote the 
safety and well-being of adults and children involved and reduce the likelihood of 

Page 155



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 9 of 22 

 

repeat abuse.  Rykneld Homes supports all MARAC meetings in order to co-ordinate 
our work with survivors.  

Referrals to MARAC are sent via various professional bodies, Health Service, Police, 
Education, Social Services and Housing.  A DASH form will be completed in order to 
evaluate the level of risk to the survivor and identify high risk cases of domestic 
abuse, stalking and ‘honour’-based violence. 

The DASH form is an integral part of the Domestic Abuse procedure at RHL and is 
used to ensure referrals are made to MARAC, where appropriate. 

8.3. Derbyshire Constabulary – Domestic Abuse Unit 

Derbyshire Constabulary has developed a Domestic Abuse Action Plan, which takes 
account of good practice recommendations in order to ensure consistent reporting of 
cases through the MARAC system. 

8.4. Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) 

MAPPA are the means by which agencies in Derbyshire work together to protect 
communities from potential serious harm that some offenders may still present after 
being convicted of a crime.  MAPPA is co-ordinated by Derbyshire Constabulary, the 
Probation Services and HM Prison Service. 

Rykneld Homes will co-operate with MAPPA to manage known violent offenders that 
are a risk.  Where appropriate, information will be shared through MAPPA meetings 
and plans agreed based on clear risk assessments provided by the responsible 
Authorities. 

8.5. Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Governance Board 

The Governance Board is co-ordinated by Derbyshire County Council (DCC) and 
exists to bring the activities of various organisations together through a Domestic 
Abuse Strategy for Derby City and the County.  Its purpose is to help Derby and 
Derbyshire be a safer place to live, work and play and to make a positive difference 
for people affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence.    

8.6. Safeguarding Adults 

When dealing with Domestic Abuse cases, RHL will support the safeguarding of 
vulnerable adults by alerting the statutory agencies to any concerns.  We will continue 
to liaise with North East Derbyshire District Council (NEDDC) and DCC to share good 
practice and work together to resolve any specific cases where a joint approach is 
required.  

8.7. Safeguarding and Child Protection 

When working with people experiencing domestic abuse, Officers will be trained to 
also consider the needs of children and evaluate risks. 

Concerns regarding child protection in a domestic abuse case will be passed to the 
appropriate agencies in accordance with the Child Protection procedures and 
Safeguarding Children Policy.  

Page 156



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 10 of 22 

 

9. Partnerships 

9.1. Database of Support and Counselling Agencies 

In order to increase Officer’s awareness of the various agencies and services 
available to support survivors, RHL will maintain a central database within Domestic 
Abuse guidance as a reference point for colleagues as part of case management.  
Rykneld Homes will ensure effective partnership working with partners such as, but 
are not limited to:  

9.2. The Elm Foundation 

This charity, also incorporating Derbyshire Support and Advice for Men, provides 
specialist advice and support to women, men and children who are affected by 
domestic abuse.  North East Derbyshire District Council and RHL have a close 
working relationship with this organisation to enable access to a range of services in 
the County, including refuges, floating support, counselling, art therapy, and 
specialist staff providing a helpline and drop in advice. 

Where appropriate, RHL will liaise with the Housing Options team at NEDDC to 
explore options for rehousing survivors and to facilitate homelessness referrals due 
to fleeing domestic abuse.  Rykneld Homes’ Allocation team will prioritise and assess 
applications from survivors, offering appropriate advice, signposting and support, and 
prioritise applications accordingly following investigation.  

9.3. Police 

All Police stations have a dedicated Domestic Abuse Officer with responsibility for 
co-ordinating support for survivors and taking actions against perpetrators, where 
appropriate.  The Police have the following duties:  

 Must respond to calls for protection 

 Can arrest an aggressive partner with or without the survivor’s agreement 

 Can arrest a person to prevent harm 

 Work in partnership with MARAC to develop support plans 

 Can issuePrevention Notices and follow up with  Prevention Orders (issued via 
Court for 28 days), allowing time for other legal injunction remedies, see Section 
11.4. 

 To focus on early intervention to enable action to be taken in relation to coercive 
and controlling behaviour legislation (Police do not always need a victim 
statement to convict). 

9.4. Welfare Benefits Agencies 

To address uncertainty regarding a victim/survivor’s ability to cope financially, RHL 
will explore their financial circumstances, explain the support that is available and 
agree a plan that enables them to gain financial independence, as appropriate.  

Page 157



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 11 of 22 

 

There may be economic barriers for survivors and support and advice will be needed 
to overcome or resolve these; possibly from professionals in this field, such as 
Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) and Law Centre: 

 Loss of secure tenancy 

 Coerced debts 

 Personal belongings and furniture 

 Liable for rent, former rent, bills and damage to property 

 They may also experience damage to their credit ratings where debts have been 
incurred in their name by someone else. 

9.5. Citizens’ Advice and Law Centres 

Tenants/applicants may need to make important decisions about their tenancy, 
shared assets, access to children and debts.  Rykneld Homes cannot advise 
customers or make decisions on their behalf, but we will always encourage them to 
seek independent legal advice from agencies that are set up to provide this free of 
charge.  

We will always try to set out the various options that are available in relation to the 
tenancy and explain their rights.  

9.6. Solicitors and Courts 

In cases of relationship breakdown, some remedies may only be achieved through a 
decision by a Court such as a non-molestation order, an occupancy order that 
excludes a perpetrator from a property or grants the tenancy to one party, or an order 
in relation to access to children.  

We will explain options that are available for customers to seek advice, and where 
appropriate advise them to seek advice from a Solicitor.  

9.7. Probation Services 

Where a perpetrator is known to have previous convictions, we will work with 
Probation Services in order to share information regarding potential breaches of 
probation conditions.  

9.8. Adult Social Care 

In cases where survivors have existing support plans in place with a social worker, 
we will co-operate with Adult Social Care to agree a joined up approach.  If a case 
requires a referral to Adult Social Care due to welfare concerns, we will refer and 
record this action.  

9.9. Specialist Domestic Abuse Support Agencies 

There is a range of services available to provide support and advice to survivors of 
domestic abuse in Derbyshire.  We will work to develop strong links with all services 
available and ensure that survivors are able to access support when they need it.  
Information about current support services can be found in the Domestic Abuse 
Guidance.  

Page 158



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 12 of 22 

 

10. Raising Awareness of Domestic Abuse 

Rykneld Homes will use a range of marketing tools to promote understanding of 
domestic abuse both with staff and the public.  We will use various media such as 
the internet, Facebook, twitter, posters and leaflets.  Publicity materials will provide 
guidance to survivors on where help is available and the agencies that can provide 
support.  

10.1. Understanding Potential Signs 

Skilled people are essential to an effective domestic abuse service.  Rykneld Homes 
will deliver regular training to everyone who has a duty to take action where domestic 
abuse is suspected or reported. Training will encourage Officers to be alert to the 
signs of abuse.  A survivor may appear frightened of their partner, or wish to avoid 
certain topics when their partner is around as it causes anger.  

 Rent Arrears – a tenant may wish to avoid discussion about rent arrears when 
their partner is at home.  They may not have the money to pay rent as their partner 
withholds the money in the household.  These may be quite innocent but should 
not be overlooked.  We will ensure that awareness is raised within Rent/Income 
teams about this type of abuse in order to identify the signs, so as not to reinforce 
the perpetrators narrative and inadvertently give control to the perpetrator.  
Survivors of domestic abuse are four times more likely to receive an eviction when 
living with a perpetrator. 

 Repairs – domestic abuse can involve physical violence as well as harassment 
and intimidation; this can result in damage to the property.  This could range from 
emergency out of hours repairs requests, damage to doors (including front or 
bathroom) or walls, broken locks and damage to fixtures and fittings.  In some 
cases, victims may be concerned about losing their tenancy and so may not report 
criminal damage.  

Where it is identified at initial repair request that the damage could be resultant 
from domestic abuse the details will be referred to the appropriate Neighbourhood 
team for investigation, it is likely that the repair will be rechargeable and we will 
need to assess whether charges are appropriate and investigate accordingly to 
determine whether support can be provided to the customer.  
 
A sensitive and non-judgemental approach should be taken to prevent any 
escalation of incidents, however, a face to face meeting may be beneficial, and 
possible further visits may prevent domestic abuse from escalation as the 
perpetrator will know that they are being monitored.  

 Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) – residents living with domestic abuse are four 
times more likely to have ASB complaints made against them.  Domestic abuse 
can sometimes be hidden due to ASB issues, such as Police call-outs, neighbour 
concerns and noise nuisance, substance misuse or damage.  In these instances, 
customers may be unlikely to disclose domestic abuse due to potential treatment 
and/or potential loss of tenancy.  Rykneld Homes will respond in a way that 
ensures that victims/survivors are not put at further risk or blamed for the 
perpetrator’s behaviour.  We will never use mediation as a way of resolving 
tenancy issues or complaints relating to ASB where domestic abuse is suspected.   

Page 159



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 13 of 22 

 

 Relationship breakdown – a tenant may be coerced to assign their tenancy 
following a relationship breakdown.  Rykneld Homes will always endeavour to 
explore fully the reasons for wishing to assign their tenancy to a partner.  

 Social exclusion – survivors may be prevented from using phones, (or phone 
calls may be monitored or on speaker when in use), a car or cut off from contact 
with family/friends.  An abuser may act in a way that makes it difficult for RHL to 
speak to customers without the abuser present.  It is important to exercise skill in 
handling these very sensitive situations.  

A survivor may feel that they deserve the abuse because their abuser has 
conditioned them to think it is their fault.  Survivors can feel numb and helpless 
as a result of constant criticism and humiliation.  They may withdraw from 
friendships and contact due to embarrassment at their situation and have low self-
esteem.  

It is important for Officers to be alert to situations that could indicate domestic abuse.  
It is also important to note that disclosure may be made by a third party, e.g. family 
member, friend or neighbour.  In these instances, the Officer should take as much 
information as possible and discuss with a Manager to determine the best course of 
action/investigation.  Officers should also be aware that the third party may also 
require advice and support.  

10.2. Non-judgemental Approach 

Survivors may have endured prolonged abuse resulting in confusion and low self-
esteem.  It may take several attempts before a survivor successfully escapes abuse 
and they can sometimes repeat the cycle with different partners.  It takes enormous 
courage to admit that there is a problem and a need for help.  We may only get one 
chance to help.  If RHL fails to act with sensitivity and empathy, the opportunity may 
never come again.  

WE WILL NEVER:  

 Take a judgmental approach to alleged survivors 

 Make assumptions if a survivor refuses help offered 

 Ask for information that is unreasonable or insensitive during investigation 

 Close a case because the survivor returns to their abuser 

 Make assumptions if a survivor has previously escaped abuse by moving to a 
new address. 

The information gathered during interviews and investigations is the basis for 
decisions in case management and will inform the support plans.  If information is 
limited we will exercise caution in order to protect survivors of abuse.  We will follow 
guidelines and procedures, but not to the detriment of the person. 

Due to fear of repercussions, a survivor may need encouragement to accept support 
and may initially deny a problem.  Case management in domestic abuse requires 
skill and sensitivity to encourage a survivor to accept assistance.  

Page 160



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 14 of 22 

 

10.3. Prompt Action and Targets for Responses 

Any concerns regarding domestic abuse will be passed to the appropriate 
Neighbourhood team for urgent investigation.  If an Officer is not available, the report 
will be passed to the Duty Housing Manager.  Potential domestic abuse will be 
discussed with a Manager and the appropriate course of action to investigate agreed.  
Allocations Officers will investigate housing applications, but may refer transfers to 
the Neighbourhood team for their information, investigation and action in relation to 
tenancy management and support.  

Initial reports of domestic abuse will be responded to within ONE WORKING DAY.  

We will offer immediate advice and arrange a meeting for tenants who contact directly 
by telephone.  If the survivor agrees we will visit within ONE WORKING DAY.  

On initial contact we will provide a brief explanation of the services that are available 
to assist them and advice on the action that they can take. 

Reports of suspected abuse received by third parties will be acted upon within ONE 
WORKING DAY of the report.  

Emails or letters should not be responded to by email as this could expose a survivor 
to risk.  If this is unavoidable, we should send a brief message to arrange direct 
contact.  An appropriate method of communication must be established to ensure 
survivor safety. 

Training will also include correct administration and reporting of the MARAC process 
to ensure that cases are investigated and escalated appropriately based on risk.  

10.4. Supporting Current Tenants – Neighbourhood Services  

The person who identifies a potential risk during a visit to an address or after 
receiving a report will communicate with the appropriate Neighbourhood team, their 
Manager or Community Sustainment Officer/Manager by direct personal contact to 
ensure that action is taken promptly.  

A case will be allocated to the Case Officer through a direct briefing rather than by 
email or voicemail as this could result in delays.  The person initiating the process 
will ensure an audit trail of actions is recorded.  We will be sensitive to the victim/ 
survivor’s needs and ensure that they do not need to repeat their experience to 
different Officers.  A Case Officer (one point of contact) will be appointed, however, 
in some cases it is recognised that this is not always possible.  

10.5. Other Household Members 

All details of other adult members of the household will be established and their      
relationship to the perpetrator.  

Children – we will confirm the details of all the survivor’s children and establish 
whether they are currently living with the survivor and how the situation affects them, 
and whether they are related to the perpetrator, and establish if they have legal 
access which may affect the level of risk.    

Page 161



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 15 of 22 

 

If there is a risk to children, we will evaluate this and report to appropriate agencies 
where necessary.  

Schools – we will work to understand how schools are involved, and with the 
permission of the survivor may contact teachers as part of a co-ordinated response 
to risks. 

Support Network – we will establish the support network that the survivor has via 
family, friends or otherwise, and understand whether these will be incorporated into 
a support plan or could represent a risk.  

10.6. Contingency Plan 

Where appropriate, survivors will be advised to consider a plan in case they need to 
leave at short notice.  It is useful to keep an emergency bag somewhere safe with a 
trusted friend or family: 

 Clothes and toiletries for them and their children 

 A child’s favourite toy 

 Keep a small amount of money available for taxis or transport 

 Keep a mobile phone at hand 

 Some form of identification 

 Money, bankbooks, cheque book, credit and debit cards 

 Keys for house, car, and place of work 

 Cards for payment of Child Benefit and any other welfare benefits 

 Prescribed medication 

 Address book 

 Family photographs, diary, jewellery, small items of sentimental value. 

10.7. Pre-tenancy Support – Allocations Team 

During the assessment and management of housing applications a risk of domestic 
abuse may be identified.  An applicant may cite domestic abuse as a reason for 
needing to move or an Officer may have concerns following a conversation or 
verification visit.   

In every case, the Allocations team will act promptly to arrange to make direct 
personal contact with the applicant to obtain further information and carry out a risk 
assessment with an agreed support plan.  They will closely liaise with agencies that 
are supporting the customer and obtain further information, as necessary, to process 
the application.   

Rykneld Homes will consider housing applications in line with NEDDC’s Allocation 
Policy, process and prioritise applications appropriately.   

In some instances, RHL will be required to work closely with the Council’s Housing 
Options team where a homeless duty has been identified or where a customer owns 
their home and it has been identified that it would be unreasonable for the applicant 
to return to the property.  In this situation, a referral to the Housing Options team for 
advice and assistance will be made, so that investigations can take place around 
other housing options available, including private rented. 

Page 162



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 16 of 22 

 

In cases from owner-occupiers, a confirmation from a Solicitor or support agency will 
be required as follows: 

 Background information relating to the incidents of violence and harassment  

 Level and nature of support being received and from whom. 

Each case will be considered individually in terms of the provision of appropriate 
advice, support and rehousing. 

Where an applicant has been given priority due to being assessed as being at risk 
from domestic abuse, the applicant is restricted to applying for properties a 
reasonable distance from their existing home.  Reasonable distance will be assessed 
in terms of support networks, local services, work and availability of suitable 
alternative properties and access to transport.   

Rykneld Homes will consider the survivor’s preferences for a need to live in a 
particular area.  See ‘Appropriate Relocation’ Section 10.13 and the Domestic Abuse 
guidance for more details. 

In some cases, an urgent transfer could  be required and it may be appropriate for a 
case to be submitted to the Discretionary Housing Panel for consideration.  

10.8. Confidentiality 

Confidentiality is important to protect the survivor’s safety.  It has been found that 
abusers and their wider network will attempt to reconnect with survivors by exploiting 
weaknesses in data protection.  Records will be stored with due regard to the Data 
Protection Act 2018.  No information will be discussed regarding a customer, without 
their express permission.  The only exceptions are cases that require a report to 
MARAC in order to protect survivors from serious harm or homicide, or where 
disclosure to other agencies is necessary to protect a survivor that is a risk to 
themselves or others (for example, a suicide risk or parental neglect).  

We will reassure the survivor that their case will be handled with absolute 
confidentiality.  Explaining how their privacy will be protected by always conducting 
a security check before discussing their case and by having a communication plan 
to ensure that abusers are not inadvertently made aware of a case.  

Rykneld Homes will have due regard to the safety of the survivor at all times and will 
agree a communications plan with them to ensure that they cannot inadvertently be 
placed at further risk due to communication with RHL.  This will include agreement 
for:  

 Safe locations for meetings 

 Correspondence addresses for mail to a safe location 

 Safe email addresses 

 Safe telephone numbers  

 Safe numbers for texting messages. 

Page 163



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 17 of 22 

 

Survivors will be reminded to delete any evidence from their PC or other electronic 
device that could put them in danger as a result of their internet use or 
communication.  

10.9. Lone Working 

Safety will always be paramount.  Rykneld Homes Officers will be trained and 
required to comply with Lone Worker Policy and procedures.  With consideration of 
the potential dangers associated with case management, Officers must take every 
precaution to avoid compromising their own or other’s safety. 

10.10. Diversity 

This Policy has been evaluated using an Equality Impact Assessment.  Rykneld 
Homes recognises the diversity of its community and will take all reasonable steps 
to adapt the service to the needs of survivors and their households: 

 Preference regarding Case Officer – where possible, we will support a 
survivor’s preference for their case to be handled by a male or female officer. 

 Cultural awareness – we will take account of the needs of the different 
communities that we serve and adapt our approach.  For example, in some 
cultures it would be unacceptable for a woman to meet with a male Officer 
unaccompanied.  This may make it more challenging to arrange an interview 
without alerting a possible perpetrator. 

 Language barriers – where English is not the first language of the survivor, RHL 
will arrange for a translation service to be available to facilitate communication. 

 Support networks – if a survivor has an advocate and agrees to their 
involvement in interviews, we will engage with them if we are clear that 
confidentiality is assured. 

 Children – we will not use the children of a survivor to translate on behalf of the 
survivor.  

10.11. Rent Arrears 

Rent arrears will not be an automatic obstacle to a transfer or allocation of 
accommodation as safety is the primary concern in domestic abuse cases. 

However, RHL will, in most cases, require a commitment that arrears will be cleared 
through a payment plan as a condition of a new tenancy being offered.  In cases 
where arrears were clearly the consequence of financial/economic control of a 
survivor by a perpetrator, discretion may be agreed but each case will be evaluated 
upon its merits.  In law, joint tenants are jointly and severally liable for rent arrears 
and RHL will seek repayment from both tenants, where reasonable.  

 

10.12. Welfare and Benefits  

In cases of domestic violence where a tenant flees to temporary accommodation but 
is still liable for rent for their main tenancy, RHL will work with the customer to assist 

Page 164



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 18 of 22 

 

them with any welfare/benefit claim they may have and explore all avenues of support 
relevant to which benefit they may be claiming. 

10.13. Appropriate Relocation 

If a risk assessment dictates that a survivor needs to move to a new location to 
escape from domestic abuse, RHL will consider the survivor’s preferences for a need 
to live in a particular area: 

 To maintain local support networks 

 To enable children to remain in a school 

 To enable the survivor to access the place of work. 

RHL will explore the potential to move to a new property so as to reduce risk and will 
not support a move that is deemed unsafe due to the ability of the perpetrator or their 
associates to reconnect with the survivor taking into consideration the need to live in 
a certain area.  In some cases   a comprehensive safety plan that satisfies MARAC 
in terms of risk management may be required.   

Properties will be offered in order to match the housing need of the household.  If a 
reasonable offer of a property is refused, RHL will re-evaluate the case and 
potentially reduce the priority of housing need.  

10.14. Housing Options  

If the risk does not make it possible for the survivor to remain at their property, RHL 
will advise them on options for a temporary move.  This may be arranged until the 
permanent occupancy of the property has been determined by a Court, enabling 
them to return if they wish.  

If temporary accommodation is necessary we will explore whether they have a place 
of safety that they can stay in the short term such as friends or family.   

Assistance to escape – if a survivor needs to move out urgently to escape an 
immediate and serious risk the Case Officer will assist them, wherever possible, by 
arranging transport and also accompanying them to meet the Housing Options team 
to apply for temporary accommodation. 

10.15. Protection of Vacant Property 

In cases where a tenant leaves their property to live in a Refuge or other temporary 
accommodation, their property may sit empty for a prolonged period.  Rykneld 
Homes will not normally advise a tenant to relinquish their tenancy but in some 
circumstances, where a survivor flees domestic abuse, the property itself can 
become a target.  

In such cases, we may suggest security measures to deter vandalism, burglary or 
illegal occupation.  We will advise the tenant to remove any valuable possessions 
and may support them in terms of temporary storage.  Whilst a tenancy is current the 
tenant will remain liable for the rent due.  

Page 165



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 19 of 22 

 

Due to the cost of rent and storage of possessions a tenant may decide to relinquish their 
tenancy whilst they wait for an offer of a permanent tenancy at a new address.  In such 
cases, RHL will honour our commitment to offer a new tenancy when a suitable property 
becomes available and the tenant will retain the security of tenure of the previous tenancy 
and the associated rights without a break for the purposes of Right to Buy calculations.  
10.16 Damage to Property 

In cases where damage to property occurs, RHL reserves the right to set 
rechargeable repairs against the tenancy.  Where damage is caused by the 
perpetrator of abuse and the survivor, as the tenant, was unable to prevent this, then 
the recharges may be waived.  Refer to the Rechargeable Repair Policy and 
Procedures for more information.  

11. Enforcement Action Against Perpetrators 

11.1. Rehabilitation 

Our priority is the survivor and their needs, but RHL will also consider making 
referrals to relevant agencies that can support a perpetrator where they may also be 
vulnerable due to such things as: 

 Mental Health problems 

 Learning Difficulties 

 Disability 

 Substance Abuse. 

The perpetrator may be signposted to counselling services in order to help them to 
address their behaviour and stop the abuse.  We will not try to change perpetrators 
behaviour nor suggest that they should do so, as this may increase the risk to the 
survivor.  

11.2. Obtaining Possession 

Joint tenants are able to serve a notice to quit on their landlord, independently of the 
other tenant, in order to end a tenancy.  When the notice expires anyone remaining 
at the property becomes an illegal occupier and the landlord can then seek 
possession, as security of tenure is lost.  This approach has been employed by 
landlords to obtain vacant possession for the survivor to return.  It has become 
referred to as a ‘McGrady Notice’ after a Court case.  However, this approach was 
challenged by a perpetrator of domestic abuse who argued that it infringed his right 
to a home under Article 8 of The Human Rights Act.  

We will exercise caution in the use of a Notice to Quit by a survivor and will give 
advice to all parties on their legal rights and signpost to obtain legal advice.  

11.3. Grounds for Possession 

In joint tenancies, as an alternative to the ‘McGrady Notice’, The Housing Act 1988 
and 1996 includes provision for seeking possession against a perpetrator of domestic 
abuse.  In cases where a perpetrator’s abuse causes a survivor to flee, and 
regardless of whether the perpetrator is living at the address, we may seek 
possession on Ground 14A of the Act for assured tenants and Ground 2A for secure 
tenants.  

Page 166



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 20 of 22 

 

11.4. Other Legal Remedies 

Rykneld Homes will advise survivors of domestic abuse on options to restrict a 
perpetrator’s behaviour in order to promote their safety.  Legal action will represent 
a cost but in some cases the survivor may be able to obtain financial support to 
access the legal system.  We will advise survivors on how to obtain legal advice in 
the use of:  

 Injunctions – to prohibit the actions of an abuser, order certain actions or limit 
their access to an area.  These can be applied for with a power of arrest if the 
injunction is breached. 

 Non-Molestation Order – to prevent a perpetrator from using or threatening 
violence against a survivor and their children, or from intimidating, harassing or 
pestering them. 

 Occupation Order – a Court Order that regulates who can live in the family 
home, and can also restrict the abuser from entering the surrounding area. 

 Exclusion Orders – an Order that forces the removal of a person from a home 
where they are considered a danger to a child or parent of a child. 

11.5. Impartial Advice 

Rykneld Homes is responsible for providing impartial advice to all parties regarding 
a tenancy.  In a relationship breakdown where a joint tenancy exists, we will advise 
both tenants of their rights and encourage them to seek independent legal advice 
from a Solicitor, Citizens’ Advice Bureau, Law Centre or other, as appropriate.  

In cases of relationship breakdown, RHL will not arbitrate between partners and if 
agreement is not reached, we will advise both parties that the tenancy must be 
determined by a Court.  

Our first responsibility is the survivor and their children and we will act in their 
interests to reduce the risk of abuse by providing advice on options. 

12. Contact 

Rykneld Homes Ltd  
Pioneer House  
Mill Lane  
Wingerworth  
Derbyshire       S42 6NG     

  
Tel: 01246 217670 

 
______________________ 

  

Page 167



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 21 of 22 

 

Title: Domestic Abuse Policy 

Author(s): 
Neighbourhood Manager 
(Allocations and Service Development) 

Version №: 2.6 

Status – Draft or Final: Draft 

Consulted Parties: Staff  

Consultation Period:  

Date Approved:  

Review Date: 
  August 2023 or unless there are significant 
changes, legislative or otherwise, requiring a 
review earlier than the review date. 

Review to be Carried out by: 
Neighbourhood Manager 
(Allocations and Service Development) 

 

  

Page 168



 

Draft Version 2.6 – August 2020 Page 22 of 22 

 

 

 

Page 169



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020        Page 1 of 32 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

_______________________ 
 

Domestic Abuse Toolkit 
 

_______________________ 
                     
 
 
 
 
 

Draft Version 1.7 September 2020 
             
 
 
 
 
 
    

Page 170



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 2 of 32 

 

                                                             

Domestic Abuse Toolkit 
 
 

Contents 
 
 
 
 
1. Overview ................................................................................................................. 4 

2. Background ............................................................................................................ 4 

3. Definition ................................................................................................................ 5 

4. Coercive and Controlling Behaviour .................................................................... 5 

5. Co-ordinated Community Response .................................................................... 6 

6. Confidentiality ........................................................................................................ 6 

7. Deleting of Evidence/Cookies on Electronic Devices......................................... 6 

8. Spotting the Signs of Domestic Abuse ................................................................ 6 

9. Handling an Initial Report by Telephone or in Person ........................................ 7 

10. Initiating an Investigation and Allocating the Case ............................................ 8 

11. Planning and Conducting an Interview with a Survivor ..................................... 8 

12. The Perpetrator and their Associates ................................................................ 10 

13. Children ................................................................................................................ 10 

14. Schools ................................................................................................................. 10 

15. Survivor’s Support Network ............................................................................... 11 

16. Other Agencies Involved ..................................................................................... 11 

17. Pets ....................................................................................................................... 11 

18. Exploring the Options and Support ................................................................... 11 

19. Eviction ................................................................................................................. 12 

20. Agreeing a Support Plan with the Survivor ....................................................... 13 

21. Assessing the Risk and Reporting to MARAC  (Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference) .................................................................................... 13 

22. Housing Options and Suitable Areas ................................................................. 14 

23. Rent Arrears ......................................................................................................... 15 

Page 171



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 3 of 32 

 

24. Location ................................................................................................................ 15 

25. Legal Remedies ................................................................................................... 15 

26. Civil Injunctions which Housing may decide is appropriate: .......................... 16 

27. Joint Tenancies .................................................................................................... 16 

28. Protection of Vacant Property (extract from Domestic Abuse Policy 
Section 10.13) ....................................................................................................... 17 

29. Partnership Working and Resources ................................................................. 17 

30. Resources – Useful Further Reading ................................................................. 18 

31. Agencies and Websites ....................................................................................... 18 

32. Appendices .......................................................................................................... 20 

 
 
 
 
Appendix 1 ...................................................................................................................... 21 

CAADA-DASH Risk Identification Checklist ........................................................... 21 
 
Appendix 2 ...................................................................................................................... 27 

Severity of Abuse Grid ........................................................................................... 27 
 
Appendix 3 ...................................................................................................................... 29 

Housing Application Risk Assessment ................................................................... 29 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 172



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 4 of 32 

 

Domestic Abuse Toolkit 
 
 
 

1. Overview  

This toolkit has been designed to provide a range of advice, support and resources for 
Officers when dealing with domestic abuse and compliments the Domestic Abuse Policy.    

It is not a complete guide but offers a steer where this is needed to allow Officers to carry 
out their duties in supporting and protecting domestic abuse victims/survivors.  It is 
recognised that Officers want to do their best and do the right thing for customers who are 
affected and this document with providing clarity, support and guidance.   

Using this toolkit will assist in providing a consistent and effective response to those 
vulnerable customers who need our help and support during a difficult time in their life.    

2. Background  

Rykneld Homes (RHL) and NEDDC are well placed to recognise signs of domestic abuse.  
It is essential that all reports are taken seriously, and we work proactively and positively with 
victims/survivors.  We will treat people experiencing domestic abuse in a sympathetic, 
supportive and non-judgemental way.   

In order to provide a good response, it is helpful to recognise some barriers that can prevent 
this from happening: 

 Simplistic thinking about options: default response of pushing victims into homelessness 
rather than keeping victims safe, and/or not taking action against perpetrators 

 Believing myths about domestic abuse and its dynamics 

 Not fully understanding domestic abuse and how coercive control works and how victims 
protect themselves and their children 

 Concern about making matters worse 

 Not wanting to get involved 

 Not listening to survivors about how they can keep themselves safe (they understand a 
perpetrators motives and abusive triggers and actions)  

 Hesitant about making decisions about domestic abuse in case the situation has been 
misjudged  

 Being risk averse – more mindful of the perpetrator’s rights rather than those of the 
victim/survivor 

 Officers not sure how to support victims/survivors correctly  

 Systematic barriers – joint tenancies.  Perpetrators and survivors are treated as a single 
entity. 

Page 173



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 5 of 32 

 

Remember, dealing with domestic abuse is directly linked to the priorities that we face every 
day as a social landlord and a Council:   

 preventing homelessness 

 child protection 

 adult safeguarding 

 tenant safety 

 ensuring our customers feel safe and secure in their home 

 poverty and inequality. 

It is recognised and understood that some Officers may find dealing with domestic abuse or 
a specific type of abuse difficult; in this case they should speak to their line Manager. 

3. Definition  

The current cross-government definition is: 

Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or threatening behaviour, 
violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or have been intimate partners 
or family members regardless of gender or sexuality. 

Types of abuse: 

 Psychological  

 Physical 

 Sexual 

 Emotional 

 Financial/Economic  

 Discriminatory. 

The definition includes honour based, forced marriage and female mutilation. 

4. Coercive and Controlling Behaviour 

Under the Serious Crime Act 2015, coercive and controlling behaviour became a criminal 
offence.  

Controlling behaviour includes a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate 
and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and 
capabilities for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, 
resistance and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour.  Victims of coercive control 
have every aspect of their day to day live controlled by their partner, often being subjected 
to daily intimidation and humiliation which will result in having a serious effect on the 
victim/survivor.  

Police information has revealed that victims are subjected to approximately 50 incidents 
before reporting abuse to the Police.  Coercive control behaviour is more likely to end in 
homicide, according to Police information and statistics.   

The law helps protect victims by outlawing sustained patterns of behaviour.  Police don’t 
always need a victim statement in order to prosecute under this law. 

Page 174



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 6 of 32 

 

Agencies can provide evidence for prosecution, it is therefore vitally important that we follow 
guidelines and record accurately and timely what we see, what we hear and all our actions. 

5. Co-ordinated Community Response 

Rykneld Homes and NEDDC have a responsibility to work effectively within their own teams 
and with other agencies (statutory or voluntary) that also have a responsibility for dealing 
with victims of violence and their children or perpetrators.  This integrated process is known 
as CCR, co-ordinated community response.  

6. Confidentiality  

Any information we receive will be treated in the strictest confidence and in line with the 
Data Protection Act 2018.  We will consider a person’s safety at all times and no information 
will be disclosed or discussed without the persons express permission, except where we 
are required to report a case to MARAC in order to protect a survivor or their children from 
serious harm or homicide, including where there is a risk to themselves or others (suicide 
risk or parental neglect). 

To protect survivors we will carry out security checks before discussing a case with anyone.  
This will include: 

 Checking the communication plan and a survivor’s preferred method of contact before 
making any contact 

 Ensuring that it is convenient and safe to speak to the survivor and that they are able to 
have a conversation with you 

 Organising a safe and private place to hold interviews/discussions about their case 

 Being discreet and not discussing cases openly with other Officers who do not need to 
know about the case.  

7. Deleting of Evidence/Cookies on Electronic Devices 

If someone is worried about covering their tracks online then they need to delete their 
browser and cookies history.  Although clearing their history minimises the chances of 
someone knowing what websites they have visited there are other means of finding out if 
the perpetrator knows how to.  

The safest way for survivors to access sites if they want to be completely sure of not being 
tacked online is to use a computer at a local library, internet café or a friend’s house or at 
work.  

8. Spotting the Signs of Domestic Abuse  

There are signs of potential domestic abuse that we should look out for and investigate, 
such as: 

 Injuries (these can be seen or quite often hidden beneath clothing) 

 Police call outs 

Page 175



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 7 of 32 

 

 Anti-social behaviour 

 Noise nuisance  

 Neighbour complaints/concerns 

 Rent arrears 

 No control over finances and is unable to access money  

 Assignment of tenancy requests where these are to a partner/spouse 

 Behaviour/attitude toward partner or family member – humiliating, degrading, 
intimidating or threatening 

 Survivor moves out of property (with children if there are any) leaving tenancy or property 
empty  

 Spotting a pattern in behaviour. 

9. Handling an Initial Report by Telephone or in Person  

We will offer advice and assistance as a matter of priority.  If a customer reports an incident 
at Pioneer House or at the Council offices, they should be offered a confidential interview 
with an appropriate Officer immediately. 

If an incident is disclosed by a third party the information should be passed to the 
Community Sustainment team or the Community Safety Partnership and appropriate 
Neighbourhood team who will make contact within 24 hours. 

If a report is via a third party and it is deemed appropriate to visit unannounced, we will 
exercise extreme caution as this could place the survivor at risk.  We will only discuss 
concerns about the tenant’s or resident’s safety if it is appropriate to explore.  

It is possible that a third party (family/friend or neighbour) may require support; therefore, 
they should be referred to the appropriate agency/service. 

If an Officer is at a customer’s home when a disclosure is made they should obtain as much 
information as possible, via CAADA DASH form, as long as it is safe to do so.  

If an Operative observes behaviour during the course of their duties that raises concern 
about potential domestic abuse, or coercive or controlling behaviour, (it has been observed 
that perpetrators do not always alter their behaviour in front of Operatives) they should not 
confront the perpetrator, but should contact the appropriate team/Officer about their 
concerns and explain what they have seen/observed or heard the same working day or 
within 24 hours. 

If the potential or alleged perpetrator is present or suspected to be present then the Officer 
will not pursue enquiries at that time regarding any potential domestic abuse, but will refer 
to the relevant Officer/Manager to discuss a suitable way forward and allocate the case to 
an Officer.  

 

Page 176



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 8 of 32 

 

Should the Choice Move team receive a housing application from a current customer of 
RHL they will refer the case to the relevant Neighbourhood team for further investigation 
within 24 hours of receiving the application form.  They will continue to process the 
application within five calendar days. 

Upon receipt of a housing application, Choice Move will aim to triage and assess risk within 
24 hours; they will make contact with the customer within 48 hours and normally process 
the application within five working days. 

Accurate records must be kept at every stage of case management.  Case Officers will use 
prescribed documents to capture details of the investigations and actions taken.  
OpenHousing will capture basic details to alert RHL colleagues and identify the person 
handling the case.  All Officers are required to comply with confidentiality procedures in 
accordance with the Data Protection Policy.  

10. Initiating an Investigation and Allocating the Case  

Domestic abuse cases will normally be handled by one Officer to ensure the survivor does 
not need to repeat their experience multiple times.  The nominated Officer will normally 
remain the customer’s main point of contact in relation to their case to ensure continuity and 
reassurance.  However, it is recognised that this is not always possible.   

The duty Manager will allocate the case to an appropriate Officer depending on availability 
and area cover, complexity of the case and the experience of the Officer.  

The investigating Officer will make contact with the victim/survivor by their preferred contact 
method and arrange to conduct an interview to complete the CAADA-DASH form to assess 
the level of risk and potential referral to MARAC. 

See Section 21 “Assessing the Risk and Reporting to MARAC”. 

11. Planning and Conducting an Interview with a Survivor 

The interview is important to demonstrate our commitment to help survivors of domestic 
abuse.  Interview skills are essential to achieve a positive outcome, gather and provide 
important information and evaluate the level of risk.  

The interviewing Officer must show patience and respect in a very sensitive situation.  A 
survivor may be very scared and unclear on how they can escape the situation they are in.  
There may appear to be a wide range of obstacles, which we need to explore and suggest 
options.  

It is essential to show empathy and use sensitive language to demonstrate understanding. 

Children may be around during a visit but, wherever possible, we will endeavour to conduct 
the interview without them present to avoid unnecessary distress caused by discussion of 
the case.  This also reduces the risk of a breach of confidentiality whereby information could 
be passed to the perpetrator or others.  

All interviews will be carried out sensitively and in a supportive manner: 

 

 

Page 177



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 9 of 32 

 

 Offer suitable interview provisions, including an accessible and private venue 

 Visits and meetings will only take place by agreement with the survivor.  A safe location 
for meetings will be offered to ensure the abuser is not alerted to support the survivor is 
receiving 

 Reassure the person experiencing domestic abuse it is not their fault  

 that confidentiality will be maintained and explain what information, if any, may or will be 
shared  

 Explaining how their privacy will be protected by always conducting a security check 
before discussing their case and by having a communication plan to ensure that abusers 
are not inadvertently made aware of a case 

 Preferred contact method – safe telephone number, email or mailing address 

 Survivors may feel more comfortable and prefer a female Officer to handle their case 
and, where possible, this request will be supported where it does not override safety 

 Believe the person is experiencing domestic abuse 

 Ask open questions  

 Identify the specific circumstances of the case and to clarify all those who are involved 
and their relationship to the survivor 

 We will confirm the details of any other adult household members and establish their 
relationship to the survivor and the perpetrator 

 Discuss contact with the Police and medical services  

 Reassure the person that the responsibility lies with the perpetrator  

 Discuss tenancy rights and any issues they are concerned about, such as property 
damage, rent arrears etc 

 Discuss immediate and future housing options  

 Refer to specialist services (Elm Foundation, CAB, Law Centre etc)  

 Complete the CAADA-DASH Risk Assessment (Appendix 1), if necessary refer to the 
Severity of Abuse Grid (check and balance to support professional judgement) 
Appendix 2 

 It is important to discuss a contingency plan with the survivor in case they need to leave 
at short notice.  It is useful to keep an emergency bag somewhere safe with a trusted 
friend or family: 

 Clothes and toiletries for them and their children 
 A child’s favourite toy 
 Keep a small amount of money available for taxis or transport 
 Keep a mobile phone at hand 

Page 178



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 10 of 32 

 

 Some form of identification 
 Money, bankbooks, cheque book and credit and debit cards 
 Keys for house, car, and place of work 
 Cards for payment of Child Benefit and any other welfare benefits 
 Prescribed medication 
 Address book 
 Family photographs, diary, jewellery, small items of sentimental value. 

The Police and supporting agency(s) will assist the survivor in ensuring recovery of essential 
documents. 

It may be appropriate in some cases to carry out regular (possibly weekly) welfare checks.  
Face to face visits may reduce the severity of abuse as the perpetrator will know they are 
being monitored.  Contact other professionals if you are concerned, it may be necessary to 
pull a potential team together to agree how to monitor and support, this will normally be 
through MARAC if the risk is particularly high.  

12. The Perpetrator and their Associates 

We will sensitively explore the circumstances that the survivor is experiencing.  A 
perpetrator may be living with the survivor or be a former partner or household member.  
The abuse may be caused directly by the perpetrator or indirectly via a network of their 
friends or family on their behalf.  We will work to understand the impact of the survivor’s 
circumstances, understanding that abuse can take many forms as explained in the definition 
above. 

It is important to gather as much information as possible as this could support enforcement 
action to stop the abuse and enable us to fully evaluate the level of risk and action required.  
The accuracy of the information is therefore important, such as names, dates and times of 
incidents and any witnesses or agencies involved.  

We will ascertain the perpetrator’s legal status in terms of their relationship to the survivor 
and regarding the tenancy to determine their security of tenure and right to access the 
property.  

We will not compel the survivor to provide any information that they do not wish to provide.  

We will not challenge the perpetrator or suggest that they change their behaviour.  Report 
to the Police if concerned.  

13. Children  

We will confirm the details of all the survivor’s children and establish whether they are 
currently living with the survivor and how the situation affects them.   If there is any risk to 
children, we will evaluate this and report to appropriate agencies, where necessary.  As part 
of the investigation we will establish the children’s relationship to the perpetrator, whether 
they have legal access and how this affects the level of risk.  

14. Schools 

If there are children we will work to understand how schools are involved, and with the 
permission of the survivor may contact teachers as part of a co-ordinated response to the 
risks.  

Page 179



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 11 of 32 

 

We will consider whether the location of schools is a factor that contributes to risk for the 
survivor, for example, whether the perpetrator could reconnect with the survivor via the 
school if the household was moved to different accommodation.  

15. Survivor’s Support Network 

We will establish the support that the survivor has via family, friends or otherwise, and 
understand whether these will be incorporated into a support plan or could represent a risk.  

16. Other Agencies Involved 

We will establish details of any agencies that are currently involved in supporting the 
survivor and with the survivor’s agreement may collaborate with these agencies in order to 
develop a joined up support plan.  If the survivor does not have an advocate or it would be 
beneficial to engage other support agencies, we will explore this and refer where 
appropriate.  

17. Pets 

Survivors and their children may have strong attachment to family pets.  We will confirm the 
details of any pets, explore any animal welfare issues and consider how pets will be 
managed if a move is necessary for the safety of the household.  We will work with Animal 
Welfare organisations if there is a concern and also to explore rehoming if this is needed to 
assist the survivor.  

18. Exploring the Options and Support  

Remaining in their home – consider supporting survivors to remain in their home and 
taking appropriate action against the perpetrator and hold them to account (see Section 22). 
They may wish to stay at their current address for various reasons:  

 To maintain contact with support networks 

 To avoid disruption for children from changing schools 

 To avoid disruption due to work arrangements 

 They do not want to be forced out by the perpetrator’s actions. 

Target hardening – strengthening security at an existing or future home including window 
locks, dummy cameras, and letterbox plates.  This option will not be suitable if the 
perpetrator still lives at the address or has a legal right to enter the home, or if the survivor 
continues to be at risk in the community.    

Referrals to appropriate agencies – such as Elm Foundation, Adult Care, Community 
Mental Health Team, Derbyshire Domestic Abuse Helpline (see partnership working for a 
comprehensive list) including legal information and advice. 

Temporary safe place/emergency accommodation – this could be at a family or friends 
home, a refuge or emergency accommodation via North East Derbyshire District Council’s 
(NEDDC) Housing Options team.  

Page 180



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 12 of 32 

 

Debts – we will ascertain whether rent arrears or other debts are a concern for the 
household and understand how these affect the survivor’s situation.  Financial control can 
be a significant obstacle to a survivor escaping abuse as they may believe that they cannot 
cope without their partner.  

Rykneld Homes and NEDDC will explain the ways in which Welfare Benefits can be 
accessed to gain financial independence and, if appropriate, make referrals to debt advice 
agencies.  

Rehousing – dependent on the household’s circumstances and the level of risk that the 
perpetrator represents, we will explore housing options.   

The level of risk may be such that the survivor does not feel safe to remain at the current 
property.  We will explore various options and discuss the choices available to them to 
decide if a move is necessary.  Housing options are discussed in more detail below.  

Where rent arrears occur these will not be an obstacle to support a potential move to 
alternative accommodation.  We may require an undertaking by the tenant to reduce the 
arrears through a payment plan either before or after a transfer takes place, this can be 
included in the support plan.  Each case will be considered on its own merits.    

Rykneld Homes and NEDDC will, on occasion, deal with survivors who have been 
supported previously with a move.  We must avoid judgement as to why a person may have 
become a repeat survivor and let the investigation take its course in order to agree the 
appropriate action.  Sometimes in these types of cases coercion and control are prevalent 
and the perpetrator may not be willing to let them go. 

Experience has shown that some household’s may contrive to increase their priority for 
housing through spurious declarations.  This must not be allowed to influence a case or lead 
to assumptions.  If investigation is inconclusive we must make decisions based on the 
balance of probability and never ignore a potential risk. 

Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) referral – 14+ score = high risk 
of violence/homicide.  Follow the assessment of the CAADA-DASH; explain that should the 
risk be high their case will automatically be referred to MARAC.  

MARAC is a multi-agency approach to manage cases of domestic abuse where the 
victim/survivor has been identified as being high risk of serious harm or homicide.  

Monthly meetings bring together representatives from both statutory and voluntary agencies 
with the aim of sharing information and developing a safety plan for victims and their families 
with a view to reducing the risks and the likelihood of repeat victimisation. The survivor does 
not attend the meetings but is represented by an Independent Domestic Violence Advisor 
(IDVA) who speaks on their behalf. 

During exceptional times (such as Covid19 lockdown) these meetings are increased to once 
a week or fortnight and are held remotely.  

19. Eviction 

It may be appropriate to consider evicting the tenant due to a breach of section 4.1 of the 
Tenancy Agreement and allowing the survivor to remain as this may meet their social 
circumstances (support network, allow children to remain at the same school etc).  These 

Page 181



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 13 of 32 

 

cases will need to be considered carefully in consultation with Legal Services to ensure that 
it is the most appropriate and correct course of action.  

In the event that the survivor moves out (joint tenant) and provides a notice to quit (NTQ) 
on the tenancy, the remaining tenant (perpetrator) will be served notice as an unauthorised 
occupier as they will have no security of tenure. 

Depending on the situation of the perpetrator they could apply for rehousing and their 
application would be assessed in line with the Council’s Allocation Policy to determine 
eligibility to go on the Housing Register.  

20. Agreeing a Support Plan with the Survivor 

After understanding the household’s circumstances and needs, RHL/Housing Options at 
NEDDC will explain the different options available and allow them to consider which choice 
is most suitable for them.  The decision rests with the survivor of abuse and we will not take 
action without their confirmed agreement to the support plan.  They may wish to seek 
independent legal advice.  Rykneld Homes/Housing Options cannot advise on what to do 
with the tenancy.  

Once a plan is agreed, the Case Officer is responsible for initiating action to agreed 
timescales and for providing regular updates.  The Case Officer must maintain up to date 
understanding of the survivor’s situation to ensure that the risk has not increased.  Where 
the risk changes this must be addressed promptly and the plan amended accordingly.  

In some circumstances it may be necessary to involve other support agencies.  However, 
the Case Officer will maintain responsibility for ensuring that support is initiated rather than 
passing details to the survivor to progress it independently.   

Signposting to other agencies without our assistance will only be done by explicit agreement 
with the survivor.  For example, by providing a phone number for the National Domestic 
Violence 24-Hour Helpline, so that they have access to counselling services, when they 
need it.  

Any support plan will be recorded electronically using the Support Communications 
log/ECINS, this will detail any agreed actions and be retained confidentially. 

Where housing applications have been received, the Allocations Team will complete a 
Housing Application Risk Assessment (Appendix 3) which has a support plan within it for 
customers who may or may not be RHL customers in order to support their application to 
move to alternative accommodation. 

Consideration should be given to any disability that has implications to the support plan, 
such as the type of accommodation that is required for a move.  Where disability or a health 
issue requires support, RHL will discuss options and if agreed may refer to other agencies.  
For example, if the survivor reports a health concern in relation to the abuse, we may assist 
them in accessing support through their GP or counselling service.  

Review safety/support plans if the abuse is escalating.  

21. Assessing the Risk and Reporting to MARAC  (Multi-Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference)   

Page 182



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 14 of 32 

 

We will take reasonable steps to gather information, such as names and dates, to support 
allegations, and will ask the survivor to share their story and circumstances in relation to 
their household.  We will never assume that a lack of evidence is an indication of low risk.  
The CAADA-DASH will be completed to assess risk (see Appendix 1 which details the 
expectations of information within each question).  A blank form can be downloaded here 
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/marac/domestic-abuse-
and-marac-referrals.aspx or add the webpage to your favourites.  

Upon completion, if the CAADA-DASH score adds up to 14 or more then the case needs 
referring to MARAC.  

All referrals to MARAC need to be completed with as much detail as possible and typed up 
and presented professionally.  Handwritten documents are not accepted.   

If the score falls below 14, but you feel that something indicates that the risk is possibly 
higher than this, then use the ‘Severity of Abuse Grid’ (Appendix 2) to carry out a check 
and balance.  If following this process you still feel that the case is high risk and warrants 
going to MARAC, then use the information in the grid as evidence to support the referral 
based on professional judgement.  For instance:  

Harassment or stalking, the survivor indicates that they are subjected to occasional phone 
calls or texting, but then states that the perpetrator has made threats of suicide/homicide to 
them.   

The occasional phone call or text would indicate that the harassment or stalking element of 
the abuse is low risk; however, the indication of a threat of suicide/homicide indicates high 
risk.   

In the ‘For Consideration by Professional’ section of the form your referral to MARAC 
would be appropriate and justified, but needs to be evidenced that in your professional 
opinion the reason you are referring the case is because of the threat of suicide/homicide.    

For those cases not going to MARAC other options need to be fully explored.   

22. Housing Options and Suitable Areas  

Moving is a huge decision and can mean survivors leaving behind family, friends and 
support networks, employment and children’s schools; it also comes with significant 
financial cost.  All options should be explored including the survivor remaining in their current 
home where it is safe to do so.  Every effort should be made to ensure that the focus is on 
providing a safe environment.  

If the survivor does want to move the Officer should support the survivor to complete a 
housing application to join the Housing Register to move within North East Derbyshire, 
together with any supporting information/evidence to speed up the processing of the 
housing application form.  

In some cases, depending on the level of risk, it may be necessary to consider a direct 
match; this will be carried out through the Discretionary Housing Panel to ensure that all 
decisions are recorded and a full audit available.  

We will also support survivors/victims in applying to other areas where necessary, e.g. 
Bolsover District Council/Chesterfield Borough Council or further afield.  

Page 183

https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/marac/domestic-abuse-and-marac-referrals.aspx
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/marac/domestic-abuse-and-marac-referrals.aspx


 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 15 of 32 

 

23. Rent Arrears 

Rent arrears should never prevent a person experiencing domestic abuse from moving, but 
the debt should not be ignored, therefore, a repayment plan will need to be discussed at the 
time of the application.  The survivor may not be aware of the size of the debt or may not 
be in a position to pay the debt or even begin a repayment plan, sometimes the plan may 
need to begin at a later date if the survivor has been subject to economical abuse and 
consequently not had access to funds.  Flexibility will be exercised and each situation will 
be thoroughly considered before making a decision about rehousing.   

24. Location 

The location of a suitable property needs to be considered thoroughly and discussed with 
the survivor before making a decision on whether an area/location is suitable for rehousing.  

It is expected that a survivor moves a reasonable distance from the perpetrator and his/her 
associates to minimise the risk of further abuse, however, social considerations need to be 
given to a survivor’s situation, their support network, location of children’s schools, local 
services, employment and availability of suitable properties that might affect the suitability 
of their accommodation. 

As previously mentioned, a survivor will know more about an abusers motives and triggers 
than we do and are often best placed to make a decision about the suitability of an area, 
however, we do need to ensure that the survivor is not placed at further significant risk with 
their move, as this will perpetuate the abuse and a possible further move may be required 
to ensure their safety.  

It may be possible for assistance to be given to allow children to remain at the same school 
by offering travel vouchers/taxi.  Liaise with the school representative on individual cases.  

Rent Charges – charging rent in advance of signing up for a tenancy is good practice, but 
can discriminate those survivors who have experienced domestic abuse and who are highly 
likely to have also experienced economical abuse meaning that they have been prevented 
from having access to money, earning and employment.  In some situations it may be 
appropriate for the first full weeks rent to be waived in order to get the survivor to a new 
place of safety.  Each case will be considered on an individual basis.  

25. Legal Remedies  

Rykneld Homes/NEDDC will talk to survivors of domestic abuse on options to restrict a 
perpetrator’s behaviour in order to promote their safety.  Legal action will represent a cost 
but in some cases the survivor may be able to obtain financial support to access the legal 
system.  We will advise survivors on how to obtain legal advice in the use of:  

 Injunctions – to prohibit the actions of an abuser, order certain actions or limit their 
access to an area.  These can be applied for with a power of arrest if the injunction is 
breached 

 Non-Molestation Order – Part 4, Family Law Act 1996 to prevent a perpetrator from using 
or threatening violence against a survivor and their children, or from intimidating, 
harassing or pestering them, the perpetrator can be sentenced if breached 

Page 184



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 16 of 32 

 

 Occupation Order – a Court Order that regulates who can live in the family home, and 
can also restrict the abuser from entering the surrounding area, this doesn’t change the 
tenancy.  It is an immediate short term solution to allow for a longer term remedy  

 Exclusion Orders – an Order that forces the removal of a person from a home where 
they are considered a danger to a child or parent of a child.  Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime 
and Policing Act 2014 (ASB, Crime and Policing Act) can exclude if someone is at 
serious risk of harm 

 Indefinite Restraining Order – this is an Order made by a Court, if there is no date given 
on the Restraining Order, the Restraining Order will become spent two years from the 
date of conviction. If, however, the Restraining Order states that it is ‘unlimited’ or 
‘indefinite’, or is issued ‘until further Order’, then it will never become spent 

 Domestic Violence Prevention Notices (DVPN) – these are served by the Police and are 
an immediate response to prevent further threat/violence for 48 hours to allow enough 
time for the Notice to be presented at Court 

 Domestic Violence Prevention Orders (DVPO) – awarded by the Court following the 
serving of a DVPN.  These last for up to 28 days to allow victims/survivors to put other 
measures in place such as a non-molestation order.  A breach of a DVPO is an offence 
and the perpetrator can receive a sentence.  

26. Civil Injunctions which Housing may decide is appropriate: 

 ASB, Crime and Policing Act 2014 Part 1, ASB – civil injunction if engaged or threatened 
to engage in ASB and has the power to exclude persons from their home 

 ASB, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Part 4 – Closure Order, now extended to ASB.  Can 
be used if tenant or resident is innocent party and others have to leave 

Legal advice needs be sought before proceeding with any of the aforementioned actions. 

27. Joint Tenancies 

Joint tenants are jointly and severally liable for rent, other charges and condition of the 
property.  Only one tenant needs to live there and it doesn’t matter how long ago the other 
person left they will continue to be liable, but also benefit from Right to Buy (RTB). 

Only one tenant needs to give notice on the property for the tenancy to end.  

Neither victim/survivor nor perpetrator should be advised to terminate their tenancy.  

They should be advised to seek independent legal advice.  There may be Family Law 
remedies that will remove the perpetrator from the home or tenancy e.g. assignment of 
tenancy following an order from Court. 

If one tenant leaves due to domestic abuse and NTQ is not received the joint tenancy will 
persist and RHL will need to consider its course of action.  It may decide, as there is 
evidence of domestic abuse, as one party has left because of violence or threats of violence, 
which would equate to a breach of tenancy that seeking possession of the property is an 
appropriate option.  Domestic Abuse is a clear breach of tenancy conditions. 

Page 185



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 17 of 32 

 

Section 4.1 in the NEDDC Tenancy Agreement states:  

“You must not inflict domestic violence, threaten violence or use mental, emotional, financial 
or sexual abuse against your partner, ex-partner, or another member of your family or 
household. Domestic abuse can be considered a good enough reason for eviction, if your 
partner has left as a result of your violent or abusive behaviour.” 

Each case will be assessed individually.  Discuss and liaise with your Manager and/or the 
Community Sustainment Manager prior to taking action to ensure that it is reasonable and 
proportionate.  Also, seek legal advice prior to taking any action.  

28. Protection of Vacant Property (extract from Domestic Abuse 
Policy Section 10.13) 

In cases where a tenant leaves their property to live in a Refuge or other temporary 
accommodation, their property may sit empty for a prolonged period.  Rykneld Homes will 
not normally advise a tenant to relinquish their tenancy but in some circumstances, where 
a survivor flees domestic abuse, the property itself can become a target.  

In such cases, we may suggest security measures to deter vandalism, burglary or illegal 
occupation.  We will advise the tenant to remove any valuable possessions and may support 
them in terms of temporary storage.  Whilst a tenancy is current, the tenant will remain liable 
for the rent due.  

Due to the cost of rent and storage of possessions, a tenant may decide to relinquish their 
tenancy whilst they wait for an offer of a permanent tenancy at a new address.  In such 
cases, RHL will honour our commitment to offer a new tenancy when a suitable property 
becomes available and the tenant will retain the security of tenure of the previous tenancy 
and the associated rights without a break for the purposes of RTB calculations.   

All cases of this nature should be referred to Discretionary Housing Panel for a decision to 
ensure compliance with the Council’s Allocation Scheme.  

Tenancy in perpetrator’s name – a housing application will need to be completed, either 
with or without Officer support.  The duty to provide temporary accommodation lies with 
NEDDC.  It may also be appropriate to refer survivors to special agencies who provide 
refuge accommodation, such as The Elm Foundation.  

Tenancy in the survivor’s name – guidance will be provided on options available.  If the 
person wishes the perpetrator to leave then we will provide support in conjunction with 
partners e.g. Police, Elm Foundation.  Often the request to leave will be met with opposition, 
especially if it is a family home, this may heighten the risk of further abuse. 

29. Partnership Working and Resources  

Digital Tools to help keep people safe DO NOT PUBLICISE.  

There are various tools available to the public that can assist in keeping people safe.  Please 
use links below to see what each app provides: 

 Hollie Guard  –  https://hollieguard.com  

 Bright Sky – designed as a weather app https://www.hestia.org/brightsky.  

Page 186

https://hollieguard.com/
https://www.hestia.org/brightsky


 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 18 of 32 

 

30. Resources – Useful Further Reading 

Domestic Abuse: a good practice guide for social landlords:  
http://www.cih.org/resources/PDF/Scotland%20Policy%20Pdfs/Domestic%20abuse/Dome
stic%20abuse%20guidance%20for%20social%20landlords%20FINAL.pdf 
 
Safe at Home – The case for a response to domestic abuse by housing providers:  
https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Safe%20at%20Home%20Report.pdf 
 
NEDDC Allocation Policy: 
https://www.rykneldhomes.org.uk/about-us/news/new-allocations-policy/ 
 
Derby and Derbyshire Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Strategy 2018-2021: 
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/domestic-abuse-and-
sexual-violence-strategy-2018-2021.pdf 
 

31. Agencies and Websites 

 DAHA – Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance: https://www.dahalliance.org.uk/ 

 Freedom Programme – domestic abuse programmes for men and women: 
https://www.freedomprogramme.co.uk/ 

 Clare’s Law or DVD’s allow Police to disclose to individuals details of their partners’ 
abusive past to enable them to make informed decisions about escaping an abusive 
situation: https://www.gov.uk/government/news/clares-law-to-become-a-national-
scheme 

 The Elm Foundation, Tel. 01246 540464, offering refuge accommodation, community 
services, children and young people services and therapeutic service:  
https://www.theelmfoundation.org.uk 

 ABC Project (Voluntary Perpetrator Programme) – a structured programme for people 
who want to stop their use of violence or abuse towards their current or former partner, 
including heterosexual, transgender and same sex relationships 

 Safelives – UK-wide charity dedicated to ending domestic abuse, for everyone and for 
good: https://safelives.org.uk 

 VAWG – Violence Against Women and Girls: https://www.gov.uk/dfid-research-
outputs/vawg-legislation 

 MARAC – Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference: 
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/marac/domestic-
abuse-and-marac-referrals.aspx 

 MASH – Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hubs 

 National Domestic Violence Helpline – Tel. 0808 2000 247:  
https://www.nationaldahelpline.org.uk 

Page 187

http://www.cih.org/resources/PDF/Scotland%20Policy%20Pdfs/Domestic%20abuse/Domestic%20abuse%20guidance%20for%20social%20landlords%20FINAL.pdf
http://www.cih.org/resources/PDF/Scotland%20Policy%20Pdfs/Domestic%20abuse/Domestic%20abuse%20guidance%20for%20social%20landlords%20FINAL.pdf
https://safelives.org.uk/sites/default/files/resources/Safe%20at%20Home%20Report.pdf
https://www.rykneldhomes.org.uk/about-us/news/new-allocations-policy/
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-strategy-2018-2021.pdf
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/site-elements/documents/pdf/domestic-abuse-and-sexual-violence-strategy-2018-2021.pdf
https://www.dahalliance.org.uk/
https://www.freedomprogramme.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/clares-law-to-become-a-national-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/clares-law-to-become-a-national-scheme
https://www.theelmfoundation.org.uk/
https://safelives.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/dfid-research-outputs/vawg-legislation
https://www.gov.uk/dfid-research-outputs/vawg-legislation
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/marac/domestic-abuse-and-marac-referrals.aspx
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/marac/domestic-abuse-and-marac-referrals.aspx
https://www.nationaldahelpline.org.uk/


 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 19 of 32 

 

 Sexual Assault Referral Centres (SARCs) – Tel.  01773 746 115: 
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/staff-
guidance/adults/sexual-assault-referral-centre/sexual-assault-referral-centre.aspx 

 Derbyshire Domestic Abuse Support Line – Tel. 08000 198 668: 
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/children-and-families/support-for-
families/domestic-abuse/domestic-abuse.aspx 

 IDVA Service – Independent Domestic Violence Advisors: 
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/staff-
guidance/adults/independent-domestic-violence-advisor/independent-domestic-
violence-advisor.aspx   Email: IDVA.service@glow.cjsm.net 

 Hadhari Nari – part of Metropolitan Housing, providing support and advice primarily to 
those with no recourse to public funds who are fleeing abusive partners/or family 
members:  https://www.communitydirectoryderbyshire.org.uk/view/1931/hadhari-nari-
womens-project 

 Womens Aid: https://www.womensaid.org.uk 

 Crimestoppers (for members of the public to report concerns about suspected abuse) 
– Tel.  0800 555 111: https://crimestoppers-uk.org 

 Safe Speak (helpline and counselling for children): https://www.safespeak.org.uk 

 Childline (helpline and counselling for children) – Tel. 0800 1111: 
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/health-and-wellbeing/mental-health-and-
wellbeing/young-peoples-mental-health/young-peoples-mental-health.aspx 

 Derbyshire Rape Crisis: https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/other-services/Rape-and-
sexual-assault-referral-centres/Chesterfield/Results/136/-
1.422/53.235/364/4325?distance=25 

 Samaritans (crisis counselling service) – Tel.116123: https://www.samaritans.org 

 North East Derbyshire District Council Housing Options team – Tel. 01246 231111: 
https://www.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/housing-and-health/homelessness 

 www.gov.uk/domestic-violence-and-abuse (link) 

 Respect offers support to perpetrators and to front line Officers needing support to 
manage perpetrators behaviour – Tel.  0808 8024040: 
https://respectphoneline.org.uk/frontline-workers/   
https://respectphoneline.org.uk/contact-us/ 

 Men’s advice line (victims) – a Tel. 0808 8010327 (free call – calls will not show up on 
your phone bill statement:  https://mensadviceline.org.uk   
Email:  info@mensadviceline.org.uk also provide support and advice to stop abusive 
behaviour 

 Saferderbyshire: https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/search/search-
results.aspx?search_keywords=Domestic%20abuse 

Page 188

https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/staff-guidance/adults/sexual-assault-referral-centre/sexual-assault-referral-centre.aspx
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/staff-guidance/adults/sexual-assault-referral-centre/sexual-assault-referral-centre.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/children-and-families/support-for-families/domestic-abuse/domestic-abuse.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/children-and-families/support-for-families/domestic-abuse/domestic-abuse.aspx
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/staff-guidance/adults/independent-domestic-violence-advisor/independent-domestic-violence-advisor.aspx
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/staff-guidance/adults/independent-domestic-violence-advisor/independent-domestic-violence-advisor.aspx
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/domestic-abuse/staff-guidance/adults/independent-domestic-violence-advisor/independent-domestic-violence-advisor.aspx
mailto:IDVA.service@glow.cjsm.net
https://www.communitydirectoryderbyshire.org.uk/view/1931/hadhari-nari-womens-project
https://www.communitydirectoryderbyshire.org.uk/view/1931/hadhari-nari-womens-project
https://www.womensaid.org.uk/
https://crimestoppers-uk.org/
https://www.safespeak.org.uk/
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/health-and-wellbeing/mental-health-and-wellbeing/young-peoples-mental-health/young-peoples-mental-health.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/health-and-wellbeing/mental-health-and-wellbeing/young-peoples-mental-health/young-peoples-mental-health.aspx
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/other-services/Rape-and-sexual-assault-referral-centres/Chesterfield/Results/136/-1.422/53.235/364/4325?distance=25
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/other-services/Rape-and-sexual-assault-referral-centres/Chesterfield/Results/136/-1.422/53.235/364/4325?distance=25
https://www.nhs.uk/service-search/other-services/Rape-and-sexual-assault-referral-centres/Chesterfield/Results/136/-1.422/53.235/364/4325?distance=25
https://www.samaritans.org/
https://www.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/housing-and-health/homelessness
http://www.gov.uk/domestic-violence-and-abuse
https://respectphoneline.org.uk/frontline-workers/
https://respectphoneline.org.uk/contact-us/
https://mensadviceline.org.uk/
mailto:info@mensadviceline.org.uk
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/search/search-results.aspx?search_keywords=Domestic%20abuse
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/search/search-results.aspx?search_keywords=Domestic%20abuse


 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 20 of 32 

 

 www.core-derbyshire.com (link) 

 Cafcass: https://www.cafcass.gov.uk 

 Public Protection: http://archive.derbyshire.police.uk/Safety-advice/Safeguarding-
adults/MAPPA.aspx 

 Derbyshire Police: https://www.derbyshire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-
information/daa/domestic-abuse/support-helplines/; and    

https://www.derbyshire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/rsa/rape-and-sexual-
assault/support-for-victims-of-rape-and-sexual-assault/ 

 Surviving Economical Abuse – Support for organisations dealing with survivors of 
financial and economic abuse: https://survivingeconomicabuse.org 

32. Appendices  

1. CAADA-DASH – with comments to support comprehensive completion of the 
document and expectations of what information is to be found in each question.  

2. Severity of Abuse Grid – used by IDVA’s, but can be used by us to check and balance 
the risk element, useful when completing the CAADA-DASH.  It helps support 
professional judgement when referring to MARAC.  

3. Housing Application Risk Assessment. 

 

 
______________________ 

 

  

Page 189

http://www.core-derbyshire.com/
https://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://archive.derbyshire.police.uk/Safety-advice/Safeguarding-adults/MAPPA.aspx
http://archive.derbyshire.police.uk/Safety-advice/Safeguarding-adults/MAPPA.aspx
https://www.derbyshire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/daa/domestic-abuse/support-helplines/
https://www.derbyshire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/daa/domestic-abuse/support-helplines/
https://www.derbyshire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/rsa/rape-and-sexual-assault/support-for-victims-of-rape-and-sexual-assault/
https://www.derbyshire.police.uk/advice/advice-and-information/rsa/rape-and-sexual-assault/support-for-victims-of-rape-and-sexual-assault/
https://survivingeconomicabuse.org/


 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 21 of 32 

 

Appendix 1 

 

CAADA-DASH Risk Identification Checklist 

Appendix 1 – page 1 of 6 

  

Page 190



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 22 of 32 

 

Appendix 1 – page 2 of 6 

  

Page 191



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 23 of 32 

 

Appendix 1 – page 3 of 6 

  

Page 192



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 24 of 32 

 

Appendix 1 – page 4 of 6 

  

Page 193



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 25 of 32 

 

Appendix 1 – page 5 of 6 

  

Page 194



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 26 of 32 

 

Appendix 1 – page 6 of 6 

  

Page 195



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 27 of 32 

 

Appendix 2 

 

Severity of Abuse Grid 

 

Page 196



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 28 of 32 

 

 
  

Page 197



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 29 of 32 

 

Appendix 3 

 

Housing Application Risk Assessment 

Appendix 3 – page 1 of 3 

  

Page 198



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 30 of 32 

 

Appendix 3 – page 2 of 3 

  

Page 199



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 31 of 32 

 

Appendix 3 – page 3 of 3 

 

  

Page 200



 

Draft Version 1.7 – September 2020 Page 32 of 32 

 

Title: Domestic Abuse Toolkit 

Author(s): 
Neighbourhood Manager 
(Allocations and Service Development) 

Version №: 1.7 

Status – Draft or Final: Draft 

Consulted Parties:  

Consultation Period:  

Date Approved:  

Review Date:   September 2023 

Review to be Carried out by: 
Neighbourhood Manager 
(Allocations and Service Development) 

 

Page 201



 v4 Mar 2018 

  

DERBY AND DERBYSHIRE 

DOMESTIC ABUSE AND SEXUAL 

VIOLENCE STRATEGY 

2018-2021 

                                                    P
age 202



2 
 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Who is this document for? Anyone with an interest in reducing domestic 

abuse and sexual violence.  It sets out our shared ambitions for Derby and 

Derbyshire and what we plan to do.  It has been developed by organisations 

that come together to better co-ordinate how we tackle domestic violence 

and abuse and sexual violence across the city and county. 

It is intended as a resource document for anyone working within the 

Partnership to help organisations understand their role and commitment.  It is 

also aimed at those outside the Partnership who wish to know more about 

how the co-operation arrangements for domestic abuse and sexual violence 

work in Derby and Derbyshire.  

The Strategy was produced by Derbyshire County Council and Derby City 

Council on behalf of the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Governance 

Board, in partnership with statutory, third and private sector organisations 

working together throughout Derbyshire. 

P
age 203



2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Contents Page 

Foreword  3 

Our Strategic Response 4 

Why do we work together? 5 

Definitions used in this document 6 

Our 2015-2018 Strategy: Support Provision 7 

What service users said     8 

What are the influences?   9 

What do we know about Derby and Derbyshire? 10 

Who is most at risk from becoming a victim 11 

What are our key risks and threats 12 

What services do we offer in Derby and Derbyshire 13/14 

 Appendix A:  Our governance structure   15 

 Appendix B:  What can I do?  Takeaway Strategy to pull out and pin up 16 

  

P
age 204



3 

Foreword  

From the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW), 
for the year ending March 2016 it is estimated that 1.3 
million women and 716,000 men experienced domestic 
abuse in the last year. 77 women and 28 men were killed 
by a partner or ex-partner. Overall, 26% of women and 
14% of men had experienced domestic abuse since the 
age of 16, equivalent to an estimated 4.3 million female 
and 2.2 million male victims.  
  

Derby and Derbyshire figures are also stark, in 2016-2017 
recorded crimes flagged as domestic abuse accounted for 
around one in eight crimes (12%) - a steady increase since 
2006-2007 when it was one in every twenty six crimes 
(3.8%). We have also seen a 14% increase in recorded 
sex offences,  over a quarter of which (27%) related to 
offences that took place more than 12 months before being 
reported. 

While we must see this positively, with victims having more 
confidence to come forward, there remains international 
recognition that domestic abuse and sexual violence are 
under-reported. We are still only seeing the tip of the 
iceberg.  

This abuse weaves a web through many of our big social 
issues - child abuse, drug and alcohol addiction, 
prostitution, human trafficking, sexual exploitation and 
slavery.  It is a cyclical pattern of power which victims  

 

 

experience as escalating control over themselves and their 
lives.  While it can happen to anyone, all current evidence 
still shows that the greater proportion of abuse is 
perpetrated by men against women.  Furthermore crimes 
committed in the name of ‘honour’, such as forced 
marriage and female genital mutilation, are also clearly 
domestic abuse.  

This strategy sets out our partnership commitment to work 
collaboratively towards a shared ambition and objectives.  
We have already made good progress in our first joint 
strategy but we need to build on this despite the 
challenges of rising incident numbers and significantly 
reducing budgets.   

Domestic abuse and sexual violence are not 
acceptable and everyone in Derby and Derbyshire can 
make a commitment to challenging it and supporting 
victims. We invite you to join us. 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
Cllr Martin Repton       Cllr Carol Hart, Chair    Hardyal Dhindsa 
Cabinet Member          Derbyshire Safer           Police and Crime  
for Integrated Health  Communities Board      Commissioner for  
and Care, Derby City                                              Derbyshire  
Council  
 

P
age 205



4 

Our ambition for Derby and Derbyshire is that everyone can live safe lives, without the threat or 
experience of domestic abuse or sexual violence because it is not tolerated by our residents or 

our organisations 

 

Our strategic response  

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 We have identified three main outcomes: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 
 
 

People 

PREVENTION - engaging and raising 

awareness with victims, perpetrators, 

professionals and communities to 

identify and prevent domestic abuse 

and sexual violence  

PROVISION - meet the needs of victims 

by providing high quality and 

consistent services at a local level on a 

risk based approach 

 

PROTECTION - victims of domestic 

abuse and sexual violence are 

protected  

P
age 206



5 

Why do we work together?  

 

Our purpose:  Helping to make Derby and Derbyshire a safer place to live, work and play! 

We love our city and our county.  We share a passion to make a positive difference for people affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence.  
We are determined to gain acceptance across all our communities that this type of abuse should not and will not be tolerated.  We firmly 
believe that working together towards these ambitions will increase our individual efforts and have a bigger impact.   

 

Our aim:  To be seen as the best partnership in the country and to be recognised as the biggest single contributor to positive social change. 

 

We believe in: 

 Collaboration:    Two heads are always better than one, in fact the more the merrier! 

 Being responsible:  We take 100% responsibility both individually and collectively 

 Relishing difference:  We encourage and enjoy our different perspectives and use them to find different solutions  

 Being fair:   We seek to understand each other, acknowledge differences and be clear about what is possible for each partner 

 Having humility:   We are serious but we don’t take ourselves too seriously 

 Being positive:    We have a can do attitude 

 

How do we work? 

Whether we are working with clients, service users, professionals, community members or partners we always strive to: 

 Put those affected by domestic abuse and sexual violence and their voice at the centre of our work 
 ‘Think family’ as set out by our Adult and Children Safeguarding Boards 
 Be clear and open 
 Foster mutual trust and respect 
 Agree and work together towards shared goals and values 
 Keep up regular communication  

 

Our commitment  

Our members work tirelessly within their organisations to solve one of society’s toughest challenges.  Our partnership consolidates and co-
ordinates those amazing efforts.  This is not always easy to achieve but we know that only together can we accomplish something remarkable. 

 

P
age 207



6 

Definitions used in this document 

 

Domestic abuse is defined as: 

"Any incident or pattern of incidents of controlling, coercive or 
threatening behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or 
over who are or have been intimate partners or family members 
regardless of gender or sexuality. This can encompass but is not 
limited to the following types of abuse: 

 psychological 

 physical 

 sexual 

 financial 

 emotional 

Controlling behaviour is: a range of acts designed to make a person 
subordinate and/or dependent by isolating them from sources of 
support, exploiting their resources and capacities for personal gain, 
depriving them of the means needed for independence, resistance 
and escape and regulating their everyday behaviour. 

Coercive behaviour is: an act or a pattern of acts of assault, threats, 
humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, 
punish, or frighten their victim.”* 

 *  This definition includes so called ‘honour’ based violence, 
female genital mutilation (FGM) and forced marriage and is clear that 
victims are not confined to one gender or ethnic group. 

 

 

 

 

 

Sexual Violence can be defined as: 

“Any behaviour perceived to be of a sexual nature which is unwanted 
and takes place without consent or understanding.” 

This includes: 

 Rape 

 Sexual Assault 

NB: Throughout the strategy we refer to victims of domestic abuse. 
The term victim in this context refers to anyone who has experienced 
domestic abuse, including witnesses, e.g. children witnessing 
domestic abuse within the home. 

 
Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conference or MARAC 
This is a meeting of agencies who can have an impact on the safety 
of a high risk victim.  MARACs combine up to date information with 
risk assessment of a victims needs and link those directly to the 
provision of appropriate services for all those involved in a case: 
victim, children and perpetrator.  They seek to: 

 share information to increase the safety, health and well-being of 
victims – adults and children 

 determine whether the perpetrator poses a significant risk to any 
particular individual or the general community 

 construct jointly and implement a risk management plan that 
reduces the risk of harm where possible 

 reduce repeat victimisation 

 improve agency accountability 

 improve support for all staff involved in high risk cases 

 

P
age 208



7 

Our 2015-2018 Strategy:  Support Provision (average per year) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 209



8 

What our service users said 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

“I know what abuse is now and I would walk 

away straight away. I don’t want to give up what 

I’ve got now!”   

Crossroads client 

“Before the group she didn’t even have the 

confidence to walk to school by herself. Now 

she is much more confident and independent 

and she’s got a new group of friends at 

school”  

Mum of child supported by the Children’s 

Service. 

“Just want to say that everyone has 

been supportive and helpful to my 

children and I. The Elm Foundation is a 

very important point of contact for all 

who suffer domestic abuse.”    Client of 

the Elm Foundation 

 

I would have been lost and 

on my own without this 

team. 

Derby City IDVA Team 

With coming to counselling and speaking 

to you, I feel much stronger. 

SV2 

Very encouraging and 

supportive, I felt heard 

and listened to with 

empathy and 

understanding, not 

judged, accepted. 

SAIL 

The City IDVA service is so 

amazing and without this, I 

don't know how I would 

have coped with my 

situation.  Having someone 

listen to and believe me 

was by far the most 

important thing, as it made 

me feel that yes there is 

someone on my side. That 

was the first time I ever felt 

like that and it was a real 
turning point. 

“Thank you for everything, and thank you for standing by me 

and supporting me when I didn’t even want to support myself.” 

Client of The Elm Foundation 

 

P
age 210



9 

 

What are the influences? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Home Office published its updated Violence Against 
Women and Girls (VAWG) Strategy in March 2016, focusing 

on the need for early intervention and prevention of the 
social, economic and intergenerational harm brought about 
by domestic abuse, sexual abuse, female genital mutilation, 

modern slavery and forced marriage. 
Under the Serious Crime Act 2015, coercive and controlling 

behaviour is now a criminal offence, meaning perpetrators 

can be prosecuted even if no violence has ever occurred. 

 

Domestic and sexual abuse is a complex issue, with 

many different strands to it.  As such, many partners 

have a role to play in keeping people safe, and 

providing information and support to enable everyone 

to make informed choices.  In particular, we note the 

involvement within this work stream of the adult and 

children’s safeguarding boards that sit across 

Derbyshire and Derby City, and we will endeavour to 

inform and support them in our joint work.  We strive 

to work proactively with any organisation sharing our 

aims to manage these work streams 

The commissioning responsibility for Sexual Assault 
Referral Centres (SARCs) is now led by the 10 area teams 
for NHS England Health and Justice, supporting 44 SARCs 

across England. Derbyshire’s SARC was recommissioned in 
2017 with a new contract beginning on 1st April 2018 to 

reflect another year on year increase investment in SARCs 
by NHS England to reflect an increase in demand.  Whilst 

NHS England has the lead commissioning responsibility for 
SARCs, this is reliant upon a co-commissioning relationship 

between NHS England, Police Forces and Police & Crime 
Commissioners, Clinical Commissioning Groups and Local 

Authorities to ensure the continued existence of care 
pathways for victims and referrals at a time of crisis 

support. 

 

P
age 211



10 

What do we know about Derby and Derbyshire? 

From the March 2011 Census data the population Derbyshire was 769,686 and 248,700 in Derby.  There are high density towns and villages 
alongside isolated rural communities and farms.  There is a large diversity of cultures and there are marked differences in affluence and 
deprivation across the city and county. In 2016/17 there were: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 212



11 

Who is most at risk from becoming a victim? 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Gender – Women are around twice as likely to have 
experienced domestic violence and abuse as men. 

 

Age – The prevalence of domestic abuse and of 
sexual violence is highest amongst younger age 
groups and decreases with age. 

 

Health – It is estimated that a person with a long term 
illness or disability is more likely to be a victim of 
domestic abuse. Risks increase where drug and alcohol 
misuse is a feature of the relationship. 

 

Finance -  Prevalence is greater in households with 
lower incomes and in more deprived areas, particularly 
for single adults with a child or children. 

 

Sexual Orientation – Half of all gay and bisexual men 
have experienced at least one incident of domestic  
abuse since the age of 16, a much higher proportion 
than for heterosexual men. A quarter of lesbians and 
bisexual women have experienced domestic abuse in 
a relationship, similar to that for heterosexual women. 
Four out of every five LGB men and women who have 
experienced abuse have never reported incidents to 
the Police. 

 

Impact on children and young people - Lifelong 
detrimental outcomes are often seen in those who 
witness and experience abuse .  Safe, stable and 
nurturing relationships with parents/carers can be 
lacking, as well as support to develop life skills that give 
positive ways to cope 

Ethnic origin – It is estimated that there is little 
variation in the prevalence of domestic abuse and of 
sexual violence within BME communities. Some BME 
communities, however, may have cultural and social 
factors that increase the risk of domestic abuse, 
particularly ‘honour’ based abuse and forced marriage. 
There is a more diverse population in Derby City 
where 19.7% of the population are from BME 
communities, compared to just 2.5% in the rest of the 
county. 

P
age 213



12 

 

What are our key risks and threats? 

 

 

Prevention 

 Young people’s attitude towards and understanding of Consent  

 Information sharing between agencies and between sectors 

 Society’s attitude to domestic and sexual abuse 

 Improvement of engagement of GPs in MARAC processes 

 E-safety particularly relating to harassment, stalking, tracking 
and child sexual exploitation 

 Breaching new General Data Protection Regulations and the 
impact on organisational reputation 

 Understanding emerging risk areas including: 
o Young people’s understanding of healthy relationships 
o Ever increasing use of social media 
o Child sexual exploitation 
o Cultural attitudes regarding domestic abuse and sexual 

violence 

 

Protection 

 Young people’s unmonitored access to harmful material and 
gaming via social media 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provision 

 The potential for ongoing austerity to impact on funding and 
commissioning for support services 

 Limited provision of refuge and accommodation services 

 Lack of funding/services for perpetrators of domestic abuse in 
Derby City (not court mandated) 

 Lack of non-court mandated rehabilitation programmes for 
perpetrators of sexual abuse 

 Ongoing increases in the reporting of historical sexual abuse   
requiring long-term support 

  Increased numbers both reporting and referral and capacity 

 

 

 

 

How we intend to address these risks and threats will be 
detailed in our accompanying Delivery/Action Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 214



13 

 

What services do we offer in Derby and Derbyshire 

 

Domestic Abuse Services in Derbyshire County consist briefly 
of the following: 

Derbyshire Domestic Abuse Support Line 08000 198 668 - A single 
point of contact for the whole county providing free and confidential 
advice and support for those experiencing all forms of domestic 
abuse, for their friends and families seeking advice and professionals 
seeking guidance in supporting clients.  This line operates 08:00- 
18:00 Monday to Friday, Call Derbyshire takes calls out of hours, 
weekends and bank holidays. 

Derbyshire Domestic Abuse Support Services - A consortia of 
domestic abuse service providers offering a range of locally based 
services available for women, men and children experiencing 
domestic abuse including: 

• Accommodation - a combination of communal refuge spaces 
and supported dispersed properties available to those fleeing 
domestic abuse situations. 

• Outreach – Support offered in the community including on-
going needs and risk assessment, safety planning, advocacy and 
emotional support 

• Self Esteem and Confidence building programmes – e.g. 
Freedom Programme or similar. 

• Children’s Workers – supporting children and young people 
affected by domestic abuse 

• Counselling/ therapeutic services – including art therapy, 
mental health support work etc. 

 

 

 

 

 

• Voluntary Perpetrator Programme – The Abusive Behavioural 
Change (ABC) project is a twenty six week programme, for male 
partners of female victims of domestic abuse who wish to address 
their behaviour group sessions are available. Programmes are also 
available for female perpetrators and those in same sex 
relationships, delivered as one to one sessions. This is only available 
to perpetrators for whom there is no police case ongoing and 
includes ongoing risk assessment and support for the victim at the 
same time. Support for the victims in these relationships is also 
provided as part of the programme. 

 

IDVA Service – Independent Domestic Violence Advisors work with 
female and male victims assessed as being at high risk of homicide 
or serious harm from domestic abuse, they work with them at the 
point of crisis and constantly assess the level of risk. They discuss 
options with the victim and develop a safety plan, arrange delivery of 
alarms by the Handyvan scheme and home fire safety checks by the 
fire service. They attend the Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference on behalf of the victim representing their voice and 
feeding back to them, they oversee the action plan which emerges 
from this meeting to reduce the risk. Once the risk has been reduced 
they will refer them into other services to continue the support of the 
victim. 

 

 

P
age 215



14 

 

 

 

 

What services do we offer in Derby and Derbyshire 

 

Domestic Abuse Services in Derby City consist briefly of the 
following: 

• IDVA team for those identified as being at high risk of serious 
harm or homicide as already described with funding secured until 
March 2019.  

• Refuge – commissioned to provide emergency refuge 
accommodation and the outreach service to standard and medium 
risk victims in the city as already described 

• Hadhari Nari – part of Metropolitan Housing, providing support 
and advice primarily to those with no recourse to public funds who 
are fleeing abusive partners and/or family members – this is a 
developing service and close links are being built with the IDVA and 
Refuge teams 

• Freedom Programme – delivered by a number of teams and 
organisations across the city, including in children's centres 

• Women's Work – offer a wide range of support for women in 
the city with complex needs, including those affected by drug and 
alcohol misuse, those who offend or who are at risk of offending, 
those exploited by prostitution and those fleeing domestic abuse 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provision of services for victims of sexual violence include: 

 Adult Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC) (crisis worker 
support, forensic medical examination and advice line) 
provided by SV2. The delivery aim of the SARCs is to provide 
clients with:- 

 Acute healthcare and support in age-appropriate 
settings; 

 Comprehensive forensic medical examination; 
 Follow up services which address the client’s 

medical, psychological, social and ongoing needs; 
 Direct access or referral to Independent Sexual 

Violence Advisor (ISVA) 

 Access to Regional Paediatric SARC from 1.4.2018 based in 
Nottingham 

 Follow on support from Adult and Children Independent 
Sexual Violence Advisors provided by SV2 

 Therapy services for adults and children provided by SV2 and 
SAIL 

 CORE support for victims of non-penetrative sexual offences 
provided by SV2 

 Children’s ISVA & keyworker support services for victims of 
Child Sexual Exploitation provided by Safe & Sound 

 

 

 

  

. 

P
age 216



15 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Governance Structure              Appendix A 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Domestic  Abuse and Sexual Violence Governance Board (3 times a year) 

 Set overall direction through establishment of a city and county strategic plan  

 Governance of multi-agency arrangements (MARAC/SARC) 

 High level decision making  

 Review of risks 

 Performance - exception reporting and Equality analysis 

 Budgetary control where appropriate 

 Identify funding streams 

 Deal with escalated issues and removing barriers 

Derby Safer 

Communities 

Executive 

Derbyshire 

Criminal Justice 

Board 

Derbyshire Safer 

Communities 

Board 

MARAC: Multi-Agency 
Risk Assessment 

Conference   

DSAAGs (Domestic and Sexual Abuse Action 
Groups)  

 Develop and deliver action plan 

 Identify issues and resolve or escalate  

 Conduct case reviews 

 Ensure quality service delivery and identify gaps 

 Delivery of new policies and procedures 

Derby and Derbyshire 

Adults and Children 

Safeguarding Boards  

Challenge and scrutiny of the strategy 

and multi-agency arrangements 

Links to other strategies/plans 
 

 Derby and Derbyshire Safeguarding 
Children’s Board Business plans 

 Derby and Derbyshire Safeguarding 
Adults Board Business plans 

 Derbyshire Constabulary HMIC Action 
Plan 

 Derby and Derbyshire Forced Marriage, 
Honour Based Violence and Female 
Genital Mutilation Action Plan 

 Derby and Derbyshire Safeguarding 
Children Boards Child Sexual 
Exploitation Strategy  

 Derbyshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Policing Plan 

 ACPO National DV Action Plan 

 HMIC Everyone's business: Improving 
the police response to domestic abuse 

DSAAG Chairs Group (quarterly) 

• Development and implementation of a joint city/county delivery plan. 

• Raise awareness of local initiatives and campaigns taking place within Derby and 

Derbyshire.  

• Provide advice and guidance to the Domestic and Sexual Abuse Action Groups 

(DSAAGs) and deal appropriately with issues escalated from DSAAGs. 

• Escalate issues to the Governance Board on an appropriate basis. 

P
age 217



16 

 

Pull out and pin up  - -  - -  - -  - -  - -  - -  - - - -  - -  - - - -  - - - -  - -   Appendix B 

  

Our ambition for 

Derby and 

Derbyshire is 

that everyone 

can live safe 

lives, without 

the threat or 

experience of 

domestic abuse 

or sexual 

violence, 

because it is not 

tolerated by our 

residents or our 

organisations 

What can I do? 

 Ask if your organisation has an employee policy for domestic violence and 

abuse and sexual violence 

 Find out more about this area yourself 

 Make links with your local support services  

 Display publicity and information and pin up this page! 

 Run a session to raise awareness  

 Talk about DVA/ SV in your organisation or with your local community groups  

 Join in local and national events: white ribbon day, candlelit vigils, women's day 

 Raise funds for your local charity or voluntary organisation 

 Challenge language particularly those that place blame on the victim 

Useful sources of information  

A Derby and Derbyshire Working Guide to dealing with Domestic 

Abuse and Sexual Violence is on both:  

www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/ 

www.derby.gov.uk/community-and-living/crime-prevention/domestic-

abuse/ 

National websites  

http://respect.uk.net/                http://safelives.org.uk 

www.womensaid.org.uk/                         www.core-derbyshire.com 

www.gov.uk/domestic-violence-and-abuse  

 

  

Useful contacts 

In an emergency call 

999 

Derbyshire's 24/7 helpline 

08000 198 668 

National 24/7 helpline 

 0808 2000 247 

Victim Support Helpline 0808 

1689 111  

P
age 218

http://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/
http://www.derby.gov.uk/community-and-living/crime-prevention/domestic-abuse/
http://www.derby.gov.uk/community-and-living/crime-prevention/domestic-abuse/
http://respect.uk.net/
http://safelives.org.uk/
http://www.womensaid.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/domestic-violence-and-abuse


17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 219



Controlled  

1 
 

The Domestic Abuse Bill – Briefing Note  

Headline  Pertinent Points 

Create a statutory 
definition of domestic 
abuse, emphasising 
that domestic abuse is 
not just physical 
violence, but can also 
be emotional, coercive 
or controlling, and 
economic abuse 

 Will be based on existing cross government definition.  

 Proposed that age 16 will remain unchanged – so as not to blur 
lines between domestic abuse and child abuse. 

 ‘Personally connected’ being added  

 Economic Abuse replacing Financial proposed 

 Recognising children as victims (not witnesses) likely. 
 

Establish a Domestic 
Abuse Commissioner 
(DAC), to stand up for 
victims and survivors, 
raise public 
awareness, monitor 
the response of local 
authorities, the justice 
system and other 
statutory agencies and 
hold them to account 
in tackling domestic 
abuse 

The DAC has been appointed – Nicole Jacobs, her role will; 

 Provide public leadership on DA issues, play key role in 
overseeing/monitoring provision of DA services in England and 
Wales. 

 Be tasked with encouraging good practice in prevention, 
identifying victims, perps of DA, as well as children affected by 
DA. Improve the protection and provision of support to those 
affected. 

 Map and monitor provision of services, make recommendations 
to public bodies about their response, carry out research, work 
jointly with public authorities and vol. orgs, raise public 
awareness of DA. 

 Consider both specialist DA services as well as how mainstream 
services identify and respond to victims. 

 Have the power to publish reports and lay them before 
Parliament – hold local commissioners, statutory agencies and 
central government to account and can make recommendations 
on how they can improve their response.  Specified public bodies 
will have a duty to cooperate with the Commissioner – require to 
respond to each recommendation made to them within 56 days. 

Provide for a new 
Domestic Abuse 
Protection Notice and 
Domestic Abuse 
Protection Order 

These are a significant change and will likely be subject to a two year 
pilot. 
 
 

Place a duty on local 
authorities in England 
to provide support to 
victims of domestic 
abuse and their 
children in refuges and 
other safe 
accommodation 

 

The Bill will put in place a 4 part statutory framework for the delivery 
of support to victims of domestic abuse and their children in safe 
accommodation and provide clarity over governance and 
accountability: 
1. Place a duty on each tier one local authority in England (county 

and unitary councils (other than London Boroughs), the Greater 
London Authority and the Isles of Scilly Council) to appoint a 
multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board which it 
will consult as it performs certain specified functions. These are 
to: 

 assess the need for accommodation-based domestic abuse 
support for all victims in their area, including those who 
require cross-border support 

 develop and publish a strategy for the provision of such 
support to cover their locality, having regard to the need’s 
assessment 

Page 220



Controlled  

2 
 

 give effect to the strategy (through commissioning / de-
commissioning decisions) 

 monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the strategy 

 report back to central government 
2. Require local authorities to have regard to statutory guidance in 

exercising their functions. 
3. Require the Secretary of State to produce statutory guidance, 

having consulted the Domestic Abuse Commissioner, local 
authorities and such other persons as considered appropriate. 

4. Require tier two councils (district or borough councils, and 
London Boroughs) to co-operate with the lead local authority, so 
far as is reasonably practicable. 

 
 

Prohibit perpetrators 
of abuse from cross-
examining their 
victims in person in 
the family courts in 
England and Wales 

 

The Government plans to; 

 Prohibit perpetrators and alleged perpetrators of abuse from 
cross-examining their victims in person in the family court 
proceedings (and vice versa) in England and Wales. 

 Give the family court the power to prohibit cross-examination in 
person in certain other circumstances. 

 Give the family court the power to appoint a public-funded 
advocate to carry out the cross-examination where necessary. 
Guidance will be issued about the scope and nature of that role. 

Create a statutory 
presumption that 
victims of domestic 
abuse are eligible for 
special measures in 
the criminal courts (for 
example, to enable 
them to give evidence 
via a video link) 

This will require a review of the impact on existing special measures 
processes and guidance. 
 

Enable domestic 
abuse offenders to be 
subject to polygraph 
testing as a condition 
of their licence 
following their release 
from custody 

 

Polygraph testing condition of licence following release from custody. 
 
The Government will commence a 3 year pilot of mandatory 
polygraph examinations on domestic abuse perpetrators released on 
licence identified as being at high risk of causing serious harm. A 3 
year pilot will provide sufficient time to build up the necessary 
numbers of released offenders to conduct a robust evaluation. 
 
The Government will commission an independent body to evaluate 
the pilot and roll out a national project of mandatory testing, subject 
to a positive evaluation. 
 
The pilot will be focused on high risk DA perpetrators. The legislation 
will require those who meet the eligibility criteria to take the test 3 
months post release from custody and every 6 months after, unless 
the test is failed.  
 
Pilot will cover approx. 600 offenders in two NPS areas. (300 tested 
and 300 comparison untested group). 

Place the guidance 
supporting the 
Domestic Violence 

DVDS will be made statutory - This will place a duty on the police to 
have regard to the guidance and will strengthen the visibility and 
consistent operation of the scheme.  

Page 221



Controlled  

3 
 

Disclosure Scheme 
(DVDS or “Clare’s 
law”) on a statutory 
footing 

 

It doesn’t change the legal basis for the scheme, but places a duty 
on the police to have regard to the guidance. 
 
Objecdtive of this change - To make sure that the scheme is used 
and applied consistently across all police forces and will help 
increase the number of applications. Expect this therefore to be a 
focus of Inspection. 

Ensure that where a 
local authority, for 
reasons connected 
with domestic abuse, 
grants a new secure 
tenancy to a social 
tenant who had or has 
a secure lifetime or 
assured tenancy (other 
than an assured 
shorthold tenancy) this 
must be a secure 
lifetime tenancy 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-
2020-factsheets/secure-tenancies-and-victims-of-domestic-abuse-
factsheet  
The Bill will require local authorities, when re-housing an existing 
lifetime social tenant, or offering them a new sole tenancy in their 
own home, to grant a new lifetime tenancy if the local authority is 
satisfied that the tenant or a member of their household has been a 
victim of domestic abuse and the new tenancy is granted in 
connection with that abuse. 
 

Extend the 
extraterritorial 
jurisdiction of the 
criminal courts in 
England and Wales, 
Scotland and Northern 
Ireland to further 
violent and sexual 
offences 

The Bill will extend the jurisdiction of the courts: 
 in England and Wales to relevant offences committed outside the 

UK by a UK national or a person habitually resident in England or 
Wales 

 in Northern Ireland to relevant offences committed outside the 
UK by a UK national or a person habitually resident in Northern 
Ireland 

 in Scotland to relevant offences committed outside the UK by a 
UK national or a person habitually resident in Scotland 

 
The government’s response to the domestic abuse consultation set out 123 commitments to 
help tackle domestic abuse. The majority of these commitments do not require legislation.  
The non-statutory commitments include: 
 

 Introducing regulations and statutory guidance on Relationship Education, Relationship 
and Sex Education, and Health Education.  
 

 Investing in domestic abuse training for responding agencies and professionals.  

 Developing national guidance for police on serial and repeat perpetrators. 

 Improving awareness and understanding of coercive control offence and review 
effectiveness of offence  

 Continuing to develop means to collect, report and track domestic abuse data 

Page 222

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-factsheets/secure-tenancies-and-victims-of-domestic-abuse-factsheet
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-factsheets/secure-tenancies-and-victims-of-domestic-abuse-factsheet
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-bill-2020-factsheets/secure-tenancies-and-victims-of-domestic-abuse-factsheet


 
 
 

Forward Plan of Executive Decisions for the period 15 August 2020 – 15 
September 2020 

 
This Forward Plan sets out all of the decisions that are expected to be taken over the next four months by either: (i) The Cabinet, or (ii) an officer on 
an Executive function of the Council. 
 
Some of the decisions listed in this plan are ‘Key Decisions’. A Key Decision is one that is likely to: 
 

(a) Result in the Council spending or receiving income of over £100,000 revenue or £250,000 capital, or 
(b) Have a significant impact on two or more wards in the Council’s area. 

 
At least 28 calendar days’ notice must be given before they are due to be taken by the Cabinet or an officer under delegated powers.  
 
The Cabinet can make urgent decisions which do not appear in the Forward Plan. A notice will be published at the District Council Offices and on the 
Council’s website explaining the reasons for the urgent decisions.  Please note that the decision dates are indicative and are subject to change.   
 
The Forward Plan also lists those ‘Exempt’ Decisions which are going to be taken over the next four months. Exempt Decisions are those decisions 
which have to be taken in private. This is because they involve confidential or exempt information which cannot be shared with the public.

P
age 223

A
genda Item

 8



The contact details for the officers or senior employees responsible for producing the reports and reports for these decisions are included in the plan. 
Please contact them if you would like more information. If you have any queries about why something is a Key Decision or is going to be taken in 
private then please contact the Governance Team  on 01246 217391 or email: alan.maher@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk. 
 
Published under the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 

 
Sarah Sternberg: Joint Head of Corporate Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 
Published on:  15 August 2020 

 
 

 
Cabinet members and their responsibilities  
 
Member 
 
Councillor A Dale 
Councillor C Cupit 
Councillor M Foster 
Councillor J Kenyon 
Councillor P Parkin 
Councillor A Powell 
Councillor C Renwick                                              

Portfolio of responsibilities 
 
Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Overall Strategic Leadership 
Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for Environment 
Portfolio Holder for Council Services 
Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Transformation and Climate Change 
Portfolio Holder for Finance 
Portfolio Holder for Housing, Communities and Communications 
Portfolio Holder for Economic Growth 

 
 

P
age 224



DECISION TO BE TAKEN 
 

DECISION-
MAKER 

DATE OF 
DECISION 

KEY DECISION EXEMPT DECISION 
(INCLUDING 
GROUNDS FOR 
EXEMPTION) 

RESPONSIBLE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
 

RESPOSIBLE OFFICER 

Quarter 4 Performance 
Monitoring Report 
 

Cabinet 
 

20 Aug 
2020 
 

Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Alan Powell 
 

Sarah Sternberg 
 

Medium Term Financial Plan 
 

Cabinet 
 

20 Aug 
2020 
 

Key 
 

Fully exempt 
 
Information relating to 
the financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information)  

Councillor Paul Parkin 
 

Jayne Dethick 
 

Medium Term Financial Plan 
 

Cabinet 
 

20 Aug 
2020 
 

Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Paul Parkin 
 

Jayne Dethick 
 

Budget Monitoring Quarter 1 
 

Cabinet 
 

20 Aug 
2020 
 

Non-Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Paul Parkin 
 

Jayne Dethick 
 

Housing Services for North 
East Derbyshire 
Approval of the draft Articles 
of Association for the 
Council's new housing related 
companes.  
 

Cabinet 
 

20 Aug 
2020 
 

Non-Key 
 

Fully exempt 
 
Information relating to 
the financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information)  
Information in respect of 
which a claim to legal 
professional privilege 
could be maintained in 
legal proceedings.  

Councillor Alan Powell 
 

Sarah Sternberg 
 

Q1 Performance Reporting 
Cycle 20-21 
 

Cabinet 
 

10 Sep 
2020 
 

Non-Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Alex Dale 
 

Sarah Sternberg 
 

Area Housing Offices 
 

Cabinet 
 

10 Sep 
2020 

Non-Key 
 

 
 

Councillor Alan Powell 
 

Gill Callingham 
 

P
age 225



DECISION TO BE TAKEN 
 

DECISION-
MAKER 

DATE OF 
DECISION 

KEY DECISION EXEMPT DECISION 
(INCLUDING 
GROUNDS FOR 
EXEMPTION) 

RESPONSIBLE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
 

RESPOSIBLE OFFICER 

  

Planning Enforcement 
Protocol 
 

Cabinet 
 

10 Sep 
2020 
 

Non-Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Charlotte 
Cupit 
 

Richard Purcell 
 

Planning Restructure 
(Enforcement Resource, 
Arboriculture and Heritage) 
 

Cabinet 
 

10 Sep 
2020 
 

Key 
 

Fully exempt 
 
Information relating to 
any individual.  
Information which is 
likely to reveal the 
identity of an individual.  
Information relating to 
the financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 
information)  

Councillor Charlotte 
Cupit 
 

Karen Hanson 
 

Public Consultation on the 
Local Plan 
Temporary Amendments to 
the Statement of Community 
Involvement to enable Public 
Consultation on the Local Plan 
during the Coronavirus 
(Covid-19) Pandemic  
 

Cabinet 
 

10 Sep 
2020 
 

Non-Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Charlotte 
Cupit 
 

Richard Purcell 
 

Environmental Health Service 
Review 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 Oct 2020 
 

Key 
 

Fully exempt 
 
Information relating to 
any individual.  
Information relating to 
the financial or business 
affairs of any particular 
person (including the 
authority holding that 

Councillor Charlotte 
Cupit 
 

Karen Hanson 
 

P
age 226



DECISION TO BE TAKEN 
 

DECISION-
MAKER 

DATE OF 
DECISION 

KEY DECISION EXEMPT DECISION 
(INCLUDING 
GROUNDS FOR 
EXEMPTION) 

RESPONSIBLE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER 
 

RESPOSIBLE OFFICER 

information)  

Revised Budget 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 Oct 2020 
 

Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Paul Parkin 
 

Jayne Dethick 
 

Allocations Policy 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 Oct 2020 
 

Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Alan Powell 
 

 
 

Funding to Voluntary and 
Community Organisations - 
Presentation of Outcomes for 
2019-20 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 Oct 2020 
 

Non-Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Alan Powell 
 

Tris Burdett 
 

Draft Shareholder Agreement 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 Oct 2020 
 

Non-Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Alan Powell 
 

Sarah Sternberg 
 

Development Company Pilot 
Project 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 Oct 2020 
 

Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Alan Powell 
 

Sarah Sternberg 
 

Approval of Business Plan 
Model 
 

Cabinet 
 

8 Oct 2020 
 

Non-Key 
 

 
 
 

Councillor Alan Powell 
 

Sarah Sternberg 
 

P
age 227



 

 

 

 
COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21 

Friday at 1:30 pm 
 

Chair: Cllr   Kevin Tait       Vice Chair:  Cllr Oscar Gomez Reaney 
 

MEETING DATE AGENDA ITEM SCRUTINY 
ACTIVITY 

WHAT IT WILL COVER  UPDATE/COMMENTS 

19th June, 2020 Remit of the Committee   Briefing on Scrutiny : 
 
- setting the scene  
- the terms of reference for the 

Committee 
       -    How the Committee operates, ways 

of working– Discussion 
 

Sue Veerman -Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager/Committee 
Members 
 
 

 Draft Work Programme    To discuss items for  the draft work 
programme for the year and any 
suggested  items for inclusion 

Committee Members/ Sue 
Veerman - Overview and Scrutiny 
Manager 
 

 Selection of Scrutiny 
Review Topic 

Review  To consider the Committees topic for a 
Scrutiny review 

 

 Consider what we want to look at 
 

 Consider stakeholders who we want to 
see 

 
 

Committee Members  
 

P
age 228

A
genda Item

 9



 

 

 Community Safety 
Partnership 

Review  To consider the work of the Partnership 
for the year against the partnership plan 

Community Safety Partnership 

 Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge 
 
 

 To consider the list of Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

Sue Veerman- Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager 

7th August, 2020 Scrutiny Review Review  Scoping and  Scene setting for the 
2020/21 Scrutiny  Review 

 
 

Lead Officer – Matt Broughton 

 Previous Scrutiny 
Review 

Review  To consider progress against the action 
plan – Scrutiny Review of Homelessness 

 
 

Karl Apps – Head of Service 
Lee Pepper – Housing Options 
Team Leader – Sign Off 
 

 Residential Parking 
Review 

Review  To Finalise the 2019/20 Scrutiny Review 
Report 

 
 

Committee 

 CCTV Monitor and 
challenge 
 
 

 To consider progress 
 

Councils Solicitor – Kevin Shillito 

 Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

Monitor and 
challenge 

 To consider the list of Forward Plan of 
Executive Decision 

 
 

Sue Veerman 
Overview and Scrutiny Manager 
 

 Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

Monitor and 
challenge 

 To consider the Committees’ work 
programme 

 
 

 Sue Veerman 
Overview and Scrutiny Manager 

 

P
age 229



 

 

9th October, 2020 CCTV Monitor and 
challenge 

 CCTV action log 
 

 To consider a further update on progress 
of mandatory CCTV in Taxis 

 

 
 
Sarah Sternberg – Head of 
Service/Kevin Shillito - Solicitor 
 

 
 
 
 

Scrutiny Review Review  Approval of Project Plan and Timetable 
 

 Consideration of any Documentation 
 

 

Committee 

 Previous Review – 
Domestic Abuse 

Monitor and 
challenge 
 

 To receive an update on progress against 
the action plan – presentation 
 
 

Karen Hanson – Director of Place 

 Scrutiny Review Review  3:00 pm Interview- Head Of Streetscene 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions  

Monitor and 
challenge 

 To consider the list of Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

 

Sue Veerman - Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager 
 
 

 Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge 
 
 

 To consider the Committees’ work 
programme 

 

Sue Veerman -Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager 

27th November, 2020 Scrutiny Review Review  Interviews 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 230



 

 

 CCTV Monitor and 
challenge 

 To consider a further update on progress of 
mandatory CCTV in Taxis 

 

 

 Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

Monitor and 
challenge 
 

 To consider the list of Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

 

Sue Veerman 
Overview and Scrutiny Manager 

 Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge 
 

 To consider the Committees’ work 
programme 

 Sue Veerman 
Overview and Scrutiny Manager 

22nd January, 2021 Scrutiny Review Review  Interviews 
 
 

 

 CCTV Monitor and 
challenge 
 

 To consider a further update on progress of 
mandatory CCTV in Taxis 

 

 

 Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions  

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge 
 

 To consider the list of Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

 

Sue Veerman - Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager 
 

 Scrutiny Work 
Programme  

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge  
 

 To consider the Committee’s Work 
Programme  

Sue Veerman - Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager  
 

5th March, 2021 Health Partnership 
Working 

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge 
 

 To consider progress on the Healthy North 
East Derbyshire Approach 

 

Tris Burdett  Partnership Officer 

 Scrutiny Review Review  Triangulation of evidence – Scrutiny 
Review 
 

Members 

 CCTV Monitor and 
challenge 

 To consider a further update on progress of 
mandatory CCTV in Taxis 

 

 

P
age 231



 

 

 Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge 
 

 To consider the list of Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions  

 
 

Sue Veerman - Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager 

 Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge 

 To consider whether the Committees’ work 
programme has been completed at year 
end 

 

Sue Veerman - Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager 

14th May, 2021 Street scene monitor and 
challenge 

 To consider the services performance 
including recycling 

 
 

Steve Brunt, HOS - Street scene 
 

 Draft Scrutiny Review 
report 

Review  To agree the draft report for  Scrutiny 
Review 

 

Committee Members 

  Monitor and 
challenge 
 

 Item to be confirmed  

 
 
 
 

CCTV Monitor and 
challenge 
 

 To consider a further update on 
progress of mandatory CCTV in Taxis 
 

 

 Monitoring of O&S 
recommendations  

Monitor  To monitor the implementation of previous 
committee and review recommendations 

 

Sue Veerman - Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager 

 Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions  

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge  
 

 To consider the list of Forward Plan of 
Executive Decisions 

 
 

Sue Veerman - Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager  

 Scrutiny Work 
Programme 

Consultee, 
monitor and 
challenge  

 To consider the Committee’s Work 
Programme  

Sue Veerman - Overview and 
Scrutiny Manager  

 

P
age 232


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Last Meeting
	4a CCTV Action Log
	4b Report of the Head of Corporate Governance and Monitoring Officer and the Council Solicitor - including amended documents
	4b(1) - Supplemental Reasoning - v2
	4b(2) - EIA Addendum
	4b(3) - PIA Stage 2 Form - updates

	5a Approval of Project Plan
	5b Approval of Timetable
	5c Consideration of Documentation
	5c(1) - MIND - Return To Play
	5c(2) - Shaping our Future
	5c(3) - PALS booklet

	6 Previous Scrutiny Review - Domestic Abuse
	6i - Draft Domestic Abuse Policy
	6ii - Draft Domestic Abuse Toolkit
	6iii - Domestic Abuse Strategy
	6iv - Domestic Abuse Bill

	8 Forward Plan of Executive Decisions
	9 Scrutiny Work Programme

